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Science is often indistinguishable from magic. A magician 

pulls a rabbit from a hat. The magnet in a telephone sends 

our voices across the globe. What seems to the naked eye 

to be a miraculous event is, in fact, a complex arrangement 

of forces, behaviours and understandings. What seems to 

be an act of magic is, in fact, the result of great insight and 

an ability to develop and advance our interactions with 

each other and with our environment. At Cargo Carriers 

we strive to understand and apply the guiding principles 

of the supply chain environment and create the most 

powerful and dynamic of relationships with our clients. 
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Chairman’s Statement

Southern Africa was a difficult place to do business in 
the 2012/13 year. The global economy is suffering the 
aftershocks of the 2008 crisis, and there seems to be 
some way to go before our traditional trading partners 
recover their appetite for our exports. The effect of this 
collapse of global growth has been to slow South Africa’s 
GDP growth. Our economy has suffered. Job creation has 
stopped. And the consequence is that the local economy, 

which had been fuelled by middle class growth, has 
slowed to a rate which barely sustains the status quo.
We have been fortunate at Cargo Carriers in that we have, 
for some time, been implementing a strategic plan to 
enhance the profitability and growth of our business. 

The global conditions of the last five years have had a 
negative effect on our achievements, but there have been 

The Cargo Carriers Way

Sustainability is at the heart of our organisational thinking, planning and processes: creating value for our clients’ 
business gives rise to value for our own business, delivering value to our shareholders and unlocking value for our 
people; in turn, this positions us to generate more value for our clients in a virtuous circle… Extrapolating the law of 
cause and effect as it pertains to our business model, we know that sustainability becomes automatic only when all the 
key elements click into gear, and our application of continuous improvement methodology is at the kinetic centre 
of value creation.
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positive factors that have, to some extent, played into 
our hands. 

The growth of the sub-Saharan economy has surprised 
the world, and has provided opportunities for South 
African companies with African capability. This potential 
has enabled our acquisition of Zambian-based BHL 
transport, which extends Cargo Carriers’ footprint further 
into Africa.  

The long-awaited government-sponsored infrastructure 
spend has begun to stimulate the construction industry 
and as a result, our steel and powders businesses. These 
have long been important sectors for Cargo Carriers. Our 
efforts to improve our B-BBEE and SHEQ scores over 
the years have positioned us well to extend our business 
in the Fuel, Chemicals, Gas and Mining industries. The 
resolution of the ongoing problems in the Agricultural 
division has been more difficult. Although still dogged by 
unfavourable weather conditions, physical improvements 

to plant and equipment have been made and we believe 
results will improve, albeit not as rapidly as we would 
like. We have been persistent in the pursuit of what we 
call the “Cargo Carriers way”. It is a culture of providing 
ever-improving value to each of our customers, and this is 
what has driven our impressive levels of organic growth 
in what can only be termed as difficult times. Overall, the 
current climate is more positive for the future. 

Our growth of 21.5% in turnover and 21.3% in pre-tax 
profit is a very pleasing result in the circumstances. 
There is every reason to believe that, barring unforeseen 
circumstances, we should be able to improve our 
performance again in the fiscal year ahead.

On behalf of the Board, I thank the Joint Chief Executives 
and the executive team for their sterling efforts over the 
past year. This has been a strategic and long-term effort.  
A talented and committed staff complement has also 
played a major part in achieving this encouraging result 
through their execution of the strategy, and my thanks go 
to them as well. Both the Board and I have full confidence 
that this performance will continue into the new year.
It is my pleasure to present Cargo Carriers’ 2013 
Integrated Report.

SG Chilvers
Chairman 
10 May 2013

There is every reason to believe 

that we should be able to improve 

our performance once again in the 

year ahead

Continuous value-
creating solutions
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Joint CEOs’ Report

In every Integrated Report since 2000 we have talked 
about the strategic repositioning and focus of Cargo 
Carriers that drives all that we do. It was clear then, and it 
is still clear now, that as long as we make value creation 
for our customers our core purpose, we will be able to 
grow and to deliver opportunity to both our shareholders 
and our staff.

We have a very clear plan, and we relentlessly stick to 
it. It is the “Cargo Carriers Way”.

The 2012/13 financial year has been challenging for 
business. The global recession is far from over, and 
although African growth is the one strong positive, the 
South African business environment is not as conducive.  
The extended strikes and the Marikana tragedy have hurt 
the country and the economy.    

We have nevertheless been steadfast in our resolve, 
and have focussed on the variables over which we have 
control, and as a consequence we are pleased to have 
delivered improved results. The business has grown and 
is once again more profitable.

The 2012/13 result
The 2012/13 financial year has seen the group grow 
its turnover by 21.5% and pre-tax profit before tax by 
21.3%. This result is made up of increases in our existing 
business, including the effect of the incorporation of the 
results of our new Zambian business for an effective six 
months. 

As important as the financial result is the fact that 
we have extended our footprint firmly into the SADC 
region through the acquisition of 55% of Buks Haulage 
Limited (‘BHL’) in Zambia, and that we have made 
significant strides in improving the quality and reliability 
of the earnings. A number of steps, both internal and 
with our customers, have been taken to turn our ailing 
Swaziland and South African sugar business around. 
We have worked hard to ensure that our Safety, Health, 
Environment and Quality (SHEQ) measures have 
improved and that our hard won B-BBEE status has been 
maintained. They are key components of Cargo Carriers’ 
ability to operate with competitive advantage in the 
future.

Operations
Whilst it is always pleasing to report increases in activity 
and profitability, our ability to report greater fitness is 
strategically as important. The Zambian acquisition 
was effective in September 2012 and Cargo Carriers’ 
involvement has enabled this business to renew and 
extend its fleet and to take on business in the mining and 
chemical industries. These industries are key strategic 
industries for us and we are now better placed to serve 
a mining sector where the centre of gravity is clearly 

We have focussed on the variables 

over which we have control, and 

as a consequence we are pleased 

to have delivered improved results
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Responsible leadership requires the will to look beyond our horizons, as well as an ability to map the best way 
forward for all. Only an informed, 360-degree view of our environment can put us in pole position. Good governance, 
transparency, sound ethics and good values are the bearings of our moral compass and by experience, knowing the 
landscape and being able to navigate in the night, we can determine True North for ourselves. Transformation is the 
journey. Sustainable value creation is the destination... for our shareholders, for our company, for our people, for 
our country.

Corporate Co-ordinates



migrating northwards. In South Africa, the platform for 
growth of our industrial divisions through increasing 
SHEQ, B-BBEE scores and a newer fleet has been laid. 
This has translated into improved levels of reliability and 
service to our customers, and an increased ability to 
control costs. The result has been that we have generated 
healthy levels of organic growth where the environment 
has allowed it, and our operating profit levels have 
improved. More detail per division on our performance in 
the industrial divisions is covered in the Industry Verticals 
section which follows this report. (see page 8 & 9)

This improved performance is expected to begin to show 
in our agricultural division in the new year. The division has 
performed poorly for some years now. A combination of 
a challenging industrial relations climate, adverse weather 
conditions, mill reliability, and an ageing fleet has, in the 
past, hurt us in both our Swaziland and our Mpumalanga 
operations. We have, over the last two years, addressed 
many of these problems, and although we have yet 
to benefit by way of an improvement in profitability, 
we are confident that we have turned the corner. Our 
Zimbabwean sugar business produced another good 
result, and a re-evaluation of our tomato harvesting 
and transport business in the Eastern Cape will see us 

returning to our core transportation function. A return to 
profitability in the agricultural sector is a key objective for 
2013/14.

Transformation and HR
Our ability to grow the business whilst improving service 
levels and reliability, and the need to transform the 
organisation are inextricably intertwined. On the one hand, 
our competitive advantage stems from our ability to add 
value to our clients’ businesses, and on the other, our 
clients demand increasing B-BBEE scores to boost their 
own procurement scores. The consequence is that Cargo 
Carriers needs to add skills on a continuous basis from 
previously disadvantaged groups.

Cargo Carriers has relentlessly improved its own B-BBEE 
rating from level 7 five years ago to the current level 4 
with value adding status. This progress and the increased 
service levels we have been able to develop have enabled 
our growth in those industries where the B-BBEE inputs 
from suppliers are crucial to their own ability to win 
business.

Our own business, on the other hand, also has a growing 
demand for talent, which is why our skills enhancement 
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programmes are both multi-dimensional and multi-level. 
We have capacity building programmes that utilise the 
TETA bursary scheme; we have an active learnership 
and apprenticeship programme, and also continuous 
internal technical and management training courses and 
graduate programmes. In the end, our ability to grow has 
a potential constraint, given the shortage of skills in the 
industry. So finding great people, training them, retaining 
them and giving them the opportunity to show us what 
they are capable of is the central strategic challenge of 
the HR department.

The 2012/13 year was also dominated by difficult wage 
negotiations. In South Africa we began negotiations for 
a three-year agreement in June which failed to reach an 
agreement and resulted in a nationwide transport strike 
in late September and early October. The strike demands 
were exacerbated by the timing of the Marikana tragedy 
and the widely reported levels of increases which the 
miners were purportedly getting. This strike negatively 
affected both our service levels and our financial result. 
The only upside was that we have certainty over wage 
levels for three years, and should be able to look forward 
to a relatively smooth year ahead. 

We also managed to conclude wage agreements in 
Swaziland (after protracted negotiations which negatively 
impacted productivity), and in Zimbabwe. The 2012/13 
year saw us complete an employee survey and focus 
group process, the results of which are being used in a 
programme to ensure that Cargo Carriers is seen by its 
staff as the employer of choice. Programmes to improve 
the work environment, employee satisfaction and 
engagement are being implemented. 

A challenge that lies ahead will be to engage with the 
new Zambian subsidiary and to ensure that the HR 
process supports both our business imperative and our 
values, and is uniform throughout the group. No doubt 
there will be rich learnings in both situations.

Sustainability and Safety
Cargo Carriers commissioned Global 
Carbon Exchange to conduct its fourth 
carbon footprint analysis of our 
operations for the 2012/13 year. We 
are pleased to report that although 
total emissions were up by 24%, 
this was due almost entirely to our 
growth. In fact, we travelled 37% 
more kilometres, due in the main 
to improved levels of business. 
The ratios of emissions to turnover, 
emissions to Km travelled, and 
emissions per revenue-earning fleet all 
reduced. We will be setting targets and 
establishing programmes to continue to 
improve these measures in the year to come.

2012/13 was also a good year for the continuous 
improvement targets we set for SHEQ. Spot checks 
carried out on our compliance with ISO 9001, 14001 and 
18001 yielded zero non-conformances to the standard. 
This bodes well for the year ahead as we will have to re-
certify all three standards in the new year.

A low point for Cargo Carriers this year was the loss 
of a driver due to a fatal accident and increase in the 
number of injuries due to accidents. By far the majority 
of these incidents were due to third-party error, and we 
have stepped up our defensive driver training as part 
of a continuous effort to further decrease the number 
of incidents per kilometre and to improve safety levels. 
More positively, we have increased accident-free 
kilometres travelled.

Challenges ahead
Whilst the improvements we have made to our business 
in the past have improved our volumes, profitability 
and sustainability, we live in a world that changes 
continuously. Thus, our challenge is to be relevant to our 
client base, our employees and our shareholders on a 
continuously evolving basis. Major challenges that must 
and will be addressed in the coming year are:
•	 We	need	to	continue	to	improve	the	quality	of	our		
 staff. This will entail a continuous up-skilling pro-   
 gramme, a concentration on finding and training   
 bright and willing previously disadvantaged staff, 
 and a programme to ensure we retain a motivated  
 team

Joint CEOs’ Report

We have a growing demand for 

talent, which is why our skills 

enhancement programmes are both 

multi-dimensional and multi-level
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•	 We	need	to	ensure	that	our	SHEQ	scores	continuously																																
      improve, and that we are re-certified in terms of all  
 of our ISO qualifications
•	 We	need	to	ensure	that	we	improve	our	productivity		
 levels to minimise the effect of the challenges that  
 cost inflation will surely pose for the industry
•	 We	have	had	a	promising	start	to	our	new	Zambia-		
 based business. We need to ensure that we reap the
  rewards that increased critical mass, an improved 
 African footprint, currency diversity, exposure to higher  
 growth levels, process uniformity and optimisation can  
 yield for the group as a result of the acquisition
•	 We	need	to	ensure	that	the	restructure,	the	investment	
 in new technology, and the right-sizing of the   
 Swaziland and South African sugar divisions bear fruit  
 from a financial results point of view
•	 We	need	to	drive	home	the	advantage	we	have		 	
 created in our South African business and ensure that  
 the acquisition of organically sourced new business  
 speeds up

Prospects for 2013/14
Cargo Carriers is well positioned for healthy growth in the 
year to come, provided that the anticipated infrastructure 
spend by government materialises. We believe the 
adoption of the National Development Plan at Mangaung 

was a positive development in this regard, but we await 
the reality of its practical implementation.

We anticipate an improvement on the labour relations 
front, both in South Africa and in Swaziland, where the 
approach to the upcoming negotiation has started more 
constructively. This will boost turnover and profitability for 
the Group. 

We will be accounting for a full year of activity from our 
Zambian acquisition in 2013/14 which is expected to 
boost both our results and our prospects for growth from 
this region. 

We recognise that the long-term work towards what we 
now call and can recognise as the “Cargo Carriers Way” 
is as a result of a loyal and dedicated team of people, 
and we would like to thank them one and all for their 
contributions. Last of all, we would like to thank our loyal 
clients. We will continue to strive to understand your 
needs as only strategic partners can.

Garth and Murray Bolton
Joint Chief Executives
10 May 2013

Our client’s need is our focus
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Industrial

Powders Division
Our powders business has benefitted from two powerful 
forces. On the one hand, we have improved our offering 
to this sector over the last number of years by investing 
heavily in the fleet, with consequent operational cost 
savings and increases in reliability, and on the other, 
demand levels are beginning to rise as the larger 
infrastructure projects start to roll out. 

Our increased turnovers have been boosted by new 
contracts and by the organic growth of existing business, 
and the results have shown improved profitability.

We expect that as the much-vaunted infrastructural spend 
over the next five years rolls out, our powders business 
will be significantly and positively affected. 

Steel Division
Our steel division has experienced robust growth in 
turnover, and a consequential significant improvement 
in profitability in the year under review. The growth is 
reflective of a resumption in infrastructural spend which 
we expect to continue, as well as of growth in the 
volumes of steel transported between Saldanha Bay 
and Vanderbijlpark.

The 2013/14 year will be more difficult due to technical 
computer problems encountered at our customers’ plant. 
While demand will continue, the supply lines from this 
plant, which make up part of our contract, are being 
disrupted. As a result, we will be happy to maintain our 
new high level of business in the year ahead.

This type of unpredictability is typical of modern 
economies, and proves once again that our model for 
managing this business with a mixed owned and third- 
party fleet at once provides great flexibility and value to 
the client, but reduces our risk.  

Chemicals Division
The chemicals division is positioned well for future 
growth, but our future South African performance will 
depend on the region’s socio-economic prospects. Our 
high levels of SHEQ, our reputation for reliability and our 
B-BBEE structures make it easy for clients to do business 
with us.

Our performance in South Africa, which showed no 
growth in either turnover or profitability (albeit off a 
satisfactory base), was disappointing. The transport and 
mining strikes have taken at least a month out of our year 
from a turnover point of view, and in the end we believe 
that, given the state of the mining industry in South 
Africa, we were fortunate to hold our overall financial 
position. With consumer confidence low, and with the 
mining industry far from stable, we will be pleased to 
maintain business at current levels.

Happily, our Zambian business is in better shape. The 
general economy, agriculture and mining have brighter 
prospects for our chemical business in this geography. 
We expect an increased contribution from Zambia in 
2013/14.

Gas Division
The gas division was a positive contributor to Cargo 
Carriers’ growth and profitability in the year under 
consideration. As we reported in the last integrated 
report, we began the year expecting an improved 
performance, having paid our school fees in the 
previous fiscal. Happily, we have not been disappointed. 

Volume growth has come from our anchor client 
as our ability to deliver high service levels and high 
safety standards became evident. We have invested in 
additional vehicles and personnel to service this growth, 
and are reaping the rewards of a relatively new and 
well maintained fleet. We expect that 2013/14 will yield 
moderate growth in turnover and profitability off a now 
significant base. 

Fuel Division
Fuel transport volumes have been affected by a 
significant reduction in bridging work with the resumption 
of pipeline operations to the Gauteng market. Our 
profitable growth is as a result of our concentration 

Industry Verticals

Our steel division experienced 

robust growth in turnover, and 

a consequential significant 

improvement in profitability
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on growing and bedding down what has become our core 
fuel business – the building of strategic partnerships with 
regional branded distributors.

Increasingly, the fuel marketers are relying on strategic 
partnerships with the few suppliers that are able to deliver 
extremely high levels of SHEQ and at the same time high 
B-BBEE scores. Cargo Carriers’ reputation for both, and 
for high levels of reliability and ethical practice, positions 
us well.

Our e-POD technology, which was introduced to the fuel 
distribution sector, has potential for use in other industries 

where the effect on cash flow of slow and inaccurate 
proof of delivery paperwork is significant. 

Mining Division
Our mining division experienced mixed fortunes in the 
period under review. Our non-platinum business grew 
in real terms and we managed to improve profitability 
due to lower maintenance costs. Our platinum focussed 
business was negatively affected by the mining industry 
strikes, and we lost volumes in this sector. Prudent cost 
control, and the re-deployment of human and capital 
assets where possible meant that we were able to limit 
the financial damage. Our performance in the 2013/14 
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Continuous and holistic improvement is the motivating force behind Cargo Carriers’ performance. Conserving 
momentum and energy in a delicate balance of systems, processes and interventions lead directly from one 
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organisational upswing. Acquisition and transfer of skills results in talented, upwardly mobile personnel. 
Accelerating the setting of industry standards for Safety, Health, Environment and Quality compounds our 
growth prospects. This chain reaction pushes all of us to push ourselves.
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year will depend on how the negotiations between mining 
unions and companies and the government progress.

On a brighter note, our Zambian business had a good 
year, boosted significantly by new and extended contracts 
to transport mining-related cargo. 

Agriculture

Sugar Division
The restructure and re-engineering of the sugar business 
in Swaziland was completed this year. The season was a 
difficult one and was negatively affected by two factors. 
Rainfall was unseasonably high, and the fact that the 
weigh bridges at the mills were not complete meant that 
we could not use the new road trains that allow us to 
transport an extra 25 tons of cane per trip. In total, we 
made 1 200 more trips to the mills due to this, and the 
anticipated turnaround in this region did not happen. The 
weigh bridges are now installed, and we look forward 
to return to profitability in the Swaziland business in 
2013/14.

The Malelane branch was also affected by poor weather 
conditions in the region, including strikes in the transport 
sector which happened in the middle of the season, and 
poor turnaround times at the mill. We have a collaborative 

agreement with the mill to monitor and manage 
turnaround times in the new season, which should also 
be strike free. 

Our Zimbabwean operations had another good year, with 
improved vehicle utilisation and efficiency. We expect 
that the sugar division will show improved results in the 
2013/14 fiscal year.

Tomato Division
The difficulties in the successful establishment of the 
tomato farms have caused us to rethink our level of 
integration in this industry. 

The return on our investment in harvesting operations 
was considered to be too dependent on farming 
efficiencies, which are out of our control. We have sold 
this equipment to our client, and have concentrated on 
the movement of tomatoes from the fields to the plant. 

The business is expected to come up to full speed during 
the 2013/14 year.

Industry Verticals
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Supply Chain Services

Solutions Division
2012/13 was a very disappointing year for the solutions 
business. Having built a solid pipeline of prospective 
new clients, we saw the mining and mining chemicals 
focussed business disappear with the industrial unrest in 
the sector.

Nevertheless, we landed significant business in the 
building supply and stationery industries, and we continue 
to build our reputation as South Africa’s leading exponent 
of the Theory of Constraints methodology, and of its 
enabling software, Symphony. We enter the 2013/14 year 
with a more qualified pipeline.

The CargoWare business was also affected by a reduction 
in business confidence, but we have achieved important 
successes in Africa, where prospects for growth are more 
favourable. Our integrated transport management system 
is now proving its worth in the cement sector in Ethiopia, 
the pharmaceutical sector in Zambia, and the waste 
services sector in South Africa. 

The focus of this division is, of course, also internal, 
where our support of e-POD is creating advantage in the 
fuel distribution business and will add value in time to 
other businesses where cash flow and proof of delivery 
(POD) are an issue. Our integrated management system is 
a primary driver of value in all of our divisions, where it is 
used to optimise routes and to manage our own operating 
and maintenance costs. 

Trading Division
The Trading division’s transport of fuels into SADC 
continues to suffer from the fact that fuel imported 
through Beira in Mozambique is cheaper than from South 
African refineries. There is, however, still a call for small 
quantities of illuminating paraffin to be supplied and 
transported into Zimbabwe. We are concentrating on 
replacing the fuel business with the transport of a variety 
of other products into the landlocked SADC countries. To 
this end, our transport into Zambia holds promise.

The 4PL transport business in South Africa continues to 
grow. Cargo Carriers provides an effective tracking of 
loads, using a flexible and cost-efficient third party fleet.  
Our view is that this business will grow into the future as 
clients seek reliable, efficient transport solutions without 
the restrictions of high capital expenditure.

We continue to build our reputation 

as South Africa’s leading exponent 

of the Theory of Constraints method
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– moving powders, steel, gas, chemicals and fuel as well as mining and agricultural 
products – alongside our solutions and trading divisions and our new Zambian business, 
create a network of experience and understanding that allow to constantly develop and 
advance our competitive advantage. What is experienced and learned in one division or 
country is transmuted to the next, allowing us to provide strategic and operational value 
to customers.

Greater than the sum of its parts



Mr SG Chilvers is a Chartered 
Accountant and has been 
associated with the Group as an 
auditor and as a consultant since 
1965. He was appointed to the 
board as a non-executive director 
in 1985 and was appointed 
deputy CEO in 1986. He has been 
a non-executive director since 
1988 and became non-executive 
chairman in 2001. He has been 
a director of several companies 
over the last fifty years, both 
listed and unlisted.

Mr AE Franklin graduated with a BA 
LLB degree from the University of 
Natal and obtained a MA degree from 
Oxford University. He was admitted 
to the Johannesburg Bar as Advocate 
in August 1985 and took Silk on 17 
November 2000.  Areas of practice 
include commercial and pension fund 
litigation. He has periodically acted as 
a Judge in the South Gauteng High 
Court.

Mrs BB Fraser graduated with a 
BA degree from the University of 
Cape Town and gained significant 
experience in the travel and 
tourism industry. She is currently 
directly involved in the ownership 
and management of retail franchise 
stores as well as a franchise motor 
vehicle retailing business.

Mr GD Bolton’s natural flair for 
business dynamics has seen him 
steadily rise through the ranks 
at Cargo Carriers. His ability and 
hands-on experience have earned 
him promotions from Contracts 
Controller to Branch Manager and, 
finally from Divisional Manager 
to Joint CEO of Cargo Carriers. 
He also served as Chairman of 
the Road Freight Association for 
two years, and brings a wealth 
of experience at all levels of the 
industry to Cargo Carriers.

Mr S Maharaj is a Chartered 
Accountant who graduated from the 
University of Natal. He completed 
his accounting articles at Deloitte’s 
and has gained experience in various 
other financial positions prior to 
joining Cargo Carriers in 2006 as 
Group Financial Manager. He was 
appointed to the board as Financial 
Director in 2009 and has since 
obtained a Higher Diploma in Taxation 
from the Thomas Jefferson School 
of Law.

Mr MJ Bolton is a Chartered 
Accountant who graduated from 
the University of Witwatersrand. 
He joined Cargo Carriers in 1985 as 
Financial Administration Manager 
and within two years, was appointed 
as Financial Director. He later 
completed a Sloan Fellowship at the 
London Business School and was 
appointed Joint CEO in 1992.

Mrs SP Mzimela is an economics 
and statistics graduate and 
her career developed through 
Standard Bank, Total, and South 
African Express. She is the former 
President and Chief Executive 
Officer of South African Airways 
and currently shareholder and 
Director of Blue Crane Aviation 
services.

Mrs MJ Vuso is a Chartered Accountant 
who graduated from the University of Cape 
Town. She is the founder and Managing 
Director of Nyamezela Group Companies, 
which companies offers multidisciplinary 
services ranging from engineering to business 
advisory, metering to energy optimisation 
solutions. Matsotso has extensive experience 
in assurance, project finance and financial 
restructuring gained from her association 
with companies like Industrial Development 
Corporation, Transnet Group Audit Services, 
KPMG and Coopers & Lybrand (now PwC).
She also serves on the board and audit com-
mittees of amongst others Royal Bafokeng 
Platinum Ltd and Prothech Khuthele Ltd.

Mr SG Chilvers
Chairman

Mrs BB Fraser
Non-executive 
Director

Mr GD Bolton
Executive Director

Mr S Maharaj
Executive Director

Mr MJ Bolton
Executive Director

Mrs MJ Vuso
Non-executive 
Director

Mrs SP Mzimela
Non-executive 
Director

Mr AE Franklin
Non-executive 
Director

Directorate
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Powerful   Partnerships

Dawid holds a B.Eng (Electrical) 
degree from the University of 
Pretoria, a Masters degree in 
Nuclear Engineering from 
Pennsylvania State University, 
USA and an M.Com in Business 
Management from Rand Afrikaans 
University. Dawid is a consultant 
with the International Goldratt 
Group, and is certified as an 
Application Expert with TOCICO 
(Theory of Constraints International 
Certification Organisation). Dawid 
heads up the operations of the 
Solutions division.

Andre joined Cargo Carriers at the 
beginning of 2009. He holds a RAU 
Road Transport Diploma from the 
University of Johannesburg. With 
20 years’ experience in logistics, 
from an operational and marketing 
perspective, Andre brings a wealth 
of experience at all levels of the 
industry. Andre is responsible for 
customer service, internal and  
external marketing, as well as 
sales.

Mercia joined Cargo Carriers 
in 2009. She holds a B.Tech in 
Environmental Health from Tshwane 
University of Technology and a 
Masters of Management in Safety, 
Health and Environment (University 
of Southern Queensland). With 
more than ten years’ experience 
in the SHEQ arena, Mercia brings 
a wealth of experience to the 
company and is responsible for 
all aspects of SHEQ.

Boitumelo holds a CIA, CCSA,  
ND Internal Audit (VUT) and a 
Diploma in Forensic Auditing 
and Criminal Justice (RAU), and 
NDP (UNISA SBL). He joined 
Cargo Carriers in 2010 and brings 
with him a wealth of experience 
in internal Audit and Risk 
management, having worked 
for major conglomerates 
in various capacities.

Pauline joined Cargo Carriers in 
June 2010 as HR Manager and was 
appointed as director in July 2011. She 
holds an LLB degree from University of 
South Africa (UNISA), as well as a BA 
(Social Work) degree from University of 
Fort Hare. In 2011, she was appointed 
to the Executive Committee (EXCO) 
of the Road Freight Employers 
Association (RFEA). Pauline brings a 
wealth of experience at all levels of 
Human Resource Management  
and is responsible for aligning  
HR Strategy to Corporate Strategy.

Mike has been with Cargo Carriers 
since July 1989. His extensive 
knowledge of the SADC region, 
together with his fluency in a number 
of African languages, has been pivotal 
to the company’s successful expansion 
into Southern Africa. Mike is the 
Chairman of both the RFA Cross-Border 
Committee and FESARTA (Federation 
of Eastern and Southern African Road 
Transport Associations).Dawid Janse van 

Rensburg 
Divisional Director: 
IT & Supply Chain 

Pauline Legodi
Group HR Director

Mercia Maletswa
Group SHEQ 
Manager

Boitumelo Choche
Group Audit & Risk 
Manager

Andre Jansen van 
Vuuren
Divisional Director: 
Marketing

Mike Scott
Divisional Director: 
Cross-Border

Management
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The 2013 Integrated Report outlines an in-depth, 
contextual review of the company’s overall performance, 
combining both sustainability and financial reporting. 

The Group has applied the principles and guide-lines 
as recommended by Global Reporting Initiatives (GRI) 
in preparing this Integrated Report. Based on these 
guidelines, we have selected to report on application 
level ‘C’. This report has not been independently assured, 
however, the information and statistics relating to carbon 
footprint and Broad-Based Black Economic Empowerment 
have been independently verified. The applicable indices 
in relation to level ‘C’ have been included on page 73-74 
of this report. 

This report summarises key aspects of the Group and 
provides a strategic overview of the activities and 
operations within the Group, in line with our Vision 
and Mission.

Our Vision is ‘to be recognised as the preferred partner 
in supply chain and transport logistics solutions and 
rated as the leader in our selected specialised markets’.  
Preferred partnerships entail forging alliances with 

reputable and respectable stakeholders who contribute to 
the sustainability of our business, as well as considering 
the impact of socio-economic and environmental 
challenges.

Our Mission is ‘to deliver supply chain and transport 
logistics solutions that give our customers a 
competitive edge’. This further incorporates supplying 
services and solutions in a responsible manner that takes 
cognisance of our stakeholders and the environment 
within which we operate.

Stakeholder engagement is critical to Cargo Carriers’ 
ability to deliver ongoing value in a responsible manner 
and we aim to cultivate a positive and meaningful 
relationship with all stakeholders. We seek, where 
appropriate, to collaborate, share knowledge and engage 
on issues that have a direct bearing on our stakeholders. 
This culture is encouraged throughout the group in 
relation to our divisions, associates and joint venture 
companies. The table below defines our stakeholders and 
the methods employed by the Group to engage with all 
relevant parties:

14

Stakeholder Group Method of Engagement

Employees	 •	SHEQ	Portal
	 •	Website,	Internal	Communication
	 •	Employee	Engagement	Forums
	 •	Training	Internal	&	External
	 •	Toolbox	Talks
	 •	Performance	Management	Reviews
	 •	Employee	Surveys	&	Wellness	Days
	 •	Leadership	Conferences

Customers	 •	SHEQ	Information	&	Communication
	 •	Customer	Visits	and	Audits
	 •	Contracts	&	Service	Level	Agreements
	 •	Meetings
	 •	Website
	 •	Customer	Surveys

Local Authorities		 •	Submission	of	Interim	&	Integrated	Reports
& Regulatory Bodies	 •	Meetings	&	Reporting
	 •	Incident	Reports	and	Investigations
	 •	Audit	Reports

Suppliers	 •	Visits	and	Audits
	 •	SHEQ	Communication
	 •	Contracts	&	Service	Agreements

Investors	 •	Interim	and	Integrated	Reports
	 •	SENS	Announcements
	 •	Annual	General	Meetings

General Public	 •	Media	Advertising
	 •	Media	Interviews
	 •	Website

Sustainability in our business
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The Group has structured and prepared this report 
focussing on areas of our business that have a significant 
impact on our stakeholders and the environment. Key 
performance indicators as recommended by GRI have 
been selected and comprise:
•	 Society	and	empowerment
•	 Human	rights	and	labour	practices
•	 Economic	review
•	 Environmental

Society and empowerment

Our primary means for enhancing the development and 
capabilities of our host communities is through our socio-
economic development and training initiatives.  

The Group’s intention is to: 
•	 improve	our	understanding	and	knowledge	of	the		
 socio-economic impact (both positive and    
 negative) of our business 
•	 improve	our	ability	to	support	socio-economic		 	 	
 development initiatives
•	 enhance	the	capacity	for	stakeholder	dialogue	and		
 engagement
•	 encourage	effective	management	of	social	issues
•	 report	with	greater	transparency	and	accountability

Cargo Carriers is a proudly South African concern 
that is committed to the empowerment of previously 
disadvantaged groups. This is evident in the progression 
of our BEE status in South Africa from a Level 7 (2007) 
to a Level 4 B-BBEE value-adding supplier during the 
current period. The following initiatives have been 
implemented within the Group to complement society 
and empowerment development:

 – Preferential procurement
  Our vision is sustainable, responsible preferential  
  procurement that positively contributes to a resilient
   supply chain and the economic and social    
  development of the communities in which we 
  operate. By engaging local businesses in our supply  
  chain, we can make a significant positive    
  contribution to our host communities. 

  The following table reflects the points achieved for  
  preferential procurement in our BEE scorecard,  
  as verified by a reputable independent B-BBEE   
  verification agency:

 Element 
 indicator
 points 2013 2012

BEE procurement  12 12 12

Spend with QSEs 
and EMEs  3  3  3

Spend with black- 
owned business  3 2.9  2

Spend with black female- 
owned business  2 0.96 0.15

 – Enterprise development
  We believe that enterprise development is one   
  of the most effective means for ensuring 
  sustainable benefits, creating job opportunities, 
  and economic growth. The following initiatives and  
  strategies have been employed within the Group:
  
  o Owner driver scheme which started in    
   August 2003 and continues to create 
   entrepreneurial opportunities. This involves:
   – identifying existing drivers within the Group  
    which meet the programme’s selection    
    criteria
   – entering into a three- or five-year service    
    agreement partnership
   – assisting the Owner Drivers in acquiring their  
    own vehicles and equipment
   – providing support for maintenance and    
    financial administration. 
  
  o Payment to qualifying enterprise companies over  
   a shorter period
  
  o Financial assistance to qualifying enterprise   
   development joint ventures

 The table below reflects the points achieved for    
 enterprise development in our BEE scorecard, as   
 verified by a reputable independent B-BBEE 
 verification agency:

 Element 
 indicator
 points 2013 2012

Investments with black-

owned enterprises

(QSEs and EMEs) 15 15 15

 –  Social economic development (SED)
  Our social development strategy is embedded in  
  the Cargo Carriers values and business principles.  
  Social investment is an important tool in supporting  
  community development and the social contribution  
  in kind to our communities.  

  The table below reflects the points achieved for  
  SED in our BEE scorecard, as verified by a reputable  
  independent B-BBEE verification agency:

    Element 
    indicator
    points 2013 2012

Average annual value

of SED contributions

made   5 5 5
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Human rights and labour practices  

Cargo Carriers recognises that our people are our greatest 
asset. This recognition extends beyond our employees 
to include our suppliers, the communities in which we 
operate and the customers we serve. The acquisition of 
Buks Haulage Limited (BHL) has been consolidated into 
the numbers reflected in the tables below.

The strategic focus within the Group continues to be the 
attraction, development and retention of talented staff 
whilst entrenching a high performance culture. This we 
achieve through focus on the following areas:

	 •	 Recruitment
  We believe that our focus on employee training 
  and satisfaction will allow us to continue to attract  
  and retain a high quality workforce contributing 
  to the achievement of company objectives. The  
  attraction and retention of certain skilled employees  
  such as artisans remained a challenge during the  
  current period. As a result, more apprentices 
  were identified and trained in order to enhance 
  the skills pool.  

  The Employment Equity and Skills Development  
  Committee, which meets quarterly, plays a pivotal  
  role in monitoring the Group’s implementation of its  
  employment equity plan, workplace skills plan and  
  training plan. We proactively implement policies 
  that are in accordance with Broad-Based Black   
  Economic Empowerment guidelines and    
  requirements. The Group utilises reputable    
  recruitment agencies, including profes- 
  sional networks, in sourcing its employees. 

 The table below details the number of recruitments  
 done during the period:

  2013 2012  

Black* female  21 10  
Black* male  268 89 
White female  3 5 
White male  13 7 
  305 111 

* includes African, Indian and Coloured

	 •	 Employee	relations	
  Maintaining healthy employee relations in our    
  company is a pre-requisite for success, considering 
  the prevailing highly complex context of regional  
  industrial relations. No doubt, if there is a sound  
  reciprocal relationship, there will be a positive    
  

  working environment in the Group which translates  
  into enhanced customer satisfaction.

Good employee relations are fostered through 
regular meetings held between management, staff 
and the union representatives to address areas of 
concern. The Group respects the fundamental right 
of freedom of association. 

As an endeavour to continuously improve employee 
relations, the Group embarked on an employee en-
gagement intervention during 2012. The initial survey 
results were shared with the employees through 
focus group interactions. An action plan is being put 
in place to address concerns raised. The exercise 
was well received by employees who continued to 
feel that their views are valued at all times. 

	 •	 Employment	practices
The Group aims to engage employees on a 
permanent basis. Temporary employment is 
only considered in exceptional circumstances. 
In providing employment benefits, the Group 
distinguishes between permanent and temporary 
employees. The provision of employment benefits 
is guided by policies which embrace the principles 
of fairness and equity.

 •	 Employee	turnover
Retaining best employees is essential for the 
Group performance. Therefore, reducing employee 
turnover is a strategic and vital issue, beneficial 
to our bottom-line. Competitive pay, benefits, 
employee recognition and employee engagement 
programmes are all part of the company’s attempt 
to maintain employee satisfaction. By retaining key 
employees we ensure that we are keeping those 
employees who have very good knowledge about 
the company, its processes and customers. 

	 •	 Employee	benefits
Wage employees in South Africa are now regulated 
by the three-year wage agreement signed between 
employer parties and the unions at the National 
Bargaining Council for Road Freight and Logistics 
Industry, which was implemented in March 2011.  
Cross-border employees are regulated by their 
respective employment and union agreements.

For salaried employees the Group continues 
to subscribe to ‘’Deloitte’s Reward Survey”, 
which provides a guideline to market-related 
remuneration. Medical aid and provident fund 
benefits are not applicable to temporary salaried 
employees.

16
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 •	 Employee	wellness	
We recognise that there is no sustainable business 
without a focus on the well-being of our people. It 
is our firm belief that a healthy workforce is a more 
productive workforce. Although good health and 
vitality benefit an employee in every aspect of his or 
her life, they also specifically benefit the employer. 
Just as investing in an employee’s training provides 
a better, more valuable resource, investing in 
their health will provide an employer with a more 
effective and consistently available resource.

As a Group, therefore, we continue, in collabo-
ration with Trucking Wellness, to hold “Employee 
Wellness Days” at various branches. The value 
offering of such events includes the provision 
of health screening tests e.g. cholesterol, blood 
pressure, blood sugar, body mass index (BMI), 
HIV and eye screening. The aim is to detect any 
illnesses as early as possible, to proactively advise 
employees on their well-being and to encourage 
healthy habits and behaviour.

The Group participates annually in the “Discovery 
Healthy Company Index” survey. The purpose of the 
survey is to establish how healthy our workplace 
is, and what we can do to ensure the well-being of 
all employees. Comparison was made between our 
company results and those of companies with the 
same or similar profile as ours. 

	 •	 Performance	management	and	skills	development
Performance management is instrumental 
in the achievement of the Group’s strategic 
objectives, hence monitoring of each employee’s 
performance on an ongoing basis is vital. In doing 
so, performance appraisals are conducted twice 
a year for all employees falling outside the ambit 
of the Bargaining Council (approximately 25% of 
our staff complement). During these appraisals, 
development plans are compiled for each employee 
to ensure continuous performance improvement 
and development. 

The Group regards people and leadership 
development across all levels as the key to our 
future, and this is aligned to individual growth and 
good corporate governance. Our annual investment 
in training and development stands at 3% of skills 
development leviable amount.

Below is an overview of training programmes 
implemented within the Group:

– Management trainees
Three of the four management trainees have 
completed their rotation programme. The train-
ees were exposed to the various business units 
and disciplines within the Group. Two additional 
trainees have been employed effective March 
2013. 

– Learnerships
The 24-month audit learnership programme, 
initiated in the prior year in conjunction with 
the Institute of Internal Auditors, continued 
during the current year. The aim is to ensure 
that the students receive the relevant training 
and experience within the internal audit and risk 
function.

– Apprenticeship programme
The company currently has seven diesel 
mechanic apprentices as an endeavour to 
address the shortage of technical skills, and will 
be engaging four additional apprentices in the 
coming year. 

– Bursary scheme
The students who were provided with the 
bursaries have completed their studies and 
became part of our management trainee 
programme effective 1 March 2013. This 
forms part of our Broad-Based Black Economic 
Empowerment strategy.

– General training
The Group continues to focus on the 
development of its greatest asset, its employees. 
Ongoing training such as defensive driving 
and in-cab assessments are conducted on an 
annual basis. All individuals undergoing training 
are educated on applicable Safety, Health, 
Environment and Quality (SHEQ) principles, 
receiving the best knowledge transfer possible. 
Management and administration staff are also 
encouraged to pursue training initiatives within 
their respective environments.

17
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– Change management
We acknowledge that diversity is key to our 
growth and success and the Group has, over the 
years, become more diverse with regard to race, 
gender, age, background, education, mindsets, 
sexual orientation or any other factors that may 
not be shared by everyone.

In order to harness the diversity to the full benefit 
of all, Diversity Management workshops were 
conducted to create an understanding of the 
impact of diversity on our daily interaction with 
each other. Embracing a culture of inclusion is 
fundamental in ensuring that our diverse talent 
is managed and nurtured to drive and sustain 
successful business practices and outcomes.

 The Group’s drive to be an employer of choice assists  
 in attracting skills to the company. Its reputation as  
 a preferred employer is paramount and the table   
 below depicts the staff demographics:

  2013 2012   

Black* female     6%   10% 
Black* male   81%    71% 
White female     4%       6% 
White male       9%    13%  
 
* includes African, Indian and Coloured

  

Economic review

The world and local economic conditions have been 
extremely challenging. Slow economic growth and
volatile industrial and political conditions have threatened 
sustainability, but despite this, the Group has been able 
to expand employment and post improved earnings. 
It is through Cargo Carriers’ core business activities,  
employing people, paying taxes to governments and 
making payments to our suppliers and operating in a 
fair and ethical way, that we make a significant positive 
contribution to national and local economies. 

Through the multiplier effect, the positive economic 
contribution of our operations extends significantly further 
than these direct forms of value distribution. Further 
details on the nature of our economic value add are 
outlined in the financial section of this report.

Environmental 

The Group aims to minimise the environmental impact 
of its operations by taking a systematic and disciplined 
approach and applying sophisticated risk assessment 
techniques that directly inform its strategic initiatives and 
plans. During the current period, the Group focussed on 
the following elements in managing its environmental 
aspects:

•		 Environmental	management	(ISO	14001)
 (Refer diagram on next page)
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 Key Concerns Our Response
 
 Climate Change	 •		Greenhouse	Gases	Inventory	
	 	 •		Establishing	our	Carbon	footprint	using	the		 	
   Greenhouse Gas Emission protocol 
   (Emissions table: see page 20)

   –  Energy management 
    Driver training programmes to ensure optimal   
    driving, resulting in fewer emissions.
        Vehicles’ fuel usage monitoring and investigation  
    on any abnormalities sited. 
        Gas Boiler heating for Head Office.
        Monthly electricity usage monitoring.

   –  Water consumption
                 Monthly water usage monitoring and wash                 
    bay water re-use at some branches.

  Climate change is further impacted by growth in   
  the business as more subsidiaries and divisions are   
  created.

   2013 2012
Environmental incidents 
per 1.0 kms 0 0.12
Greenhouse gas 
emissions (GHG) (CO2e tonnes) 42 096 33 883
Electricity 
consumed (MWH) 1 282 1 031
Water consumed (kl) 62 381 53 079
Road accidents 
involving spillages 0 3

 Waste Management	 •	 Recycling	of	paper,	electronic	waste	and	used	oil		 	
   from workshops by approved contractors
	 	 •	 Use	of	contractors	registered	with	REDISA		for	our			
   used tyres
	 	 •	 Annual	testing	of	effluent	water	from	our	wash	bays		
   to ensure conformity to municipal by-laws
 
 Hazardous Substance Storage	 •	 Adequate	secondary	containment	
	 	 •	 Suitable	type	and	number	of	fire-fighting	equipment			
   within reasonable distance 
	 	 •	 Integrity	test	for	underground	tanks	by	respective	oil		
   companies
	 	 •	 Municipal	Fire	permits	where	applicable	
  
 Environmental Incidents	 •	 Driver	training	on	emergency	response
	 	 •	 Vehicle	tracking	for	real	time	positioning	and	control,		
   enabling prompt response and reaction to incidents 
	 	 •	 Contract	with	one	of	the	country’s	leading	waste		 	
   management companies for spill response and   
   rehabilitation if required
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Intensity: Scope 1, 2 and other direct     Change in
emmisions only  2013 2012 tonnes CO2e

Emissions per Rmillion turnover 

(tonnes CO2e/Rmillion)  55.25 58.85 -3.54

Emissions per thousand kilometres 

travelled (tonnes CO2e/1 000 kms)  1.30 1.43 -0.13

Emissions per thousand man-hours

(tonnes CO2e/1 000 hours)  16.44 19.67 -3.23

 

The table below reflects the emissions per turnover, distance travelled (per 1 000 kms), and man-hours have all 
declined. This reflects that the growth in the business exceeds the increased emissions.

•		 Carbon	Footprint
The Group’s highest emitting source of GHG remains our revenue earning fleet, emitting 42096.24 tonnes CO2e. This 
represents a 24% increase over the prior year, which is largely due to the use of 23% more fuel and a 37% increase 
in distance covered by the fleet.  The increased usage is primarily as a result of an increased fleet through the 
acquisition of BHL.

Scope 1 & 2 Total Emission

  2013 2012 Change in
Source    tonnes CO2e
    from 2012

Scope 1 Revenue earning fleet 39 331.94 31 865.09 7 466.85

 Non-revenue earning fleet 1 494.75 1 051.92 442.83

 Stationary fuels 40.87 13.34 27.53

 Fugitive emissions - 0.23 (0.23)

Other direct emissions (non-Kyoto gases) - 19.55 (19.55)

Sub-total Scope 1 & other direct 40 867.56 32 950.13 7 917.43

Scope 2 Electricity 1 228.68 933.66 295.02

Total emissions measured (tonnes CO2e) 42 096.24 33 883.79 8 212.45 

 

Environmental continued
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 Key Concerns Our Response
 
 
 Road accidents and injuries	 •		Annual	medical	examinations	to	ensure	fitness	to
   work and enhance both driver and road users’ 
   safety

	 	 •	 Employee	Safety	Induction	Programme

	 	 •	 Intensive	training	and	testing	for	drivers
   on annual basis

	 	 •	 Route	Risk	Assessments	are	conducted	and	form
   part of driver’s journey plan

	 	 •	 Driver	briefing	and	debriefing	

 
 Legal and systems compliance	 •	 SHEQ	committees	at	branch	level

	 	 •	 Internal	audits

	 	 •		Periodic	external	legal	compliance	audit

	 	 •	 Occupational	hygiene	surveys

	 	 •	 External	audits	by	customers

	 	 •	 The	company	has	a	standing	agreement	in	place
   with the trade union on the appointment of
   Health and Safety representatives 
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Regretfully, the Company suffered one fatality and nine lost time injuries in the year under review. We remain 
committed to ensuring a culture of safety and that all our employees come to no harm.

The following statistics represents our health and safety performance during the period:

•		 Health	&	Safety
The Group subscribes to occupational, health and safety standards (OHSAS 18001). This is necessary in order to 
comply with stringent requirements as set by our customers, in addition to safeguarding our employees. The key 
concerns of OHSAS 18001 are depicted below, together with the factors employed within our business to ensure 
compliance.

  
 2013 2012

Fatalities 1 0

Lost time incident 9 11

Fatalities per 1 million kms 0 0

Injuries per 1 million kms 0.14 0.12

Accidents per 1 million kms 1.94 3.80

Lost time injury frequency rate 0.80 1.27
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Highlights of the Year

•	 Afrisam	–	Cargo	Carriers	being	awarded	the	prestigious	Customer	Service	award,	on	a	combined	score	out	of	
 3 categories, namely Safety, Health, Environment & Quality (SHEQ); Customer Image (CI); and Customer Service
•	 Cargo	Carriers	celebrates	25	years	listing	on	the	Johannesburg	Stock	Exchange	(‘JSE’)
•	 Cargo	Carriers	acquires	55%	in	Zambia-based	transporter	Buks	Haulage	Limited	(‘BHL’)
•	 Cargo	Carriers	exceeds	Mercedes-Benz	South	Africa	(MBSA)	Fleetboard	100	Active	vehicle	mark	
 (Cargo Carriers operates 103 active vehicles on this system)
•	 The	launch	of	Sitanani	Carriers	in	Mpumalanga	and	the	geographical	extension	of	the	Uzuko	Carriers	contract	
 to include the major Eastern Cape cities 
•	 Carbon	intensity	per	1	000	kilometres	driven	decreased	by	9.26%	
•	 Sitanani	Carriers	–	B-BBEE	Level	1	contributor	status
•	 Ezethu	Logistics	–	B-BBEE	Level	2	contributor	status
•	 e-POD	(electronic	proof	of	delivery)	technology	introduced	to	the	fuel	distribution	sector	

The content and structure of this report conforms to the recommendations and the principles laid out in the King Report 
on Governance for South Africa 2009 (‘King III’), and complies with the South African Companies Act and the Listings 
Requirements of the Johannesburg Stock Exchange Limited (‘JSE’). 

Mr Boitumelo Choche  Tel+27 (0) 11 485 8700
Group Audit & Risk Manager Fax+27 (0) 86 674 0994
   E-Mail: smr2013feedback@cargocarriers.co.za

Cargo Carriers’ 
assessment of 

strategic, operational 
sustainable 

development risks

1. Identifying risks
A consistently applied methodology is used 
to identify key risks at Group business units, 
operations and projects. The risk management 
process is undertaken through a series of risk 
workshops at least annually at business units. 

4. Reporting and monitoring
Management is responsible for monitoring 
progress of actions to mitigate key risks and is 
supported through the Group’s internal audit 
programme, which evaluates the design and 
effectiveness of controls to mitigate key risks. 
The results of the key risk management process 
are reported to the Audit and Risk Committee.

2. Analysing risks and controls to manage 
identified risks
Once identified, the process will evaluate identified 
risks to establish financial and non-financial im-
pacts, likelihood of occurrence and root causes. 
Consideration of current controls to mitigate the                        
   risks is also undertaken to enable a prioritised        
      register of risks to be created.

        3. Determining management actions required
        If additional controls are required, these will be     
        identified and responsibilities assigned.

Enterprise Risk Management  

Our ability to deliver our business strategy ultimately 
depends on the effectiveness with which we identify and 
respond to those risks and opportunities that impact on 
the competitiveness of our business and on the interests 
of those stakeholders with whom we have a significant 
relationship.

•	 The	Process	for	Determining	Material	Issues
In identifying and prioritising the issues that could 
impact Cargo Carriers’ goal of becoming financially 

sustainable, we have considered both the findings 
of our internal risk management process and the 
outcome of engagements with our stakeholders. 
The identification and prioritisation of these risks is 
strongly informed by our commitment to delivering on 
our core values.

•	 Our	Internal	Risk	Management	Process
The effective identification and management of risk 
is critical to the success of the company. We have 
adopted a four-step approach to the management 
of risk as shown in the diagram below:
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 2013  2012  % Change 

 Turnover (R million)   721  594  21.4 

 Headline earnings per share (cents)  108.8  60.7  79.3 

 Revaluation of owner occupied properties (cents)  27.5  11.0  150.2 

 Revaluation of investment properties (cents)  38.7  17.0  127.5 

 Dividends per share (cents) 

 - interim declared during the year  10.0  9.0  11.1 

 - final declared after year end  20.0  8.0  1.5 

 Net asset value per share (cents) 1 924 1771  8.6 

 Closing share price on JSE (cents)  1 015 907  11.9 

 Capital employed* (R million)  677  570  18.7 

 Capital expenditure (R million) - actual spent  81  78  3.8 

 Capital expenditure (R million) - committed  21.1  4.1  414.5 

 *  comprises equity, outside shareholders’ interest and non-current liabilities 

Financial Review 
for the year ended 28 February 2013

Group Value Added Statement 
for the year ended 28 February 2013

 2013  2012 

 Rm  %  Rm  % 

 Value added comprises: 

 Turnover  721  239  594  237 

 Revaluation of assets  9  3  4  2 

 Cost of goods and services bought   (428)  (142)  (347)  (139)

 302  100  251  100 

 Shared as follows: 

 Employment costs  195  65  165  66 

 Government direct and deferred taxes  14  5  20  8 

 Interest paid to financial institutions  18  6  17  7 

 Dividends paid to shareholders  4  1  3  1 

 Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  48  16  34  14 

 Profits retained  23  7  12  4 

 302  100  251  100
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R000 2013 2012 2011 2010 2009 2008 2007

Turnover   721 321  593 895  538 298  443 812  483 041  423 551  424 849 

Total turnover of associates and joint venture  251 267  226 401  161 781  146 996  167 421  102 149  46 902 

Group’s share of turnover from associates and joint venture  99 076  84 306  57 632  54 518  63 993  41 918  20 748 

Profit from operating activities before depreciation  90 306  73 454  60 272  62 487  64 085  56 107  61 157 

Profit from operating activities   42 538  39 219  28 137  33 282  35 504  32 479  36 033 

Profit before finance income and finance cost  53 361  45 904  38 222  38 918  38 169  65 724  49 842 

Profit before taxation  39 769  32 792  26 805  31 535  13 539  50 311  39 460 

Total equity  389 759  345 303  332 319  326 023  305 761  283 919  238 150 

Capital employed**  676 562  569 968  513 994  447 577  436 285  408 893  353 934 

Total assets  862 970  699 100  624 739  540 876  534 987  498 719  447 262 

•	 Non-current assets  578 003  520 125  461 360  373 527  340 905  303 370  332 510 

•	 Current assets  234 029  174 590  160 267  164 100  194 082  100 349  114 752 

•	 Assets held for sale  50 938  4 385  3 112  3 249  -    95 000  -   

Net interest-bearing loans and borrowings to total equity (%)  46.5  42.1  34.3  7.6  6.5  29.3  19.9 

Capital expenditure (R million)  80.6  77.6  123.4  64.9  62.8  57.6  78.1 

Earnings per share (cents)  136.3  64.9  86.1  128.0  88.8  206.3  149.0 

Headline earnings per share (cents)  108.8  60.7  48.5  118.8  55.0  69.7  83.1 

Revaluation of owner occupied properties  27.5  11.0  (11.3)  17.5  (2.2)  56.6  48.4 

Revaluation of investment properties  38.7  17.0  2.4  44.4  (6.5)  172.7  69.2 

Dividends per share (cents) 

- interim declared during the year  10.0  9.0  12.0  9.5  9.5  9.5  9.5 

- final declared after year end  20.0  8.0  5.0  20.0  9.0  9.0  9.0 

Net asset value per share (cents) 1 924 1771 1706 1681 1576  1 463  1 215 

Share price movement (cents) 

-   high 1 095 1075 1230 850 1200 1700 1250

-   low 900 900 750 640 700 1100 760

 Closing share price on JSE (cents) 1 015 907 1080 780 710 1100 1225

 *  comprises equity, outside shareholders’ interest and non-current liabilities 

Seven Year Review 
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The Group subscribes to the King Report on Governance 
for South Africa 2009 (‘King III’) which came into operation 
in March 2010. The directors are satisfied that in all 
material respects, the Group has complied with the 
recommendations of King III, throughout the accounting 
period. A self-assessment exercise, as recommended by 
King III, was performed during the period and the Group 
obtained an impressive score of 89.07%. In line with the 
guidelines prescribed by King III, the Group has provided 
explanations in areas of non-compliance. The principle, of 
corporate governance procedures applied are summarised 
as follows:

Board of Directors

The board of directors of the company comprises eight 
directors, of whom five are non-executive and represent 
63% of the board. Mr AE Franklin, Mrs SP Mzimela and 
Mrs MJ Vuso are independent non-executive directors. 
The independent status of the non-executive directors is 
considered annually. The predominance of non-executives 
on the board helps maintain a balance of power and 
ensure independent decision making.

A formal Board Charter has been adopted. All of the 
principles of the Board Charter have been observed during 
the year. The board of directors has a clearly defined 
statement of authorities and responsibilities delegated to 
the chairman, joint chief executives, chief financial officer 
and management and those matters which are reserved 
for decision by the board. This statement clearly sets out 
the areas of responsibility of the board. The qualifications 
and experience of the non-executive directors ensure the 
efficient functioning of the board, giving insightful input 
into the successful strategic positioning of the company 
and assessment of performance.

As two chief executive officers have been appointed, 
the need for a formal succession plan is not considered 
by the company to be a priority at this level. Senior 
executives are formally evaluated against set criteria on an 
annual basis. 

A director’s performance review was undertaken during 
the year. Director development and training is a key 
priority of the board and this is duly initiated based on 
current requirements.

The positions of chairman and joint chief executives are 
held by different persons, as shown on page 23. The 
Chairman is not independent; however, his association 
and knowledge pertaining to the Group, makes him the 
ideal candidate for the position. No instances occurred 
during the year under review in respect of which the 
board deemed it necessary for a lead independent 
director to take over from the Chairman. 

The board, which meets on a quarterly basis and at 
other times as necessary, monitors the performance 
of the Group and effectively controls the company and 
its management by reviewing the financial results of 
the Group against operating budgets each quarter and 
approving and ratifying the strategic plans, operating and 
capital budgets of the Group as well as being involved in 
all material decisions. 

The position of Company Secretary is held by Arcay  
Client Support Proprietary Limited. The company secretary 
is required to provide the members of the board with 
guidance and advice regarding their responsibilities, 
duties and powers and to ensure that the board is aware 
of all legislation relevant to or affecting the company. 
The company secretary is furthermore required to ensure 
that the company complies with all applicable legislation 
regarding the affairs of the company, including the 
necessary recording of meetings of the board, board 
committees and shareholders of the company. The board 
is satisfied that there is an arms-length relationship 
between it and the company secretary and is of the 
opinion that the company secretary has the requisite 
attributes, qualifications and experience to fulfil its 
commitments effectively. It requires a decision of the 
board to remove the company secretary should this 
become necessary.

All the executive directors have normal employment 
contracts, which are subject to a one-month notice period. 
No other director has an employment contract with the 
company. In terms of the Code of Conduct relating to the 
dealing in the shares in the company, and which applies to 
all directors, office bearers and senior management of the 
company, no open market transactions are permissible 
by them during a period of three months before any 
published announcement by the company of price 
sensitive information. 

The board of directors has the following sub-committees, 
all except two committees - audit and risk, and social 
and ethics - chaired by a non-executive director, Mr SG 
Chilvers. A formal charter has been adopted for each of 
the sub-committees below and the principles contained in 
these charters were observed during the financial year:

•	 the Audit and Risk Committee, chaired by Mrs MJ 
Vuso, has terms of reference which clearly set out 
its scope and objectives. It currently consists of 
three independent non-executive directors who met 
four times during the year. The joint chief executive 
officers, chief financial officer, external auditors and 
group audit and risk manager attend all meetings as 
invitees. The group audit and risk manager reports 
directly to the Audit and Risk Committee but is 
responsible to the chief financial officer on day-
to-day matters. The group audit and risk manager 
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and external auditors have unlimited access to the 
chairperson of the Audit and Risk Committee and 
chairperson of the board. The committee members 
have unlimited access to all information, documents 
and explanations required in the discharge of their 
duties, as do the internal audit and risk department 
and the external auditors.

 The Audit and Risk Committee considers 
comprehensive reports from:
 - the internal Audit and Risk Department regarding 

the output of the risk management process and 
also the adequacy and effectiveness of financial 
and operational control measures

 - the SHEQ (safety, health, environment, quality) 
department regarding social and environmental 
matters 

 - the external auditors regarding the planning and 
results of their audit activities

 The Audit and Risk Committee evaluates the Group 
exposures and response to significant risks, including 
sustainability issues. The Management Committee, 
chaired by a joint chief executive officer assists the 
Audit and Risk Committee with its risk management 
function. The committee also reviews accounting 
policies and financial information issued to the public; 
provides effective communication between directors, 
management and the internal and external auditors; 
reviews the performance of the internal Audit and 
Risk Department as well as the external auditors; 
recommends the appointment of, and fixes the fees 
payable to the external auditors; and monitors the level 
of non-audit services provided by the external auditors. 

 
 The Audit and Risk Committee is satisfied, based on 

deliberations during the reporting period, with the level 
of independent assurance that it has received, and 
believes that the risk management process and control 
processes are adequate. The committee is satisfied 
with the independent status of the external auditors. 
The board is provided with updates and reports on 
the committee’s activities.     
 

•	 the Remuneration Committee comprises five non-
executive directors who approve the remuneration 
and terms of employment of the executive directors 
and the senior officers of the company, as well as 
the adjustments, in general, of the remuneration 
packages of all non-unionised staff members. 
The committee members meet as and when it 
is considered necessary. The chairman of the 
Remuneration Committee is not an independent non-
executive director. In the present circumstances this is 
considered most appropriate.   
 

•	 the Nominations Committee has terms of reference 
which require it to consider and investigate suitable 
candidates for board appointments. The committee 
consists of the chairman of the board, three 
independent non-executive directors and one non-
executive director and meets when it is considered 
necessary.      

•	 the Social and Ethics Committee has been 
established and comprises four members, chaired by 
independent non-executive director Mrs MJ Vuso. The 
committee’s terms of reference have been finalised 
and ratified by the board.

The Management Committee 

The Management Committee is chaired by a joint chief 
executive and meets monthly. The committee discusses 
matters of significance to the Group, reviews results and 
ensures that matters requiring the attention of the board 
are brought to its attention timeously. The committee 
deals with all the management issues of the Group and 
ensures that policies are adhered to. It recommends to 
the board all strategies and policies and is responsible 
for their subsequent implementation. There is a detailed 
delegation of authority in place which manages the 
activities of the committee members.

The Tax Committee 

The Tax Committee comprises representatives of the board, 
management and the company’s auditors by invitation. This 
committee was established to ensure that the company 
complies with all relevant fiscal legislation and that the 
affairs of the Group are handled in a tax-effective manner.

The Social and Ethics Committee

The Company has constituted a Social and Ethics 
Committee (“SEC”) in accordance with section 72(4) 
of the Companies Act 2008 and regulation 43(2). This 
Committee comprises representatives of the board and 
management and monitors the Company’s activities 
relating to social and economic development. All relevant 
legislation, legal requirements and prevailing codes of 
best practice, including the Company’s standing in terms 
of its goals and objectives, are considered in executing its 
responsibility.

Code of Ethics

The principles encouraged by the board of directors 
amongst staff are highest levels of integrity and credibility, 
to be practised at all levels of operations within the Group, 
as well as in all dealings with outside parties.

The company has formalised detailed statements on 
ethics, health, safety and environment issues which 
are incorporated into the accreditation in terms of ISO 
9001:2008, ISO 14001:2004 and OHSAS 18001:2007 
standards. These have been in place for the full year, 
which accreditation is audited on a regular basis by 
international accreditation agencies. 

A code of ethics covering all aspects of the business and 
stake-holders is incorporated in the company’s Policies 
and Procedures Manual to which all employees are 
required to comply. This has been in place for the full year. 
The codes of the ethics policy were reviewed during the 
period. An ethics practice audit questionnaire was further 



28

Corporate Governance

performed with key decision makers and evaluated by the 
Audit and Risk Department. We are pleased to report that 
no indicators could be detected for violation of the code 
of ethics.

Relations with Stakeholders

The company follows a policy of clear and transparent 
reporting to all stakeholders, both internally and externally. 
Communication with investors and shareholders is done 
through the annual financial statements, interim reports 
and any other publications required by regulation.

Shareholders and other stakeholders are encouraged to 
attend the Annual General Meeting of the company, which 
provides them with the opportunity to discuss pertinent 
issues with all the board members. Internally there are 
regular meetings with worker representatives where staff 
have an opportunity to provide feedback or ask questions.

Risk Management

The company has a formal internal audit and risk 
management function. It supports management’s 
responsibility to maintain systems of internal control 
that are designed to provide reasonable assurance 
that transactions are concluded in accordance with 
management’s authority and that assets are adequately 
controlled and protected against loss. This function is 
extended to include the group’s information technology 
process and systems. The group audit and risk manager 
reports monthly to the Management Committee and 
quarterly to the Audit and Risk Committee.

The system includes an appropriate delegation of 
authority and segregation of responsibilities. It is 
supported by policies and procedures which are regularly 
reviewed and if necessary, modified in response to 
changes in business conditions. There are, however, 
inherent limitations in any control system and in requiring 
management to implement appropriate controls; the 
directors take into account that the cost of maintaining 
a control system should not exceed the benefits to be 
derived. The internal controls provide a reasonable but 
not absolute assurance that assets are safeguarded, 
transactions are authorised and properly recorded and 
that material errors and irregularities are either prevented 
or would be detected within a timely period.

Risks related to tangible assets are considered on a 
regular basis in conjunction with independent professional 
advisors. Self-insurance within the risk capacity of the 
Group is undertaken, with reinsurance cover being 
obtained above predetermined limits. 

The company has developed a strategic risk profile that:
•	 identifies specific risk matters
•	 rates such matters in terms of inherent and residual 

risk
•	 identifies mitigating controls

•	 establishes the effectiveness of such controls
•	 sets a prioritised list that identifies actions necessary 

to reduce residual risk to acceptable levels.

The strategic risk profile covers the Group’s top ten 
significant risks. The profile was tabled and considered by 
the Audit and Risk Committee and current risk levels were 
considered acceptable. The profile is kept relevant by the 
Management Committee.

It has been recognised by the company that for the 
risk management process to be effective, it must be 
embedded into the everyday activities and reporting 
process of the company. To assist in the risk management 
process, the risk manager acts as the facilitator of 
the risk management process throughout the Group. 
The risk manager creates risk awareness throughout 
the Group and ensures that the risk management and 
monitoring processes are sound. The risk manager 
further ensures that risk reporting is performed with the 
necessary integrity and is directed at the right people and 
committees. 

The complete Group risk management process is 
implemented through a hierarchical structure consisting 
of the:
•	 Board of directors
•	 Audit and Risk Committee
•	 Management Committee
•	 Divisional management
•	 Branch management

and is co-ordinated by the group Audit and Risk 
Department. Output from the risk management process is 
used to plan internal audit activities.

Social Impact

The company recognises that human capital development 
and safety are critical to its sustainability. Therefore, 
various policies and procedures have been put in place to 
facilitate these matters.

Worker participation - The Group is fully committed 
to the principle of employee involvement and 
participation where considered appropriate. Apart from 
the existing trade unions’ committees, a structure of 
consultative committees comprising representatives 
from management and employees, irrespective of union 
affiliation, is in place to enhance the process of joint 
consultation and decision making.

Employment equity - The Group subscribes to the 
principle of employee equality. In addition to its internal 
training and development programmes, it is involved in 
external development programmes to assist in alleviating 
the skills shortage. The company has also set up an 
Employment Equity Forum for the review and discussion 
of strategies to ensure employment equity in the future. 
The forum consists of unionised and non-unionised staff 
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members, as well as representatives of middle and senior 
management.

Safety, health, environment and quality (SHEQ) 
standards - the company is committed to a work 
environment that is safe and without unnecessary risk 
to the health of the workers. The Group adheres to all 
Acts applicable to the industry in which it operates. 
Specific emphasis is placed on the Occupational Health 
and Safety Act, the National Environmental Management 
Act, National Road Traffic Act (with specific emphasis 
on the transportation of hazardous goods by road), and 
Compensation for Occupational Injuries and Diseases Act. 
Our management system is implemented by ensuring 
compliance with the ISO 9001:2008, ISO 14001: 2004 
and OHSAS 18001:2007 standards.  Monitoring is 
conducted by means of inspections, internal systems 
audits and external verification audits.  Those that deal 
with hazardous products are subject to regular safety and 
quality assessment system (SQAS) audits by independent 
parties to ensure compliance. Further, specific policy 
guidelines have been established for dealing with HIV/
AIDS in the workplace. This policy is reviewed regularly 
to ensure compliance and adherence to any new social or 
legislative developments.

Company policy requires that operations comply with the 
ISO 9001:2008, ISO 14001: 2004 and OHSAS 18001:2007 
standards, and those that deal with hazardous products 
are subject to regular safety and quality assessment 
system (SQAS) audits by independent parties to ensure 
adherence.

A member of senior management has been specifically 
charged with the responsibility of attending to all SHEQ 
matters in the Group.

Use of External Auditors for non-audit 
services

The Audit and Risk Committee reviews the use of external 
auditors for non-audit services. It is the policy that non-
audit services must not impinge upon the independence 
of the auditors in any way. During the past year, the non-
audit services provided by the external auditors comprise:

•	 attendance at the Tax Committee meetings, primarily 
to ensure compliance with an ever-changing tax 
regime.

•	 tax opinion pertaining to the deregistration of a 
foreign-controlled entity and the effects on the Group.

Approval of the Annual Financial Statements

The manner of presentation of the financial statements, 
the selection of accounting policies and the integrity 
of the financial information is the responsibility of the 
directors. The Group annual financial statements and 
other financial information contained in these statements 
have been prepared by management in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards applied on a 
consistent basis throughout the year. The policies applied 
are reviewed regularly by the Audit and Risk Committee. 
After making enquiries, the directors have every reason to 
believe that the Group will continue to be a going concern 
in the year ahead, and the annual financial statements 
have accordingly been prepared on the basis of this 
assumption.

Board Meetings during the year ended  
28 February 2013

During the financial year the Board met four times, 
the Audit and Risk Committee met four times, the Tax 
Committee met twice, the Remuneration Committee 
twice and the Social and Ethics Committee three times. 
Additional Remuneration Committee matters were 
discussed telephonically where required.

Where it is not possible to convene a board meeting and  
a significant matter needs to be decided upon, the matter 
is fully discussed telephonically and full details of the 
matter are forwarded to directors before a resolution is 
taken and round-robin resolutions are adopted. These 
resolutions are noted at the following board meeting.

Comprehensive documentation is provided to directors 
prior to board and committee meetings.

Attendance of directors at board and committee  
meetings is set out in the table below: 

Non-Executive Directors Board Audit Tax Remuneration Social and Ethics

Mr SG Chilvers 4 1 ( by invitation) 2 2 -

Mrs SP Mzimela 3 3 - 2 -

Mr AE Franklin 3 3 - 2 -

Mrs MJ Vuso 4 4 - 2 3

Mrs BB Fraser 4 1 ( by invitation) - 2 2

Executive Directors      

Mr MJ Bolton 4 4 (by invitation) 2  -

Mr GD Bolton 4 4 (by invitation) 2  -

Mr S Maharaj 4 4 (by invitation) 2  -
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Audit and Risk Committee Report 

The Audit and Risk Committee is presenting its report for 
the financial year ended 28 February 2013. The Committee’s 
duties and objectives are mandated by the Board, with 
the specific inclusion of its responsibilities in terms 
of the Companies Act, 71 of 2008 and the JSE Listing 
Requirements. It assists the board through advising and 
making submissions on financial reporting, oversight of the 
risk management process and internal financial controls, 
external and internal audit functions, and statutory and 
regulatory compliance of the company. This allows the 
Committee to discharge its statutory and other Board 
delegated duties as outlined in this report, in compliance 
with the Committee’s terms of reference. 

Terms of reference

The Audit and Risk Committee has adopted formal terms 
of reference that have been approved by the Board of 
Directors, and has executed its duties during the past 
financial year in accordance with these terms of reference.

Composition

The committee comprises Mrs MJ Vuso CA (SA) 
(Chairperson), Advocate AE Franklin and Mrs SP Mzimela, 
all of whom are independent non-executive directors. 
Details of the Audit and Risk Committee members are 
set out in the directors’ report. The joint chief executive 
officers, the chief financial officer, the group audit and risk 
manager, and representatives from the external auditors 
attend the committee meetings by invitation. The internal 
and external auditors have unrestricted access to the 
Audit and Risk Committee.

Meetings

The committee held four meetings during the period. 
Details of the Audit and Risk Committee members’ 
attendance at meetings are set out on page 29 of this 
report. Closed sessions with key parties including group 
audit and risk, external audit, and management are held 
from time to time to enable confidential discussions.

Statutory duties

In execution of its statutory duties during the past 
financial year, the Audit and Risk Committee:
•	 Nominated for appointment as auditor, Ernst & Young 

Inc. who, in our opinion, are independent of the 
company;

•	 Determined the fees to be paid to Ernst & Young Inc. 
as disclosed in Note 1;

•	 Determined Ernst & Young Inc. terms of engagement;
•	 Ensured that the appointment of Ernst & Young 

Inc. complies with the relevant provisions of the 
Companies Act 71 of 2008 and King III;

•	 Developed and implemented a policy setting out 
the categories of non-audit services for the external 
auditors;

•	 Received no complaints relating to the accounting 
practices and internal audit of the company, the 
content or auditing of its financial statements, the 
internal financial controls of the company, and any 
other related matters;

•	 Made submissions to the board on matters 
concerning the company’s accounting policies, 
financial control, records and reporting, and we concur 
that the adoption of the going concern premise in the 
preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

Delegated duties 

Oversight of Risk Management

The committee has received assurance that the process 
and procedures followed by the group audit and risk 
manager are adequate to ensure that financial risks are 
identified and monitored. The committee has satisfied 
itself that the following areas have been appropriately 
addressed:
•	 Financial reporting risks;
•	 Internal financial controls;
•	 Fraud risks as they relate to financial reporting;
•	 Reviewed tax and technology risks, in particular how 

they are managed.

Assessment of the effectiveness of internal 
controls

The committee performed the following review during the 
period:
•	 the effectiveness of the company’s system of internal 

financial controls, including receiving assurance from 
management, internal audit and external audit;

•	 significant issues raised by the internal and external 
audit process; and

•	 policies and procedures for preventing and detecting 
fraud.

Nothing came to our attention to indicate that internal 
controls are not working effectively.
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Regulatory compliance

The Audit and Risk Committee has complied with all 
applicable legal and regulatory responsibilities.

External audit

Based on processes followed and assurances received, 
nothing has come to our attention with regard to the 
external auditor’s independence. Details of the external 
auditor’s fees are set out in Note 1. Based on our 
satisfaction with the results of the activities outlined 
above, we have recommended to the board that Ernst & 
Young Inc. should be reappointed for 2014.

Internal audit

The committee is mandated to ensure that the internal 
audit function is independent, properly resourced and 
effective within the group. The in-house group audit and 
risk function operates within the scope of an internal audit 
charter and an annual plan as approved by the committee. 
The committee assessed the performance of the group 
audit and risk manager and encourages co-operation 
between external and internal audit. The group audit and 
risk manager reported functionally to the Audit and Risk 
Committee and had unrestricted access to the Audit 
Committee chairman.

Evaluation of effectiveness of the finance 
function

We believe that Mr Shaneel Maharaj CA (SA), the chief 
financial officer of the group, possesses the appropriate 
expertise and experience to meet his responsibilities 

in that position as required by the JSE. We are further 
satisfied with the experience of the group financial 
manager and general manager finance. In making these 
assessments, we have obtained feedback from both 
external and internal audit. Based on the processes and 
assurances obtained, we believe that the accounting 
practices are effective.

Integrated report

The committee, together with the Social and Ethics 
Committee, performs an oversight role with regard to 
the integrated annual report, the reporting process and 
the information disclosed in the report to ensure its 
reasonable accuracy and consistency. The information 
is reviewed and ultimately interrogated by the Board to 
ensure the Board is satisfied with the integrity of the 
report. 

Going concern

Based on the results of the committee’s quarterly 
assessment of the solvency and liquidity of the Group 
and the year- end going concern review, the committee 
is comfortable with its recommendation to the Board 
regarding the annual financial statements and that the 
Group will be a going concern for the upcoming financial 
year.

On behalf of the Audit and Risk Committee

Mrs Matsotso Vuso CA (SA) (Chairperson)

10 May 2013
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Shareholders of Cargo Carriers Limited

Report on the Consolidated Financial 
Statements

We have audited the consolidated and separate financial 
statements of Cargo Carriers Limited set out on pages 
37 to 72, which comprise the statements of financial 
position as at 28 February 2013, and the statements of 
comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity 
and statements of cash flows for the year then ended, 
and the notes, comprising a summary of significant 
accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

Directors’ Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial 
Statements

The company’s directors are responsible for the 
preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated 
and separate financial statements in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards and the 
requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa, and 
for such internal control as the directors determine is 
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated and 
separate financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditor’s Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these 
consolidated and separate financial statements based 
on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with 
International Standards on Auditing. Those standards 
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan 
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance 
about whether the consolidated and separate financial 
statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit 
evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on 
the auditors’ judgement, including the assessment of the 
risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk 
assessments, the auditor considers internal control 
relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation 
of the financial statements in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 

but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also 
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting 
policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating 
the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated and separate financial 
statements present fairly, in all material respects, 
the consolidated and separate financial position of 
Cargo Carriers Limited as at 28 February 2013, and its 
consolidated and separate financial performance and 
consolidated and separate cash flows for the year then 
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards, and the requirements of the Companies Act of 
South Africa. 

Other reports required by the Companies Act 

As part of our audit of the consolidated and separate 
financial statements for the year ended 28 February 
2013, we have read the Directors’ Report, the Audit and 
Risk Committee Report and the Report of the Company 
Secretary for the purpose of identifying whether there are 
material inconsistencies between these reports and the 
audited consolidated and separate financial statements. 
These reports are the responsibility of the respective 
preparers. Based on reading these reports, we have not 
identified material inconsistencies between these reports 
and the audited consolidated and separate financial 
statements. However, we have not audited these reports 
and accordingly do not express an opinion on these 
reports.

Ernst & Young Inc. 
Director – Sarel Jacobus Johannes Strydom 
Registered Auditor, Chartered Accountant (SA) 
Wanderers Office Park, 52 Corlett Drive,   
Illovo, Johannesburg 
10 May 2013

Auditor’s Report
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Approval of the Financial Statements for the 
year ended 28 February 2013. Approval by 
the Board of Directors

The directors of Cargo Carriers Limited are responsible 
for the preparation and integrity of the annual financial 
statements of the Company and the Group. The Group’s 
external auditors are engaged to express an independent 
opinion on these annual financial statements.

In order to fulfil this responsibility, the Group maintains 
internal accounting and administrative control systems 
designed to provide reasonable assurance that assets 
are safeguarded and that transactions are executed and 
recorded in accordance with the Group’s policies and 
procedures.

The directors are satisfied that such accounting and 
administrative control systems have been maintained 
during the year.

The annual financial statements are prepared on a going 
concern basis and in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards, the requirements of the 
Companies Act, 2008 and the Listings Requirements 
of the Johannesburg Stock Exchange. These financial 
statements are examined by our auditors in conformity 
with International Standards on Auditing.

The annual financial statements were approved by the 
Board of directors on 10 May 2013 and are signed on its 
behalf by:

Report of the Company Secretary

In terms of section 268G(d) of the Companies Act in South 
Africa, we certify that to the best of our knowledge and 
belief, the company has lodged with the Companies and 

Intellectual Property Commission, for the financial year 
ended 28 February 2013, all such returns required of a 
public company in terms of this Act and that such returns 
are true, correct and up to date.

SG Chilvers (Chairman)                                                             MJ Bolton (Joint Chief Executive)

Approval of the Financial Statements

Arcay Client Support Proprietary Limited
Company Secretary
10 May 2013
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The directors present their report on the activities of the 
group for the year ended 28 February 2013. The financial 
statements are the responsibility of the directors. The 
auditors are responsible for reporting on these financial 
statements.

Nature of Business

The Group provides logistics, transport, aviation charter, 
and related IT solutions to a broad range of customers 
within Sub-Saharan Africa. The provision of these 
services is enabled by a highly skilled workforce, a large 
infrastructure of operating branches, and significant 
logistics management and IT expertise.

Review of Operations 

The directors continue to position the company to ensure 
long-term sustainability. This is aligned with operational, 
environmental and social consequences that impact all 
stakeholders.

The strategy of the business remains unchanged in 
focusing on business segments that offer growth and 
earnings potential.

The concentration in the industrial, agricultural and  
aviation segments sets out to achieve these strategic 
objectives.  The supply chain services segment 
is essential in developing skills and implementing 
methodologies which cater for the logistics requirements 
in an economy that is seeking supply chain efficiencies to 
remain competitive.  

The industrial segment achieved significant growth in 
revenue through the acquisition of Buks Haulage Limited, 
new contracts awarded and the growth in volumes in 
certain areas. Operating profits improved in line with the 
revenue growth.

The aviation sector revenue and profits have declined 
in line with the downsizing of the operations. This is in 
reaction to the decline in the demand for charter services.

The agricultural sector was negatively affected by debtor 
provisions and reduced contribution from an associate 

company. Operational constraints and weather patterns 
continue to affect the recovery of this sector. 

The company employs 622 people (2012: 619) and the 
group employs 1027 (2012:810).

Dividends 

A final dividend (no. 44) of 20.0 (2012: 8.0) cents per share 
for the year ending 28 February 2013 has been declared 
to shareholders and will be recorded in the books of the 
company at the close of business on Friday, 14 June 2013.  
The last date to trade cum dividend will be Friday,  
7 June 2013 and the shares will trade ex-dividend from the 
commencement of business on Monday, 10 June 2013.  
The dividend will be paid on Tuesday, 18 June 2013. Share 
certificates may not be dematerialised / rematerialised 
between Monday, 10 June 2013 and Friday, 14 June 2013, 
both days inclusive.

The directors confirm that the company will satisfy the 
solvency and liquidity test immediately after completing 
the distribution. 

Share Capital

The authorised and issued share capital of the Company 
remained unchanged compared to 2012. At the year end, 
the shares of the company were held by the following 
categories of shareholders: 

 2013  2012 

 Non-public 

•	Holding Company  64.3  64.3 

•	Share Incentive Trust  3.0  3.0 

•	Directors  0.7  0.7 

 68.0  68.0 

Public - 740 shareholders (2012: 
763) 

 32.0  32.0 

 100.0  100.0

The following shareholders were the registered holders 
of 5 percent or more of the issued share capital of the 
company, at year end:

Directors’ Report 

 Number of shares 

 2013  %  2012  % 

 Cargo Carriers Holdings (Pty) Ltd  12 865 837 64.3%  12 865 837 64.3%

 BB Invest Co (Pty) Ltd  2 861 032 14.3%  2 861 032 14.3%

 Mr Allan Hurwitz  1 217 600 6.1%  1 165 000 5.8%
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Holding Company

Cargo Carriers Holdings Proprietary Limited is the 
company’s ultimate holding company. 

Directors’ Interests in Shares

At the year-end 2013 and 2012, the directors had the 
following direct and indirect interests in the issued share 
capital of the company:

 Directly  Indirectly 

 Beneficial  148 929  9 649 377 

 GD Bolton  87 388  3 216 459 

 MJ Bolton  50 372  3 216 459 

 BB Fraser  -  3 216 459 

 SG Chilvers  11 169  - 

 Non-beneficial  -  14 053 256 

 SG Chilvers   -  13 459 546 

 BB Fraser  -  593 710

The company has not been informed of any changes in 
these holdings at the date of this report.

Share Incentive Trust

The Share Incentive Trust held 593 710 (2012: 593 710) 
unallocated shares at year end. At 28 February 2013 the 
trust had not entered into any agreements to sell shares 
to participants in terms of the Trust Deed and at year 
end there were no outstanding or issued share options. 
In terms of the rules of the scheme, not more than 1 
million shares may be issued to participants. To conform 
to the requirements issued by the Johannesburg Stock 
Exchange (‘JSE’), the Group consolidates the trust.

Net Borrowings

The net borrowings of the Group and Company are 
detailed in note 17 and 18 to the financial statements. 
The holding company has set the borrowing capacity 
of the company at 50% of equity plus non-controlling 
interest. The Group is currently operating at 93.1% of the 
borrowing capacity set.

Special Resolutions 

No special resolutions were passed during the period.

Directorate and Management 

The current directors and management of the company 
are set out on page 12-13, with their relevant qualifications 

and work experience listed below. In terms of the 
Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation, Mrs BB Fraser 
and Mrs MJ Vuso retire from office at the forthcoming 
annual general meeting but they are eligible and offer 
themselves for re-election. Neither director has a service 
contract with the company.

Executive Directors

Mr GD Bolton’s natural flair for business dynamics has 
seen him steadily rise through the ranks at Cargo Carriers. 
His ability and hands-on experience have earned him 
promotions from Contracts Controller to Branch Manager, 
and finally, from Divisional Manager to Joint CEO of 
Cargo Carriers. He also served as Chairman of the Road 
Freight Association for two years, and brings a wealth of 
experience at all levels of the industry to Cargo Carriers.

Mr MJ Bolton is a Chartered Accountant who graduated 
from the University of Witwatersrand. He joined Cargo 
Carriers in 1985 as Financial Administration Manager 
and within two years, was appointed Financial Director. 
He later completed a Sloan Fellowship at the London 
Business School and was appointed Joint CEO in 1992.

Mr S Maharaj is a Chartered Accountant who graduated 
from the University of Natal. He completed his accounting 
articles at Deloitte’s and has gained experience in various 
other financial positions prior to joining Cargo Carriers 
in 2006 as Group Financial Manager.  He was appointed 
to the board as Financial Director in 2009 and has since 
obtained a Higher Diploma in Taxation from the Thomas 
Jefferson School of Law.

Non-Executive Directors

Mr SG Chilvers is a Chartered Accountant and has 
been associated with the Group as an auditor and as a 
consultant since 1965. He was appointed to the board 
as a non-executive director in 1985 and was appointed 
deputy CEO in 1986. He has been a non-executive director 
since 1988 and became non-executive chairman in 2001. 
He has been a director of several companies over the last 
fifty years, both listed and unlisted.

Mr AE Franklin graduated with a BA LLB degree from the 
University of Natal and obtained a MA degree from Oxford 
University. He was admitted to the Johannesburg Bar as 
Advocate in August 1985 and took Silk on 17 November 
2000.  Areas of practice include commercial and pension 
fund litigation. He has periodically acted as a Judge in the 
South Gauteng High Court.

Mrs BB Fraser graduated with a BA degree from the 
University of Cape Town and gained significant experience 
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in the travel and tourism industry. She is currently directly 
involved in the ownership and management of retail 
franchise stores as well as a franchise motor vehicle 
retailing business.

Mrs SP Mzimela is an economics and statistics graduate 
and her career developed through Standard Bank, Total, 
and South African Express. She is the former President 
and Chief Executive Officer of South African Airways and 
currently shareholder and director of Blue Crane Aviation 
services.

Mrs MJ Vuso is a Chartered Accountant who graduated 
from the University of Cape Town. She is the founder 
and Managing Director of Nyamezela Group Companies, 
which offer multidisciplinary services ranging from 
engineering to business advisory and metering to 
energy optimisation solutions. Matsotso has extensive 
experience in assurance, project finance and financial 
restructuring gained from her association with companies 
like the Industrial Development Corporation, Transnet 
Group Audit Services, KPMG and Coopers & Lybrand 
(now PwC). Motsotso also serves on the board and audit 
committees of, amongst others, Royal Bafokeng Platinum 
Ltd and Protech Khuthele Ltd.

Company Secretary

Arcay Client Support Proprietary Limited is the company 
secretary and is independent of the Group. The business 
and postal addresses of the secretary are set out on 
page 23.

Events Subsequent to the Statement of 
Financial Position Date

Subsequent to year end, the sale of the Alrode property 
to South African Breweries Proprietary Limited was 
concluded as all suspensive conditions were met (refer 
note 27). This property has been classified as an asset 
held for sale at year end (refer note 7.3).

Subsidiary Companies

Details of joint ventures and subsidiary companies are 

given in notes 10 and 11 to the financial statements.

Retirement Benefits

At year end the Group has two defined contribution 

provident funds which are governed by the Pension 

Funds Act of 1956. All eligible employees of the Group 

are members of these funds, other than those who are 

required by legislation to be members of another fund. 

One of these funds has been closed and the members 

transferred to other industry funds. Once the transfer 

of the members has been finalised, the fund will be 

terminated.

At year end full provision had been made for all retirement 

benefits in the Group. The Group has no liability for any 

other post-retirement benefits.

Medical Benefits

The Group contributes to the medical aid membership 

cost of current employees, but these benefits cease on 

retirement.
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Statement of Comprehensive Income
for the year ended 28 February 2013

 GROUP  COMPANY 

 2013 2012 2013 2012

 Note   R 000  R 000  R 000  R 000 

 Revenue 

 -  transport services   708 836  580 532  491 345  449 987 

 -  information technology and consulting services  3 058  3 136  2 424  3 136 

 -  aviation services   9 427  10 227  184  254 

 -  other income   1  5 384  5 469  6 897  7 043 

    726 705  599 364  500 850  460 420 

 Costs and expenses 

 -  operating and administration costs   441 456  360 707  303 092  286 797 

 -  employment costs  1  194 943  165 203  148 864  134 219 

 -  depreciation of property, plant and equipment  7.1  47 768  34 235  27 613  25 995 

 684 167  560 145  479 569  447 011 

 Profit from operating activities   1  42 538  39 219  21 281  13 409 

 Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment  1 261  1 240  1 307  1 385 

 Impairment of assets  3  (3 078)  (3 373)  (4 620)  (55)

 Revaluation of investment properties  7.2  9 234  4 060  724  1 606 

 Dividend income  915  -    9 081  -   

 Profits from associates and joint ventures  9 &10  2 491  4 758  -    -   

 Profit before finance income and finance cost  53 361  45 904  27 773  16 345 

 Finance income  4 547  4 224  4 464  4 141 

 Finance cost  2  (18 139)  (17 336)  (14 322)  (13 635)

 Profit before taxation  39 769  32 792  17 915  6 851 

 Taxation  5  (13 666)  (19 870)  (4 018)  (1 336)

 Profit for the year   26 103  12 922  13 897  5 515 

 Other comprehensive income: 

 Revaluation of owner occupied properties  7.1  7 415  2 975  6 591  2 983 

 Income tax effect   16  (2 076)  (833)  (1 845)  (836)

 Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations  1 244  637  -    -   

 Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax  6 583  2 779  4 746  2 147 

 Total comprehensive income for the year, net of tax  32 686  15 701  18 643  7 662 

 Profit for the year attributable to: 

 Equity holders of the company  26 438  12 600 

 Non-controlling interest  (335)  322 

 26 103  12 922 

 Total comprehensive income attributable to: 

 Equity holders of the company  33 021  15 379 

 Non-controlling interest  (335)  322 

  32 686   15 701 
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 GROUP  COMPANY 

2013 2012 2013 2012

 Note  R000  R000  R000  R000 

 ASSETS 

•	 Non-current	assets	   578 003  520 125  434 376  418 787 

Property, plant and equipment 7.1  505 718  422 765  334 357  339 677 

Investment properties 7.2  25 161  48 427  16 903  16 179 

Loans to related parties  8  -    -    2 518  1 213 

Investment in associates 9  19 869  18 704  -    -   

Investment in joint ventures 10  4 726  2 394  1  1 

Investments in subsidiaries 11  -    -    25 175  7 132 

Amounts owing by subsidiary companies 11  -    -    38 617  42 446 

Goodwill 3  -    2 685  -    -   

Deferred taxation 16  22 529  25 150  16 805  12 139 

	•				Current	assets	  234 029  174 590  152 092  162 268 

 Inventories 12  12 547  7 240  4 999  3 887 

 Trade and other receivables  13  133 951  106 523  96 132  108 290 

 Cash and short-term deposits 14  84 780  58 152  50 952  49 096 

 Taxation 25.2  2 751  2 675  9  995 

     Non-current assets held for sale 7.3  50 938  4 385  2 328  1 247 

 Total Assets  862 970  699 100  588 796  582 302 

 EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 

Share capital 15  194  194  200  200 

Non-distributable reserves  66 295  52 580  27 268  21 934 

Distributable reserves   306 777  290 780  179 661  169 952 

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent  373 266  343 554  207 129  192 086 

Non-controlling interest  16 493  1 749  -    -   

 Total Equity  389 759  345 303  207 129  192 086 

	•		 Non-current	liabilities	  286 803  224 665  275 735  289 690 

 Deferred taxation  16  109 607  84 702  72 126  61 703 

 Contingent consideration 25.5  5 359  -    5 359  -   

 Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 17  171 837  139 963  85 162  115 129 

 Amounts owing to subsidiary companies 11  -    -    113 088  112 858 

	•	 Current	liabilities		  186 408  129 132  105 932  100 526 

 Trade and other payables 19  81 969  56 487  54 833  45 978 

 Provisions 20  10 079  9 202  4 990  4 670 

 Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 17  94 360  63 443  46 109  49 878 

 Total Equity and Liabilities  862 970  699 100  588 796  582 302

Statement of Financial Position
at 28 February 2013
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Statement of Changes in Equity 
for the year ended 28 February 2013

R000

GROUP Share Capital

Asset 
revaluation 
reserve *

Distributable 
Reserve

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve*

Non- 
Controlling 

interest 
Other 

reserves * Total

Balance at at 1 March 2011  194  48 187  284 514  (2 053)  1 427  50  332 319 

 Total comprehensive income  -  2 142  12 600  637  322  -  15 701 

- Profit for the year  -  -  12 600  -  322  -  12 922 

- Other comprehensive income  -  2 142  -  637  -  -  2 779 

Reclassification between reserves  -  (6 053)  (315)  6 368  -  -  - 
Post tax transfer of revaluation of investment 
properties  -  3 302  (3 302)  -  -  -  - 

Dividends paid (note 6)  -  -  (2 717)  -  -  -  (2 717)

Balance at 29 February 2012  194  47 578  290 780  4 952  1 749  50  345 303 

 Total comprehensive income  -  5 339  26 438  1 244  (335)  -  32 686 

- Profit for the year  -  -  26 438  -  (335)  -  26 103 

- Other comprehensive income  -  5 339  -  1 244  -  -  6 583 

Transfer between reserves on disposal of assets  -  (380)  565  (185)  -  - 
Non-controlling interest arising on a business 

combination (note 25.5)  -  -  -  -  15 264  -  15 264 
Post tax transfer of revaluation of investment 

properties  -  7 512  (7 512)  -  -  -  - 

Dividends paid (note 6)  -  -  (3 494)  -  -  -  (3 494)

Balance at  28 February 2013  194  60 049  306 777  6 196  16 493  50  389 759 

R000

COMPANY Share Capital

Asset 
revaluation 
reserve *

Distributable 
Reserve

Foreign 
currency 

translation 
reserve*

Non- 
Controlling 

interest 
Other 

reserves * Total

Balance at 1 March 2011  200  18 430  168 544  -    -    50  187 224 

 Total comprehensive income  -    2 147  5 515  -    -    -    7 662 

- Profit for the year  -    -    5 515  -    -    -    5 515 

- Other comprehensive income  -    2 147  -    -    -    -    2 147 
Post tax transfer of revaluation of investment 

properties  -    1 307  (1 307)  -    -    -    -   

Dividends paid (note 6)  -    -    (2 800)  -    -    -    (2 800)

Balance at 29 February 2012  200  21 884  169 952  -    -    50  192 086 

 Total comprehensive income  -    4 746  13 897  -    -    -    18 643 

- Profit for the year  -    -    13 897  -    -    -    13 897 

- Other comprehensive income  -    4 746  -    -    -    -    4 746 
Post tax transfer of revaluation of investment 

properties  -    588  (588)  -    -    -    -   

Dividends paid (note 6)  -    -    (3 600)  -    -    -    (3 600)

Balance at 28 February 2013  200  27 218  179 661  -    -    50  207 129 

 * represents non-distributable reserves 
       

Nature and purpose of reserves presented on the statements of changes in equity: 
Asset revaluation reserve 
This reserve is used to record increases in the revaluation of land and buildings and decreases to the extent that such decrease relates to an 

increase on the same asset previously recognised in other comprehensive income. Revaluations relating to investment properties are further 

transferred to this reserve from distributable reserves. This reserve is not available for distribution as dividends.

Foreign currency translation reserve 
The foreign currency translation reserve is used to record exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign 

subsidiaries. 

Other reserves
Other reserves comprise the capital redemption reserve fund, which was created when preference shares in the group were redeemed.
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Statement of Cash Flows
for the year ended 28 February 2013

GROUP COMPANY 

2013 2012 2013 2012

 Note  R000  R000  R000  R000 

 Cash receipts from customers   702 993  578 066  501 970  453 446 

 Cash paid to suppliers and employees  (653 330)  (522 330)  (437 530)  (420 824)

 Cash generated from operations   25.1  49 663  55 736  64 440  32 622 

 Finance income  4 547  4 224  4 464  4 141 

 Finance cost  2  (18 139)  (17 336)  (14 322)  (13 635)

 Tax (paid)/received  25.2  (882)  (920)  880  1 374 

 Dividend paid  25.3  (3 494)  (2 717)  (3 600)  (2 800)

 Dividend income  915  -    9 081  -   

 Cash inflow from operating activities  32 610  38 987  60 943  21 702 

 Cash outflow from investing activities  (68 713)  (70 272)  (25 518)  (60 313)

 (Increase)/decrease in loans to associates and joint ventures  (1 400)  270  (1 305)  353 

 Acquisition of subsidiary, net of cash acquired  25.5  (10 172)  -    (12 566)  -   

 Increase in amounts owing by subsidiary companies  -    -    3 829  2 860 

 Investment maintaining operations: 

 Purchase of property, plant and equipment  25.4  (80 618)  (77 853)  (19 923)  (69 751)

 Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment  23 477  7 311  4 447  6 225 

 Cash inflow/(outflow) from financing activities  62 791  23 706  (33 506)  31 870 

 Interest bearing loans and borrowings repaid including interest  (74 645)  (52 340)  (56 611)  (41 874)

 Interest bearing loans and borrowings raised  137 436  76 046  22 875  72 466 

 Increase in amounts owing to subsidiary companies  -    -    230  1 278 

 Increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  26 688  (7 579)  1 919  (6 741)

 Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  58 152  65 870  49 096  56 057 

 Net foreign exchange differences  (60)  (139)  (63)  (220)

 Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year  84 780  58 152  50 952  49 096
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Accounting Policies

1. Corporate information

The consolidated financial statements of Cargo Carriers 
Limited and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) for the year 
ended 28 February 2013 were authorised for issue in 
accordance with a resolution of the directors on 10 May 
2013. Cargo Carriers Limited is a widely held company 
incorporated and domiciled in the Republic of South Africa 
whose shares are traded publicly on the JSE Limited. 

The principal activities of the Group are described on  
page 34.

2. Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements are prepared 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and the South African 
Companies Act No 71 of 2008. The consolidated financial 
statements are prepared in accordance with the going 
concern principle under the historical cost basis, except 
as otherwise noted below, and are presented in the 
functional currency, the South African Rand, and all values 
are rounded to the nearest thousand (R000) except where 
otherwise indicated.

3. Changes in accounting policies 

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those 
of the previous year, except that the Group has adopted 
the following standards and interpretations mandatory for 
financial years beginning on or after 1 March 2012. 

•	 IAS 12 Deferred Tax: Recovery of underlying assets - 
amendment effective 1 January 2012

•	 IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures – Transfers 
of financial assets – amendment effective 1 July 2011

IAS 12 - The amendment clarified the determination 
of deferred tax on investment property measured at 
fair value. The amendment introduces a rebuttable 
presumption that deferred tax on investment property 
measured using the fair value model in IAS 40 should 
be determined on the basis that its carrying amount will 
be recovered through sale. Furthermore, it introduces 
the requirement that deferred tax on non-depreciable 
assets that are measured using the revaluation model in 
IAS 16 always be measured on a sale basis of the asset. 
The amendment becomes effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2012 and has no effect 
on the Group’s financial position, performance or its 
disclosures.

IFRS 7 - The amendment requires additional disclosure 
about financial assets that have been transferred but 
not derecognised to enable the user of the Group’s 
financial statements to understand the relationship with 
those assets that have not been derecognised and their 
associated liabilities. In addition, the amendment requires 
disclosures about continuing involvement in derecognised 
assets to enable the user to evaluate the nature of, and 
risks associated with, the entity’s continuing involvement 
in those derecognised assets. The amendment becomes 
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 
2011. The amendment affects disclosure only and has no 
impact on the Group’s financial position or performance. 
No financial assets were transferred.

4. Significant accounting judgements and estimates

In preparing the financial statements, management 
is required to make estimates and assumptions that 
affect reported income, expenses, assets, liabilities and 
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. Use of 
available information and the application of judgement are 
inherent in the formation of estimates. Actual results in 
the future could differ from these estimates which may be 
material to the financial statements. 

Significant judgements made relate to the estimate of 
useful life and residual values of tangible assets (refer 
to accounting policy note 9.2 and financial statements 
note 7), allowance for doubtful debts (refer to accounting 
policy note 18.4 and financial statements note 13) and 
impairment of the assets (refer to accounting policy note 
20 and financial statements note 7), determining fair value 
of investment property, revaluation of land and buildings, 
determining the amount of deferred tax asset that can be 
recognised in respect of unused tax losses, assumptions 
utilised in purchase price allocation pertaining to business 
combinations and the tax position in computing normal 
tax liability.

5. Basis of consolidation

Subsidiaries are defined as those companies in which the 
Group, either directly or indirectly, has more than one half 
of the voting rights, has the right to appoint more than 
half the board of directors or otherwise has the power to 
control the financial and operating activities of the entity.

The consolidated financial statements include the financial 
statements of the company and all its subsidiaries. The 
accounting policies for the subsidiaries are consistent 
with the policies adopted by the Group, and the financial 
statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same 
reporting period as the parent company.
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Accounting Policies

Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date of 
acquisition, being the date on which the Group obtains 
control, and continue to be consolidated until the date 
that such control ceases.

All intra-Group balances, transactions, unrealised gains 
and losses resulting from intra-Group transactions are 
eliminated in full.

Non-controlling interests represent the portion of profit 
or loss and net assets not held by the Group and are 
presented separately in the statement of comprehensive 
income and within equity in the consolidated statement 
of financial position, separately from parent shareholders’ 
equity. Total comprehensive income in a subsidiary is 
attributed to the non-controlling interest even if it results 
in a deficit balance.

The company carries its investments in subsidiaries at 
cost, less accumulated impairment losses in the company 
accounts. A change in the ownership interest of a 
subsidiary, without a loss in control, is accounted for as an 
equity transaction.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost being the excess of 
the aggregated consideration transferred and the amount 
recognised for non-controlling interest over the net 
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If this 
consideration is lower than the fair value of the net assets 
of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised in 
profit or loss.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less 
any accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose 
of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a business 
combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated 
to each of the Group’s cash-generating units that are 
expected to benefit from the combination, irrespective 
of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are 
assigned to those units.

Where goodwill forms part of the cash-generating unit 
and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, 
the goodwill associated with the operations disposed of 
is included in the carrying amount of the operation when 
determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. 
Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is measured 
based on the relative values of the operation disposed of 
and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.

6. Investment in associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group has 
significant influence and which is neither a subsidiary nor 
a joint venture.

Investments in associates are equity accounted in the 
consolidated financial statements for the period in which 
the Group exercises significant influence. Significant 

influence is typically assumed in instances where the 
Group has an equity stake sufficiently material to enable 
it to exercise a significant influence over the financial and 
operating policies of the investee company concerned.

Equity accounted income represents the Group’s 
proportionate share of profits of these companies and 
the share of taxation thereon, net of the Group’s share of 
material unrealised inter-Group profits and non-controlling 
interests. Losses incurred by associates (including 
impairment losses where necessary) are brought to 
account in the consolidated financial statements until 
the investment, including any long-term interest that, in 
substance, form part of the investors net investment in 
the associate, in such associates is written down to a 
nominal value.

The Group’s interest in an associate is carried in the 
statement of financial position at cost plus an amount 
that reflects its share of the net post acquisition reserves. 
Goodwill relating to the associate is included in the 
carrying amount of the investment and is not amortised or 
separately tested for impairment. Where there has been a 
change recognised directly in equity of the associate, the 
Group recognises its share of any changes and discloses 
this, when applicable, in the statements of changes 
in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from 
transactions between the Group and the associates are 
eliminated to the extent of the interest in the associate.

After application of the equity method the Group 
determines whether it is necessary to recognise 
any impairment loss with respect to the Group’s net 
investment in the associate. The Group determines 
at each reporting date whether there is any objective 
evidence that the investment in the associate is impaired. 
If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of the 
impairment as the difference between the recoverable 
amount of the associate and its carrying value and 
recognises the amount in profit or loss.

The reporting dates of the associates, with the exception 
of Murton Cane Contractors (Pty) Ltd (March year-end) 
and TAB Charters (Pty) Ltd (June year-end), are identical 
and the associates accounting policies conform to those 
used by the Group for like transactions and events in 
similar circumstances. Adjustments are made to the 
reporting period to bring it in line with the Group if 
considered necessary.

The investment in associates is carried at cost less any 
impairment in the company accounts.

7. Investment in joint ventures

The Group has interests in two jointly controlled entities, 
whereby the venturers have a contractual arrangement 
that establishes joint control over the economic activities 
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of the entity. The agreement requires unanimous 
agreement for financial and operating decisions among 
the venturers. The Group recognises its interest in the 
joint venture using the equity method. 

Under the equity method, the investment in the joint 
venture is carried on the statement of financial position at 
cost plus post acquisition changes in the Group’s share 
of net assets of the joint venture. Goodwill relating to the 
joint venture is included in the carrying amount of the 
investment and is neither amortised nor individually tested 
for impairment.

The Group’s share of the results of operations of the joint 
venture is reflected in profit or loss. When there has been 
a change recognised directly in the equity of the joint 
venture, the Group recognises its share of any changes 
and discloses this, when applicable, in the statement of 
changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting 
from transactions between the Group and the Joint 
venture are eliminated to the extent of the interest in the 
joint venture.

The Group’s share of profits or losses in a joint venture 
is shown in profit or loss. This is the profit attributable to 
equity holders of the joint venture and, therefore, is profit 
after tax and non-controlling interests in the subsidiaries 
of the joint venture. The financial statements of the joint 
venture are prepared for the same reporting period as the 
Group. When necessary, adjustments are made to bring 
the accounting policies in line with those of the Group.

Upon loss of joint control, the Group measures and 
recognises its remaining investment at its fair value. Any 
difference between the carrying amount of the former 
joint controlled entity upon loss of joint control and the 
fair value of the remaining investment and proceeds 
from disposal are recognised in profit or loss. When the 
remaining investment constitutes significant influence, it 
is accounted for as investment in an associate.

8. Taxation

8.1 Current tax

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior 
periods are measured at the amount expected to be 
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The 
tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are 
those that are enacted or substantively enacted by the 
statement of financial position date. Current tax relating 
to items recognised directly in equity is recognised in 
equity and not in profit or loss. Management periodically 
evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with respect 
to situations in which applicable tax regulations are 
subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where 
appropriate.

8.2 Deferred tax

Deferred income tax is provided using the liability method 
on temporary differences at the statement of financial 
position date between the tax bases of assets and 
liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting 
purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable 
temporary differences except:

•	 where the deferred tax liability arises from the initial 
recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a 
transaction that is not a business combination and, 
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the 
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss, and

•	 in respect of taxable temporary differences associated 
with investments in subsidiaries, associates and 
interests in joint ventures, where the timing of the 
reversal of the temporary differences can be controlled 
and it is probable that the temporary differences will 
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible 
temporary differences, carry-forward of unused tax credits 
and unused tax losses, to the extent that it is probable 
that taxable profit will be available against which the 
deductible temporary differences, and the carry-forward of 
unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised 
except:

•	 where the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible 
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition 
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not 
a business combination and, at the time of the 
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor 
taxable profit or loss, and 

•	 in respect of deductible temporary differences 
associated with investments in subsidiaries, 
associates and interests in joint ventures, deferred 
tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is 
probable that the temporary differences will reverse 
in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be 
available against which the temporary differences can 
be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed 
at each statement of financial position date and reduced 
to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient 
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the 
deferred income tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised 
deferred income tax assets are reassessed at each 
statement of financial position date and are recognised to 
the extent that it has become probable that future taxable 
profit will allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured 
at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the year 
when the asset is realised or the liability is settled, 
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based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted 
or substantively enacted at the statement of financial 
position date.

Deferred tax items are recognised in correlation to the 
underlying transaction either in profit or loss, directly in 
other comprehensive income or directly in equity. 

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset, 
if a legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax 
assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes 
relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation 
authority.

The Group does not intend to settle current tax liabilities 
and assets on a net basis, nor to realise tax liabilities 
and assets simultaneously, as this is not how the Group 
manages its tax affairs. With each entity in the Group 
regarded as not having the right to set off current tax 
liabilities and assets and requirements of IAS 12.74(a) are 
not met for each entity and accordingly IAS 12.74(b)(i) 
requires the deferred tax amounts in each entity not to be 
set off.

Tax benefits acquired as part of a business combination, 
but not satisfying the criteria for separate recognition 
at that date, would be recognised subsequently if new 
information about facts and circumstances changed. 
The adjustment would either be treated as a reduction 
to goodwill (as long as it does not exceed goodwill) if it 
incurred during the measurement period or in profit or 
loss.

8.3 Value added tax

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the 
amount of value added tax except:

•	 where the value added tax incurred on a purchase 
of assets or services is not recoverable from the 
taxation authority, in which case the value added tax 
is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the 
asset or as part of the expense item as applicable; and

•	 receivables and payables that are stated with the 
amount of value added tax included.

The net amount of value added tax recoverable from, 
or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part 
of receivables or payables in the statement of financial 
position.

8.4 Secondary tax on companies (STC ) and dividend 
withholding tax (DWT)

Secondary Tax on Companies (STC) is provided for on net 
dividends declared i.e. after offsetting dividends received 
against dividends payable. STC is recognised as a taxation 
charge in the year in which the dividend is declared.

The dividend withholding tax that replaced STC on  
1 April 2012 is a tax on distributions to shareholders levied 
at 15%. It is a tax payable by the shareholders and not 
the company and no amount is therefore required to be 
provided.

9. Non-financial assets

9.1 Investment properties

Investment properties are initially recorded at cost, 
including transaction costs, and are subsequently stated 
at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the 
reporting date. Gains or losses arising from changes in 
the fair values of investment properties are included in 
profit or loss in the period in which they arise. The after 
tax gains are transferred from distributable to non-
distributable reserves unless they offset prior year losses.

Investment properties are derecognised when either they 
have been disposed of or when the investment property is 
permanently withdrawn from use and no further economic 
benefit is expected from its use. Any gains or losses on 
the retirement or disposal of an investment property are 
recognised in profit or loss in the period incurred. 

Transfers are made to investment property when, and 
only when, there is a change in use, evidenced by the 
end of the owner occupation, commencement of a long-
term operating lease to another party or completion of 
construction or development. 

For a transfer from investment property to owner 
occupied, the deemed cost of property for subsequent 
accounting is its fair value at the date of change in use. 
If the property occupied by the Group as an owner 
occupied property becomes an investment property, any 
difference between the fair value of the property at the 
date of reclassification and its previous carrying amount is 
accounted for in accordance with the policy stated under 
property, plant and equipment. 

The fair values of investment properties are determined 
by an independent valuer, on an open market basis. No 
assets held under operating lease have been classified as 
investment property.

9.2 Property, plant and equipment

Land and buildings are measured at fair value less 
accumulated depreciation on buildings and impairment 
charged subsequent to the date of the revaluation. 

Any revaluation surplus is credited to the asset revaluation 
reserve included in other comprehensive income within 
the statement of changes in equity, except to the extent 
that it reverses a revaluation decrease of the same asset 
previously recognised in profit or loss, in which case 
the increase is recognised in profit or loss. A revaluation 
deficit is recognised in profit or loss, except that a deficit 
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directly offsetting a previous surplus on the same asset is 
directly offset against the surplus in the asset revaluation 
reserve. Valuations are performed frequently enough to 
ensure that the fair value of a revalued asset does not 
differ materially from its carrying amount. 

Plant and equipment is stated at cost, excluding the costs 
of day to day servicing, less accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment in value. Such cost includes the 
cost of replacing part of the property, plant and equipment 
and borrowing costs for long-term construction projects 
if the recognition criteria are met. Likewise, when a 
major inspection is performed, its cost is recognised 
in the carrying amount of the plant and equipment as a 
replacement if the recognition criteria are satisfied. All 
other repair and maintenance costs are recognised in 
profit or loss as incurred. Refurbishment costs incurred on 
vehicles and trailers are expensed in full.

Buildings erected on leased land are considered to be 
owner-occupied and are depreciated over the term of the 
lease. Owner-occupied buildings are depreciated over 
their estimated useful lives to reduce the value to its 
residual value. Land is not depreciated.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a 
straight line basis at rates considered appropriate to 
depreciate the assets to their residual values, over their 
expected useful lives. Where significant components of 
an item have different useful lives to the item itself, these 
parts are depreciated separately if the component’s cost 
is significant in relation to the cost of the remainder of  
the asset.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the 
estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Buildings – (owner-occupied) 1.5% – 10% p.a.
Leasehold land and buildings 2% p.a.
Leasehold improvements 10% p.a.
Vehicles and leased vehicles 7% – 25% p.a.
Plant furniture and equipment 10% – 33% p.a.
Aircraft engine (hours) 6 000 hours

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are 
reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether 
there is any indication of impairment. If any such 
indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated 
as the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in 
use. An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss 
whenever the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable 
amount and the assets are written down to their 
recoverable amount. Subsequent valuations may result in 
the impairment being reversed through profit or loss.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised 
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are 
expected from its use or disposal. The difference between 
the net proceeds on disposal and the carrying amount of 

property, plant and equipment is included in profit or loss. 
Any balance in the revaluation reserve relating to disposed 
property is transferred to distributable reserves. 

The assets residual values, useful lives and methods of 
depreciation are reviewed and adjusted prospectively as a 
change in accounting estimate at each financial year-end 
if necessary.

10. Inventories

Inventory is valued at the lower of cost, determined on 
the weighted average basis, and net realisable value. 
Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the 
ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of 
completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

11. Foreign currency translation

The Group’s consolidated financial statements are 
presented in South African Rands, which is also the 
parent company’s functional currency. Each entity in 
the Group determines its own functional currency and 
items included in the financial statements of each entity 
are measured using that functional currency. The Group 
has elected to recycle the gain or loss that arises from 
consolidation, which is the method the Group uses to 
complete its consolidation, through profit and loss.

Transactions and balances

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded by 
the Group entities at their respective functional currency 
spot rates at the date the transaction first qualifies for 
recognition.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are retranslated at the functional currency spot 
rate of exchange at the reporting date.

All differences arising on settlement or translation of 
monetary items are taken to profit or loss. 

Tax charges and credits attributable to exchange 
differences on those monetary items are also recorded 
in other comprehensive income. Non-monetary items 
that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign 
currency are translated using the exchange rates as at 
the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items 
measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated 
using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value 
is determined. The gain or loss arising on translation of 
non-monetary items is treated in line with the recognition 
of gain or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., 
translation differences on items whose fair value gain 
or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income or 
profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive 
income or profit or loss, respectively).
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Group companies

On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of foreign 
operations are translated into South African Rands at 
the rate of exchange prevailing at the reporting date and 
their profits or losses are translated at exchange rates 
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. The exchange 
differences arising on translation for consolidation 
are recognised in other comprehensive income. On 
disposal of a foreign operation, the component of other 
comprehensive income relating to that particular foreign 
operation is recognised in profit or loss. 

12. Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, 
construction or production of an asset that necessarily 
takes a substantial period of time to get ready for its 
intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the cost 
of the respective assets. All other borrowing costs are 
expensed in the period they occur. Borrowing costs 
consist of interest and other costs that an entity incurs in 
connection with the borrowing of funds. 

13. Leases

The determination of whether an arrangement is, or 
contains, a lease is based on the substance of the 
arrangement at inception date, whether fulfilment of the 
arrangement is dependent on the use of specific asset 
or assets or the arrangement conveys a right to use the 
asset, even if that right is not explicitly specified in an 
arrangement.

Group as lessee

Where the Group assumes the significant risks and 
rewards of ownership of leased assets, these leases are 
classified as finance leases.

Items of property, plant and equipment held under 
finance leases are capitalised at amounts equal at the 
commencement of the lease to the fair value of the leased 
assets or if lower, at the present value of the minimum 
lease payments using the interest rate implicit in the 
lease, and a corresponding liability is raised. Such assets 
are depreciated and impaired in terms of the accounting 
policy on property, plant and equipment stated above, 
or if shorter, over the term of the lease if there is no 
reasonable certainty that the Group will obtain ownership 
by the end of the lease term.

Lease payments are apportioned between finance 
charges and reduction of lease liability so as to achieve a 
constant rate of interest on the remaining balance of the 
liability. Finance charges are recognised in profit or loss.

All other leases are treated as operating leases and the 
relevant rentals are charged to profit or loss on a straight 
line basis over the lease term.

Group as lessor

Leases where the Group does not transfer substantially 
all the risks and benefits of ownership of the asset are 
classified as operating leases. Initial direct costs incurred 
in negotiating an operating lease are added to the carrying 
amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease 
term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent 
rentals are recognised as revenue in the period in which 
they are earned.

14. Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable 
that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the 
revenue can be reliably measured, regardless of when 
payment is made. Revenue is measured at the fair value 
of the consideration received or receivable, excluding 
discounts, rebates, and other sales taxes or duty. The 
following specific recognition criteria must also be met 
before revenue is recognised:

Rendering of services

Revenue from the transportation of goods is recognised 
on delivery of the goods. Revenue from the rendering 
of Information Technology services is recognised by 
reference to the stage of completion. Stage of completion 
is measured by reference to labour hours incurred to 
date as a percentage of total estimated labour hours 
for each contract. Where the contract outcome cannot 
be measured reliably, revenue is recognised only to the 
extent of the expenses incurred that are recoverable. 
Revenue from the transportation of passengers via air is 
recognised on completion of scheduled flights.

Finance income

Revenue is recognised as interest accrues using the 
effective interest method (that is the rate that exactly 
discounts estimated future cash receipts through the 
expected life of the financial instrument to the net carrying 
amount of the financial asset).

Dividends

Revenue is recognised when the Group’s right to receive 
the payment is established.

Rental income

Rental income arising from operating leases on 
investment properties is accounted for on a straight line 
basis over the lease terms. Rental income is included in 
revenue due to its operating nature.

15. Retirement benefit contributions

All current defined contribution costs are accounted for in 
profit or loss in the year in which services are provided by 
the employees.
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16. Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a 
present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of 
a past event, it is probable that an outflow of resources 
embodying economic benefits will be required to settle 
the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the 
amount of the obligation. Where the Group expects some 
or all of a provision to be reimbursed, for example under 
an insurance contract, the reimbursement is recognised 
as a separate asset but only when the reimbursement is 
virtually certain. The expense relating to any provision is 
presented in profit or loss net of any reimbursement. If the 
effect of the time value of money is material, provisions 
are discounted using a current pre-tax rate that reflects, 
where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. Where 
discounting is used, the increase in the provision due to 
the passage of time is recognised as a finance cost.

17. Treasury shares

Own equity instruments which are reacquired (treasury 
shares) are deducted from equity. No gain or loss is 
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income 
on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s 
own equity instruments.

18. Financial instruments

18.1 Initial recognition

The Group classifies financial instruments, or their 
component parts, on initial recognition as financial assets, 
financial liabilities or equity instruments in accordance 
with the substance of the contractual arrangement. When 
a financial asset or financial liability is recognised initially, 
an entity shall measure it at its fair value plus, in the case 
of a financial asset or financial liability not at fair value 
through profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition or issue of the financial 
asset or financial liability.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets 
are recognised on the trade date, which is the date that 
the Group commits to purchase the asset. Regular way 
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial 
assets that require delivery of assets within the period 
generally established by regulation or convention in the 
marketplace.

Financial instruments recognised on the statement of 
financial position include loans receivable, cash and cash 
equivalents, trade and other receivables, trade and other 
payables, and interest bearing loans and borrowings. 
Disclosure of financial instruments to which the company 
is party, is provided in the notes to the annual financial 
statements.

18.2 Subsequent measurement

Financial assets are classified as either financial assets 
at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables, 
held-to-maturity investments, or available-for-sale financial 
assets, as appropriate. Financial liabilities are classified as 
either financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 
or financial liabilities at amortised cost. The classification 
depends on the purpose for which the instruments were 
acquired. Management determines the classification at 
initial recognition. Depending on classification, financial 
assets are subsequently measured as follows:

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets 
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted 
in an active market. Such assets are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
rate (EIR), less impairment. Amortised cost is calculated 
by taking into account any discount or premium on 
acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part 
of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included in finance 
income in profit or loss. The losses arising from 
impairment are recognised in profit or loss.

Held-to-maturity investments

Held-to-maturity financial assets are non-derivative 
financial assets with fixed or determinable payments and 
fixed maturities and are classified as held-to-maturity 
when the Group has the positive intention and ability to 
hold it to maturity. After initial measurement, held-to-
maturity investments are measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method, less impairment.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 
includes financial assets held for trading and financial 
assets designated upon initial recognition at fair value 
through profit or loss and derivatives. Financial assets are 
classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the 
purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term. These 
financial assets are subsequently measured at fair value 
with changes in fair value recognised in the statement of 
comprehensive income.

Available for sale investments

Financial assets are classified as available-for-sale 
if they do not fall into any of the preceding three 
categories. They are subsequently measured at fair 
value with unrealised gains or losses recognised in other 
comprehensive income in the available-for-sale reserve 
until the investment is derecognised, at which time the 
cumulative gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss, or 
determined to be impaired, at which time the cumulative 
loss is recognised in profit or loss and removed from the 
available-for-sale reserve.
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After initial recognition, financial liabilities are measured 
as follows:

•	 financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are 
measured at fair value; and

•	 other financial liabilities are measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest method.

18.3 Derecognition

Financial assets (or, where applicable, parts of financial 
assets or parts of a group of similar financial assets) are 
derecognised when:

•	 the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have 
expired; or

•	 the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash 
flows from the assets and, has either transferred 
substantially all the risks and rewards of the assets, 
or has neither transferred nor retained substantially all 
risks and rewards of the assets, but has transferred 
control of the assets.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash 
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through 
arrangement, and has neither transferred nor retained 
substantially all the risk and rewards of the asset nor 
transferred control of the asset, a new asset is recognised 
to the extent of the Group’s continuing involvement in the 
asset.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee 
over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the 
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum 
amount of consideration that the Group could be required 
to repay. 

When continuing involvement takes the form of a written 
and/or purchased option (including a cash settled option 
or similar provision) on the transferred asset, the extent of 
the Group’s continuing involvement is the amount of the 
transferred asset that the Group may repurchase, except 
that in the case of a written put option (including a cash 
settled option or similar provision) on an asset measured 
at fair value, the extent of the Group’s continuing 
involvement is limited to the lower of the fair value of the 
transferred asset and the option exercise price.

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation 
under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. 
When an existing financial liability is replaced by another 
from the same lender on substantially different terms, 
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially 
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as 
a derecognition of the original liability and the recognition 
of a new liability, and the difference in the respective 
carrying amounts is recognised in profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and 
the net amount reported in the consolidated statement 

of financial position if, and only if, there is a currently 
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts 
and  there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to 
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

18.4 Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at each statement of financial 
position date whether there is objective evidence that a 
financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. 
Objective evidence of impairment of loans and receivables 
exists if at least one of the following events has occurred 
(objective evidence of impairment):

•	 the borrower is experiencing significant financial 
difficulty

•	 the borrower’s actions, such as default on interest or 
principal payments, lead to a breach of contract

•	 the Group, for reasons relating to the borrower’s 
financial difficulty, grants to the borrower a concession 
that the Group would not otherwise have granted, or

•	 it becomes probable that the borrower will enter 
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.

If the Group determines that no objective evidence of 
impairment exists for an individually assessed financial 
asset, whether significant or not, it includes the asset in 
a group of financial assets with similar risk characteristics 
and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets 
that are individually assessed for impairment and 
for which an impairment loss is, or continues to be, 
recognised are not included in a collective assessment 
of impairment. If there is objective evidence that an 
impairment loss on loans and receivables or held-to-
maturity investments carried at amortised cost has been 
incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the 
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the 
present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding 
future credit losses that have not been incurred) 
discounted at the financial asset’s original effective 
interest rate. 

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the 
use of an allowance account. The amount of the loss is 
recognised in profit or loss. Interest income continues 
to be accrued on the reduced carrying amount and is 
accrued using the rate of interest used to discount the 
future cash flows for the purpose of measuring the 
impairment loss. The interest income is recorded as part 
of finance income in profit or loss.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment 
loss decreases and the decrease can be related 
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment 
was recognised, the previously recognised impairment 
loss is reversed. The reversal does not result in a carrying 
amount of the financial asset that exceeds what the 
amortised cost would have been had the impairment not 



Accounting Policies

49

been recognised at the date the impairment is reversed.  
The amount of the reversal is recognised in profit or loss.

If an available for sale asset is impaired, an amount 
comprising the difference between its cost (net of any 
principal payment and amortisation) and its current value, 
less any impairment loss previously recognised in profit or 
loss, is transferred from other comprehensive income to 
profit or loss. Reversals in respect of equity instruments 
classified as available for sale are not recognised in profit 
or loss; they are recognised in other comprehensive 
income. In the case of equity investments, objective 
evidence would include a significant or prolonged decline 
in the fair value of the investment below its cost. In the 
case of debt instruments, impairment is assessed on the 
same criteria as financial assets carried at amortised cost.

18.5  Investments (other than investments in 
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures)

Investments, other than investments in subsidiaries, 
associates and joint ventures, are classified as available 
for sale.

Unlisted investments are subsequently measured at fair 
value, unless this cannot be reliably established, in which 
case they are carried at cost, subject to an impairment 
review at each statement of financial position date.

18.6 Cash and short term deposits

Cash and short term deposits comprise cash on hand, 
deposits held at call with banks, other short term, highly 
liquid investments and bank overdrafts.

For cash flow purposes, cash and cash equivalents 
consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined above, 
net of outstanding bank overdrafts.

18.7 Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at 
fair value, generally being their issue proceeds net 
of transaction costs incurred, and are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost. Interest is recognised over 
the period of the borrowing, using the effective interest 
rate method.

18.8 Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are classified as loans and 
receivables. They are initially measured at fair value and 
are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the 
effective interest rate method.

18.9 Interest bearing loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and 
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest rate method. 

19. Segment recognition 

The Group provides transport and logistics solutions to a 
wide range of customers in Southern Africa.

The results have been segmented to reflect the different 
markets in which the customers operate, which are the 
industrial, agricultural, consumer, supply chain services, 
aviation and property sectors.

20. Impairments of non-financial assets

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether 
there is an indication that an asset may be impaired. If 
any such indication exists, or when annual impairment 
testing for an asset is required, the Group makes an 
estimate of the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s 
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or cash-
generating unit’s fair value less costs to sell and its value 
in use and is determined for an individual asset, unless 
the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely 
independent of those from other assets or groups of 
assets. 

Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its 
recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and 
is written down to its recoverable amount. In assessing 
value in use, the estimated future cash flows are 
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount 
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time 
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. In 
determining fair value less costs to sell, an appropriate 
valuation model is used.

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss except 
for property previously revalued where the revaluation 
was taken directly to equity. In this case, the impairment 
is also recognised in equity up to the amount of any 
previous revaluation.

For assets excluding goodwill, an assessment is made at 
each reporting date as to whether there is any indication 
that previously recognised impairment losses may no 
longer exist or may have decreased. If such indication 
exists, the Group makes an estimate of recoverable 
amount. A previously recognised impairment loss is 
reversed only if there has been a change in the estimates 
used to determine the asset’s recoverable amount since 
the last impairment loss was recognised. If that is the 
case, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to 
its recoverable amount. That increased amount cannot 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined, net of depreciation, had no impairment loss 
been recognised for the asset in prior years. Such reversal 
is recognised in profit or loss unless the asset is carried at 
revalued amount, in which case the reversal is treated as 
a revaluation increase.
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21. Prescribed officers

According to the Regulations to the Companies Act, a 
prescribed officer is anyone who:

•	 exercises general executive control over and 
management of the whole, or a significant portion, of 
the business and activities of the company; or

•	 regularly participates to a material degree in the 
exercise of general executive control over and 
management of the whole, or a significant portion, of 
the business and activities of the company.

The three executive directors of the Group are considered 
to be the prescribed officers. 

22. Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued 
operations

Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as held 
for sale are measured at the lower of carrying amount 
and fair value less costs to sell. Non-current assets 
and disposal groups are classified as held for sale if 
their carrying amounts will be recovered through a sale 
transaction rather than through continuing use. This 
condition is regarded as met only when the sale is highly 
probable and the asset or disposal group is available for 

immediate sale in its present condition. Management 

must be committed to the sale, which should be expected 

to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one 

year from the date of classification. 

In the consolidated statement of comprehensive 

income of the reporting period, and of the comparable 

period of the previous year, income and expenses from 

discontinued operations are reported separate from 

income and expenses from continuing activities, down 

to the level of profit after taxes, even when the Group 

retains a non-controlling interest in the subsidiary after the 

sale. The resulting profit or loss (after taxes) is reported 

separately in the statement of comprehensive income. 

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets 

once classified as held for sale are not depreciated or 

amortised.

23. IFRS’s and IFRIC interpretations issued not yet 

effective

The Group has not applied the following IFRS’s and IFRIC 

interpretations that have been issued but are not yet  

effective:

Standard number Standard name Effective date*

IAS 1
Financial Statement Presentation – Presentation of Items of Other 
Comprehensive Income (Amendment)

1 July 2012

IAS 19 Employee Benefits (Amendment) 1 January 2013

IAS 27 Separate Financial Statements (as revised in 2011) 1 January 2013

IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (as revised in 2011) 1 January 2013

IAS 32
Financial Instruments: Presentation (Amendment) – Offsetting of Financial 
Assets and Financial Liabilities

1 January 2014

IFRS 7
Disclosures – Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities 
(Amendment)

1 January 2013

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments Classification and Measurement 1 January 2015

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements 1 January 2013

IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements 1 January 2013

IFRS 12 Disclosure of Involvement with Other Entities 1 January 2013

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement 1 January 2013

Improvements to IFRS (issued in May 2012) 1 January 2013

* Effective for annual periods beginning on or after the date specified. Early adoption of these standards is permitted.

The Group does not intend early adoption of any of the above new / revised standards and/or interpretations. The effect 
of adoption is not certain at this stage, but is not expected to be material.
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 GROUP  COMPANY 

2013 2012 2013 2012

 R000  R000  R000  R000 

1. Profit from operating activities  

Profit is stated after crediting: 

Foreign exchange translation gain  4 710  1 316  3 051  1 013 

Other income   5 384  5 469  6 897  7 043 

- Rental income from investment property  5 042  4 594  3 028  2 746 

- Vehicle hire from subsidiary companies  -    -    3 527  3 422 

- Carrier income  342  875  342  875 

Profit is stated after charging: 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  47 768  34 235  27 613  25 995 

 Inventories written down  418  493  200  408 

Auditors’ remuneration  2 634  1 747  1 228  918 

- audit fees  2 120  1 747  908  918 

- prior year underprovision  461  -    267  -   

- other services  53  -    53  -   

Cost of sales  609 215  518 635  440 931  402 861 

Foreign exchange translation loss  5 497  400  429  398 

Operating expenses on investment property  185  190  105  92 

Gain on loan written off  -    -    (2 333)  -   

Operating lease expenses  8 355  4 828  4 449  3 403 

- buildings  6 928  4 557  4 159  3 218 

- equipment  1 427  271  290  185 

Employment costs  194 943  165 203  148 864  134 219 

- Salaries, wages and bonuses  177 153  150 158  132 608  120 048 

- Contributions to medical aid and retirement fund  17 790  15 045  16 256  14 171 

 2. Finance cost 

Secured loans  13 351  13 363  11 667  11 737 

Bank and short term borrowings  4 788  3 973  2 655  1 898 

 18 139  17 336  14 322  13 635 

 3. Impairment of assets 

Impairment of non-current assets held for sale (note 7)  -    (3 235)  -    -   

Impairment of investment and other assets  (393)  (138)  (4 620)  (55)

Impairment of goodwill  (2 685)  -    -    -   

 (3 078)  (3 373)  (4 620)  (55)

The Company impaired a long outstanding loan due from its subsidiary company, Ezethu Logistics (Pty) Ltd.  The Group’s 25% investment in 

associate company Murtons Cane Contractors (Pty) Ltd was fully impaired during the period.  See note 9. 

The goodwill raised on acquisition of the controlling interest in Ezethu Logistics (Pty) Ltd had been assessed for impairment, utilising the 

discounted cash flow method, on the date at which a 30% shareholding in this company was allocated to new shareholders.  The exercise 

indicated that the goodwill raised on acquisition was fully impaired. 
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 GROUP  COMPANY 

2013 2012 2013 2012

 R000  R000  R000  R000 

4. Directors’ emoluments and key management 

Non-executive directors: 

•	 SG Chilvers  -  fees  280  280  280  280 

•	 BB Fraser  -  fees  126  126  126  126 

•	 AE Franklin  -  fees  149  160  149  160 

•	 V Raseroka (resigned 17 October 2011)  -  fees  -    57  -    57 

•	 SP Mzimela   -  fees  149  149  149  149 

•	 MJ Vuso   -  fees  167  162  167  162 

 Executive directors: 

•	 GD Bolton  1 678  1 567  1 678  1 567 

- salary  1 250  1 158  1 250  1 158 

- bonus  104  97  104  97 

- post retirement, medical and other benefits  324  312  324  312 

•	 MJ Bolton  1 894  1 483  1 894  1 483 

- salary  1 451  1 120  1 451  1 120 

- bonus  121  94  121  94 

- post retirement, medical and other benefits  322  269  322  269 

•	 S Maharaj   1 494  1 142  1 494  1 142 

- salary  894  809  894  809 

- bonus  325  69  325  69 

- post retirement, medical and other benefits  275  264  275  264 

Total directors’ emoluments  5 937  5 126  5 937  5 126 

Other key management  5 259  5 561  5 114  5 561 

- salary  3 610  3 943  3 465  3 943 

- bonus  273  348  273  348 

- post retirement, medical and other benefits  1 376  1 270  1 376  1 270 
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 GROUP  COMPANY 

2013 2012 2013 2012

 R000  R000  R000  R000 

5. Taxation 

South African normal taxation: 

Current 

 - current year  -    -    -    -   

 - dividend withholding tax  14  -    -    -   

 - capital gains tax  -    -    -    -   

 - prior year  106  (42)  106  -   

 - secondary tax on companies  -    72  -    71 

Deferred 

 - attributable to income not yet taxable and expenses not yet deductible in the 

current year 
 10 037  1 605  3 729  435 

 - Capital gains tax rate adjustment  -    1 386  -    578 

 - prior year  (12)  254  183  252 

Foreign taxation: 

Current 

 - current year  2 844  1 427  -    -   

 - prior year  -    53  -    -   

Deferred 

 - attributable to income not yet taxable and expenses not yet deductible in the 

current year 
 682  (695)  -    -   

 - Impairment of deferred tax assets  -    15 852  -    -   

 - prior year  (5)  (42)  -    -   

Total charge against profit for the year  13 666  19 870  4 018  1 336 

Reconciliation of tax rate:  %  %  %  % 

Standard tax rate  28.0  28.0  28.0  28.0 

Non-taxable income  (24.6)  (27.0)  (21.5)  (21.6)

Prior year adjustments  0.3  0.7  1.6  3.7 

Foreign tax rate differential  1.2  3.7  -    -   

Associate profits equity accounted  (1.8)  (4.1)  -    -   

Disallowable expenses  13.2  5.9  7.4  3.5 

Impairment of assets  2.3  2.9  7.3  0.8 

Fair value adjustment to assets acquired in business combination   18.1  -    -    -   

Impairment of deferred tax assets  -    48.3  -    -   

Capital gains tax rate differential on fair value adjustments to investment 

property 
 (2.3)  (2.2)  (0.4)  (4.4)

Capital gains tax rate change  -    4.2  -    8.4 

Secondary tax on companies rate differential  -    0,2  -    1.0 

Effective tax rate  34.4  60.6  22.4  19.4 
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 GROUP  COMPANY 

2013 2012 2013 2012

 R000  R000  R000  R000 

 6. Dividends, Basic/Diluted earnings and Headline earnings per ordinary share 

Dividends: 

No. 42 of 8.0 cents declared 11 May 2012 and paid 18 June 2012  1 553  970  1 600  1 000 

No. 43 of 10.0 cents declared 26 October 2012 and paid 10 December 2012  1 941  1 747  2 000  1 800 

Total ordinary dividends  3 494  2 717  3 600  2 800 

Dividends per share (cents) 

 - interim declared during the year  10.0  9.0 

 - final declared after year end  20.0  8.0 

The basic/diluted earnings per ordinary share (cents) are based on the profit 

attributable to equity holders of the company for the year of R26.4 million 

(2012: profit of R12.6 million) divided by 19.4 million (2012: 19.4 million) 

ordinary shares in issue during the year. (cents) 

 136.3  64.9 

Adjustments: 

Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment  (4.7)  (4.6)

Impairment of assets  15.9  17.4 

Revaluation of investment properties  (38.7)  (17.0)

Headline earnings per share (cents)  108.8  60.7 

Basic/diluted earnings per share (cents)  136.3  64.9 

Reconciliation between profit for the year and headline earnings 

Profit attributable to equity holders of the company  26 438  12 600 

Adjustments: 

Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment  (1 261)  (1 240)

 - income tax effect  353  347 

Impairment of assets  3 078  3 373 

Revaluation of investment properties  (9 234)  (4 060)

 - income tax effect  1 722  757 

Headline earnings for the year  21 096  11 777 
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Land and
 buildings 

 Leasehold
 improvements
  and prefabricated
  buildings Vehicles 

Leased
 vehicles

 Plant, 
  furniture  
 and  
 equipment Total 

7. Non-Financial assets 

7.1 Property, plant and equipment (R000) 

GROUP                 2013 

Beginning of year  

 - cost/fair value  62 253  8 046  256 549  255 590  80 748  663 186 

 - accumulated depreciation  (3 820)  (7 967)  (153 317)  (30 684)  (44 633)  (240 421)

Net book value  58 433  79  103 232  224 906  36 115  422 765 

Current year’s movements 

 - revaluation of owner occupied properties  7 415  -    -    -    -    7 415 

 - Assets acquired through business combinations  2 116  -    72 156  4 069  584  78 925 

 - additions  4 436  1 096  58 205  15 365  1 516  80 618 

 - foreign exchange differences  -    -    7  -    25  32 

 - reclassification of assets at net book value  -    -    20 066  (20 066)  -    -   

 - prior year non-current assets held for sale  -    -    2 335  2 050  -    4 385 

 - non-current assets held for sale  -    -    (18 438)  -    -    (18 438)

 - disposals at net book value  (2 017)  -    (5 978)  (2 050)  (12 171)  (22 216)

 - depreciation  (942)  (44)  (26 271)  (16 390)  (4 121)  (47 768)

Balance at end of year  69 441  1 131  205 314  207 884  21 948  505 718 

Made up as follows: 

 - cost/fair value  73 906  9 141  404 130  246 405  64 876  798 458 

 - accumulated depreciation  (4 465)  (8 010)  (198 816)  (38 521)  (42 928)  (292 740)

Net book value  69 441  1 131  205 314  207 884  21 948  505 718 

COMPANY              2013 

Beginning of year  

 - cost/fair value  56 499  3 768  189 048  238 537  35 825  523 677 

 - accumulated depreciation  (2 551)  (2 585)  (117 272)  (30 556)  (31 036)  (184 000)

Net book value  53 948  1 183  71 776  207 981  4 789  339 677 

Current year’s movements 

 - revaluation of owner occupied properties  6 591  -    -    -    -    6 591 

 - reclassification of assets at net book value  -    -    15 566  (15 566)  -    -   

 - additions  1 317  42  2 110  15 365  1 089  19 923 

 - prior year non-current assets held for sale  -    -    1 247  -    -    1 247 

 - non-current assets held for sale  -    -    (2 328)  -    -    (2 328)

 - disposals at net book value  -    -    (3 079)  -    (61)  (3 140)

 - depreciation  (875)  (11)  (10 635)  (14 435)  (1 657)  (27 613)

Balance at end of year  60 981  1 214  74 657  193 345  4 160  334 357 

Made up as follows: 

 - cost/fair value  64 407  3 810  196 470  231 587  35 188  531 462 

 - accumulated depreciation  (3 426)  (2 596)  (121 813)  (38 242)  (31 028)  (197 105)

Net book value  60 981  1 214  74 657  193 345  4 160  334 357 
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Land and
 buildings 

 Leasehold
 improvements
  and prefabricated
  buildings Vehicles 

Leased
 vehicles

 Plant, 
  furniture  
 and  
 equipment Total 

 7.1 Property, plant and equipment (R000) 
(continued) 

GROUP                 2012 

Beginning of year  

 - cost/fair value  59 123  8 416  266 927  236 775  80 372  651 613 

 - accumulated depreciation  (3 147)  (7 958)  (178 432)  (33 935)  (41 581)  (265 053)

Net book value  55 976  458  88 495  202 840  38 791  386 560 

Current year’s movements 

 - revaluation of owner occupied properties  2 975  -    -    -    -    2 975 

 - impairment of non-current assets held for sale  -    -    (1 679)  (1 556)  -    (3 235)

 - additions  466  -    6 571  68 670  1 937  77 644 

 - foreign exchange differences  -    -    75  -    24  99 

 - reclassification of assets at net book value  671  (369)  26 926  (26 929)  3  302 

 - prior year non-current assets held for sale  -    -    3 112  -    -    3 112 

 - non-current assets held for sale  -    -    (2 335)  (2 050)  -    (4 385)

 - disposals at net book value  (730)  -    (4 260)  (1 072)  (10)  (6 072)

 - depreciation  (925)  (10)  (13 673)  (14 997)  (4 630)  (34 235)

Balance at end of year  58 433  79  103 232  224 906  36 115  422 765 

Made up as follows: 

 - cost/fair value  62 253  8 046  256 549  255 590  80 748  663 186 

 - accumulated depreciation  (3 820)  (7 967)  (153 317)  (30 684)  (44 633)  (240 421)

Net book value  58 433  79  103 232  224 906  36 115  422 765 

COMPANY              2012 

Beginning of year  

 - cost/fair value  53 411  4 147  209 292  212 749  35 925  515 524 

 - accumulated depreciation  (1 712)  (2 585)  (150 742)  (33 316)  (30 442)  (218 797)

Net book value  51 699  1 562  58 550  179 433  5 483  296 727 

Current year’s movements 

 - revaluation of owner occupied properties  2 983  -    -    -    -    2 983 

 - impairment of non-current assets held for sale  -    -    -    -    -    -   

 - reclassification of assets at net book value  369  (369)  20 102  (20 077)  (25)  -   

 - additions  466  -    5 057  62 704  1 315  69 542 

 - prior year non-current assets held for sale  -    -    2 507  -    -    2 507 

 - non-current assets held for sale  -    -    (1 247)  -    -    (1 247)

 - disposals at net book value  (730)  -    (3 017)  (1 086)  (7)  (4 840)

 - depreciation  (839)  (10)  (10 176)  (12 993)  (1 977)  (25 995)

Balance at end of year  53 948  1 183  71 776  207 981  4 789  339 677 

Made up as follows: 

 - cost/fair value  56 499  3 768  189 048  238 537  35 825  523 677 

 - accumulated depreciation  (2 551)  (2 585)  (117 272)  (30 556)  (31 036)  (184 000)

Net book value  53 948  1 183  71 776  207 981  4 789  339 677 
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 GROUP  COMPANY 

2013 2012 2013 2012

 R000  R000  R000  R000 

 7.2 Investment properties 
Opening balance at 1 March 2012  48 427  44 460  16 179  14 364 

Additions (subsequent expenditure)  -    209  -    209 

Non-current assets held for sale  (32 500)  -    -    -   

Reclassification of assets at net book value  -    (302)  -    -   

Fair value adjustment  9 234  4 060  724  1 606 

Closing balance at 28 February 2013  25 161  48 427  16 903  16 179 

Rental income   5 042  4 594  3 028  2 746 

Operating expenses  (185)  (190)  (105)  (92)

Profit from investment properties  4 857  4 404  2 923  2 654 

Investment properties, together with land and buildings, were revalued by an independent valuer as at 28 February 2013 on an open 

market basis, as supported by current market evidence. The independent valuer has reviewed and updated the valuations on an annual 

basis for the determination of the fair value of the investment properties.  

 GROUP  COMPANY 

2013 2012 2013 2012

 R000  R000  R000  R000 

 7.3 Non-current assets classified as held for sale 

Property, plant and equipment  18 438  4 385  2 328  1 247 

Investment property  32 500  -    -    -   

 50 938  4 385  2 328  1 247 

The Group intends to dispose of non-current assets classified as held for sale within the next 12 months and in accordance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) 5.  Property, plant and equipment no longer required in the operations have been 

classified as held for sale.  Investment property held for sale represents the disposal of the Alrode property to South African Breweries 

(Pty) Ltd, the details of which was announced and published on stock exchange news services (SENS) and in the media.  

 GROUP  COMPANY 

2013 2012 2013 2012

 R000  R000  R000  R000 

 8. Loans to related parties 
 8.1 Loan to share trust  -    -    189  283 

 8.2 Loan to joint ventures  -    -    2 329  930 

 -    -    2 518  1 213 

The group consolidates the trust which results in an elimination of the loan, which bears no interest, to the trust within the group.  

Dividends earned by the trust are used to repay the loan.  The group does not intend to call on the loan within the next 12 months.

The loans to joint ventures, Uzuko Carriers (Pty) Ltd and Sitanani Carriers (Pty) Ltd, are interest free and have no fixed terms of repayment.  

The group does not intend to call on these loans in the next 12 months however, this position will only be reconsidered depending on 

available free cash flow.  The loans are therefore classified as long-term.
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9. Investments in associates 
The group has a 25% interest in Murton’s Cane Contractors (Pty) Ltd, a 49.9% interest in Lugubhu Carriers (Pty) Ltd and a 40.0% interest 

in Buhle Betfu Holdings (Pty) Ltd. The nature of the companies’ business is contract sugar cane harvesting and transportation in Swaziland 

and South Africa. The group has a further 26% investment in TAB Charters (Pty) Ltd and the nature of its business is aircraft charter for the 

transportation of passengers.  The investment in Murtons was fully impaired during the period as the existing contract within this entity has 

been awarded to a new enterprise.

The investments in Murton’s Cane Contractors (Pty) Ltd and Lugubhu Carriers (Pty) Ltd are held by Cargo Carriers (Swaziland) (Pty) Ltd (an 

indirect wholly owned subsidiary of Cargo Carriers Limited) and are accounted for at cost in that company.  The investment in Buhle Betfu 

Holdings (Pty) Ltd is held by Siyazama Sisonke (Pty) Ltd (a wholly owned subsidiary of Cargo Carriers Limited) and is accounted for at cost 

in that company.  The investment in TAB Charters is held by Executive Air (Pty) Ltd (a 79% owned subsidiary of Cargo Carriers Limited) and 

is accounted for at cost in that company. 

2013 2012

 R000  R000 

 Murton’s Cane Contractors (Pty) Ltd 

 Investment at cost  160  160 

 Post acquisition profits  576  1 088 

 Impairment of investment  (393)  -   

 Current year share of losses  (343)  (512)

 At year end  -  736 

 Lugubhu Carriers (Pty) Ltd 

 Investment at cost  1 618  1 618 

 Post acquisition losses  (1 550)  (1 550)

 Loan to associate  (151)  (151)

 Impairment of investment  83  83 

 At year end  -    -   

 Buhle Betfu Holdings (Pty) Ltd 

 Investment at cost  3 405  3 405 

 Post acquisition profits  11 078  7 959 

 Current year share of profits  1 348  3 119 

 At year end  15 831  14 483 

 TAB Charters (Pty) Ltd 

 Investment at cost  1 560  1 560 

 Sale of investment  (763)  (763)

 Post acquisition profits  2 688  1 882 

 Current year share of profits  553  806 

 At year end  4 038  3 485 

 Total  19 869  18 704 

 Total share of profits from associates  1 558  3 413 
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Lugubhu Carriers  
(Pty) Ltd 

 Murton’s Cane  
Contractors (Pty) Ltd 

2013 2012 2013 2012

 R000  R000  R000  R000 

Statement of Financial Position 

Total assets  4 218  4 730  3 605  5 272 

 4 218  4 730  3 605  5 272 

Equity  (3 739)  (3 384)  2 482  2 777 

Total liabilities  7 957  8 114  1 123  2 495 

 4 218  4 730  3 605  5 272 

Income Statement 
Revenue  2 563  3 405  -    22 552 

Loss before tax   (356)  (224)  (1 962)  (2 924)

Taxation  66  67  589  877 

Loss after tax   (290)  (157)  (1 373)  (2 047)

Share of associates’ loss (49.9%/25%)  -    -    (343)  (512)

Transactions with Group  -    461  -    -   

 Buhle Betfu Holdings  
(Pty) Ltd 

 TAB Charters (Pty) Ltd 

2013 2012 2013 2012

 R000  R000  R000  R000 

Statement of Financial Position

Total assets  104 348  91 313  27 637  27 825 

 104 348  91 313  27 637  27 825 

Equity  35 037  31 668  16 476  13 097 

Total liabilities  69 311  59 645  11 161  14 728 

 104 348  91 313  27 637  27 825 

Income Statement 
Revenue  138 284  122 454  53 646  45 865 

Profit before tax   5 529  7 728  2 953  4 304 

Taxation  (2 159)  70  (827)  (1 205)

Profit after tax  3 370  7 798  2 126  3 099 

Share of associates’ profit (40%/26%)  1 348  3 119  553  806 

Transactions with Group  -    44  9 244  9 973 

The carrying value of the above investments does not exceed the directors’ valuation of the investments.   

The Group does not equity account losses from associates when the carrying value of the investment in associate is impaired to nil.  The loans 

to associates are non-interest bearing and have no fixed terms of repayment. 

The Group has no legal or constructive obligation to make payments on behalf of the associates, unless sureties or guarantees have been 

offered. 

The transactions with Cargo Carriers relate to management fees, vehicle hire charges and other operating costs. 
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10. Investment in joint ventures 
The investment in joint ventures represents the shareholding of 50.83% in Sitanani Carriers (Pty) Ltd and 50% in Uzuko Carriers (Pty) Ltd.  

These partnerships represent Cargo’s relationship with fuel distributorship marketers in Mpumulanga and the Eastern Cape. These joint 

ventures are equity accounted in the Group.

 GROUP  COMPANY 

2013 2012 2013 2012

 R000  R000  R000  R000 

Sitanani Carriers (Pty) Ltd 

Investment at cost  0  -    0  - 

Loan to joint venture  1 400  -    -  - 

Current year share of profits  378  -    -  - 

Carrying value at year end  1 778  -    0  -   

Uzuko Carriers (Pty) Ltd 

Investment at cost  0  0  0  0 

Post acquisition profits  1 463  119  -    - 

Loan to joint venture   930  930  -    -   

Current year share of profits  555  1 345  -    - 

Carrying value at year end  2 948  2 394  0  0 

Total carrying value at year end  4 726  2 394  0  0 

         Sitanani Carriers 
               (Pty) Ltd 

         Uzuko Carriers 
              (Pty) Ltd  

2013 2012 2013 2012

 R000  R000  R000  R000 

 Statement of Financial Position 

 Total assets  15 893  -    27 689  29 973 

 15 893  -    27 689  29 973 

Equity  735  -    4 036  2 927 

Total liabilities  15 158  -    23 653  27 046 

 15 893  -    27 689  29 973 

Income Statement 

Revenue  18 624  -    38 150  32 125 

Profit before tax  1 045  -    1 558  3 735 

Taxation  (301)  -    (448)  (1 046)

Profit after tax  744  -    1 110  2 689 

Share of joint ventures profit (50.83%/50%)  378  -    555  1 345 

Transactions with Group  870  -    2 315  1 241 

The carrying value of the investment does not exceed the directors’ valuation of the investment.

The transactions with Cargo Carriers relates to management fees and other operating costs.
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 Issued 
 share 

 capital 

  Cost of 
 shares 
 R’000

 Amounts owing by  
subsidiary companies 

 R'000 

 Amounts owing to  
subsidiary companies 

 R'000 

 2013 2012 2013 2012

 11.  Investments in subsidiaries 
 Transport 
	Cargo	Carriers	(Botswana)	†•  2  -  -    -    (135)  (178)
	Cargo	Carriers	(Swaziland)	††•	  4  -  25 980  25 508  -    -   
	Heavy	Hauliers	(Pvt)	Ltd	#•	  2  -    1 442  1 442  -    -   
 J & G Transport (Lesotho) ##  200  1 335  -    -    (29 940)  (25 335)
	J	&	G	Transport	(South	Africa)•	  100  -  -    -    -    -   
 Jaybee Holdings Incorporated ###  10 000  1 280  -    -    0  (5 223)
 Ezethu Logistics (Pty) Ltd  100  1 000  -    3 470  -    -   
 Cargo Carriers Namibia *  1  0  -    -    (850)  (0)
 Buks Haulage Limited **  922  18 043  3 090  -    -    -   
 Information Technology 
 Two Inc Consulting  100  2 068  -    -    -  - 
 Property 
 Cargo Carriers Alrode Properties  1 600  107  6 488  6 528  -    -   
 Cargo Carriers Workshop Property  2  0  -    -    (78 785)  (78 745)
 Carrick (Swaziland) ††  2  -  -    -    -    -   
 Aviation 
 Executive Air (Pty) Ltd (South Africa)  154  0  1 617  1 647  -  - 
 Summer Sun Trading (Pty) Ltd (South Africa)  1 000  -    -    3 851  -    -   
 Dormant/Holding 
	Cargo	Carriers	(Lesotho)	##•  2  -  -    -    -    -   
 Cargo Carriers Management Services  3 501  4  -    -    (4)  (4)
	Cargo	Carriers	Swaziland	Holdings	††•	  10  -  -    -    -    -   
	Cargo	Carriers	Harvesting	††•	  10  -  -    -    (0)  (0)
	Cargo	Carriers	Mozambique	~•	  1  0  -    -    -    -   
 GFLT Developments  1 000  1  -    -    (1)  (1)
	Heavy	Hauliers	Ltd	**•  10  -  -    -    -    -   
	Heavy	Hauliers	Ltd	***•  2  -  -    -    -    -   
 Siyazama Sisonke Empowerment  200  3 405  -    -    (3 373)  (3 373)
 Cost of shares  27 243  38 617  42 446  (113 088)  (112 858)
 Less:  Impairment of Two Inc Consulting   (2 068)
 Carrying value of shares   25 175 

†

††

 # 

 ## 

 ## 

 * 

 ** 

 *** 

 ~ 

•

Country of incorporation 
 Botswana 

 Swaziland 

 Zimbabwe 

 Lesotho 

 British Virgin Islands 

 Namibia 

 Zambia 

 Malawi 

 Mozambique 

 Held indirectly

 Currency of issued share capital 
 Pula 

 Emalangeni 

 US Dollars 

 Maloti 

 US Dollars 

 Namibian Dollars 

 Zambian Kwacha 

 Malawian Kwacha 

 Mozambique Meticals

 

The subsidiaries are all wholly owned, with the exception of GFLT Developments (Pty) Ltd (85%), Executive Air (Pty) Ltd (79%) and Buks Haulage 

Limited (55%).  Executive Air owns 70% of the issued share capital in Summer Sun Trading (Pty) Ltd which results in the Group having an 

effective control of 55.3% in this company.  Unless otherwise stated, all subsidiaries are (Pty) Ltd companies and the issued share capital is 

stated in South African Rands.      

The loans to subsidiary companies are non-interest bearing and have no stipulated repayment terms. The group does not intend to call on these 

loans in the next 12 months; however, this position will only be reconsidered depending on available free cash flow.  The loans are therefore 

classified as long-term.     

The attributable aggregate income after taxation of the subsidiaries for the year ended 28 February 2013 is:      

Profit: R37.4 million (2012: R12.0 million)      

Loss: R13.9 million (2012: R26.8 million)      

#
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 GROUP  COMPANY 

2013 2012 2013 2012

 R000  R000  R000  R000 

 12. Inventories 
Fuels, oils and lubricants  4 152  2 257  2 402  1 384 

Tyres  945  923  542  579 

Maintenance spares  7 990  4 453  2 463  2 271 

Provision for obsolescence  (540)  (393)  (408)  (347)

Total inventories at the lower of cost and net realisable value  12 547  7 240  4 999  3 887 

 13. Trade and other receivables 
Trade receivables net of impairments  107 633  89 305  84 654  92 671 

VAT receivable  -    606  -    2 465 

Sundry receivables  26 318  16 612  11 478  13 154 

 133 951  106 523  96 132  108 290 

Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30-day terms. 

As at 28 February 2013, trade receivables of an initial value of R26.4 million (2012: R10.4 million) were impaired and fully provided for.   

See below for the movements in the provision for impairment of receivables.                                                                           

Individually Impaired 
Group        
R'000 

 Individually Impaired 
Company  

R'000 

Balance at 1 March 2011  7 312  2 597 

Increase in provision during year  3 350  3 272 

Provision utilised  (221)  (221)

Balance at 29 February 2012  10 441  5 648 

Increase in provision during year  16 416  29 669 

Provision utilised  (397)  (331)

Balance at 28 February 2013  26 460  34 986 

     As at 28 February 2013, the age analysis of trade receivables is as follows: 

 Past due but not impaired 

 
                  Total 
                 R’000 

 Neither past                   
due 

    nor impaired  0-30 days  31-60 days   61-90 days  >90 days 

     GROUP 

2013  107 633  86 449  14 542  2 857  1 157  2 628 
2012  89 305  68 314  5 917  1 669  897  12 508 

     COMPANY

2013  84 654  68 623  9 528  1 346  1 920  3 237 
2012  92 671  63 982  5 838  2 379  1 993  18 479 

14. Cash and short-term deposits 
Cash at bank  39 371  12 730  5 659  3 850 

Short-term investments on call  45 000  45 000  45 000  45 000 

Cash on hand  409  422  293  246 

 84 780  58 152  50 952  49 096 

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Short-term investments on call are invested in the Stanlib extra 

income fund and is interest bearing at market related rates.     
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 GROUP  COMPANY 

2013 2012 2013 2012

 R000  R000  R000  R000 

 15. Share capital 

Authorised - 25 000 000 ordinary shares of 1 cent each  250  250  250  250 

Issued - 20 000 000 ordinary shares of 1 cent each  200  200  200  200 

Treasury - 593 710 ordinary shares of 1 cent each  (6)  (6)  -  - 

 194  194  200  200 

The unissued shares have been placed under the control of the directors. This authority expires at the next Annual General Meeting. 

 GROUP  COMPANY 

2013 2012 2013 2012

 R000  R000  R000  R000 

 16. Deferred taxation 

The liability for deferred taxation is made up as follows: 

Non-financial assets  109 056  84 016  71 617  61 172 

Prepayments  551  605  509  532 

Provisions  (12 406)  (5 227)  (8 744)  (2 889)

Estimated tax losses   (10 123)  (19 842)  (8 061)  (9 251)

 87 078  59 552  55 321  49 564 

Deferred tax asset  (22 529)  (25 150)  (16 805)  (12 139)

Deferred tax liability  109 607  84 702  72 126  61 703 

Net deferred tax liability  87 078  59 552  55 321  49 564 

Reconciled as follows: 

Opening balance at 1 March 2012  59 552  40 359  49 564  47 463 

Current year tax expense recognised in profit and loss  10 719  16 762  3 729  435 

Current year tax expense recognised in other comprehensive income  2 076  833  1 845  836 

Capital gains tax rate adjustment  -    1 386  -    578 

Foreign currency translation reserve  163  -    -    -   

Prior period adjustments  (17)  212  183  252 

Deferred tax acquired in business combination  13 516  -    -    -   

Fair value adjustment to assets in business combinations  1 069  -    -    -   

Closing balance at 28 February 2013  87 078  59 552  55 321  49 564 

The asset for deferred taxation has been raised on the assumption that future taxable profits will be available against which the associated 

unused tax losses and deductible temporary differences can be utilised. 

The group does not intend to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, nor to realise tax liabilities and assets simultaneously, 

as this is not how the group manages its tax affairs. With each entity in the group regarded as not having the right to set off current tax 

liabilities and assets and requirements of IAS 12.74(a) are not met for each entity and accordingly IAS 12.74(b)(i) requires the deferred tax 

amounts in each entity not to be set off.
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 GROUP  COMPANY 

2013 2012 2013 2012

 R000  R000  R000  R000 

17.  Interest bearing loans and borrowings 

17.1 Loans bear interest between prime and prime less 2.25% with monthly 

repayment terms over a 5 year period ending December 2014. The loans are 

secured by vehicles with a book value of R10.1 (2012: R57.2) million.

 6 005  23 761  1 122  7 506 

17.2 Loans bear interest between prime and prime less 1% with monthly 

repayment terms over a 5 year period ending June 2017. The loans are 

secured by vehicles with a book value of R0.2 (2012: nil) million.

 259  -    259  -   

17.3 Loans bear interest between prime and prime less 1.9%-2.0% with monthly 

repayment terms over a 5 year period which ended on April 2012. The loans 

are secured by vehicles/aircrafts with a book value of R8.9 (2012: R8.5) 

million.

 -    4 012  -    -   

17.4 Loans bear interest between prime and prime less 1.0% with monthly 

repayment terms over a 5 year period ending September 2014. The loans 

are secured by vehicles with a book value of R5.39 (2012: R11.5) million.

 4 715  5 530  -    -   

17.5 Loans bear interest at prime with monthly repayment terms over a 5 year 

period ending August 2015. The loans are secured by vehicles with a book 

value of R13.4 (2012: R14.4) million.

 9 315  12 602  -    -   

17.6 Loans bear interest between prime and prime less 1.0% with monthly 

repayment terms over a 5 year period ending September 2016. The loans 

are secured by vehicles with a book value of R18.1 (2012: R19.2) million.

 15 398  19 252  15 398  19 252 

17.7 Loans bear interest between prime and prime less 1.5% with monthly 

repayment terms over a 5 year period ending June 2017. The loans are 

secured by vehicles with a book value of R7.7 (2012: nil) million.

 3 473  -    -    -   

17.8 Loans relating to foreign subsidiary acquired, which bears interest between 

7% and 17% over a 2 to 3 year period ending June 2016.  The loans are 

secured by vehicles with a book value of R94.4 (2012: nil) million.

 112 540  -    -    -   

17.9 Loans bear interest between prime and prime less 2.25% with monthly 

repayment terms over a 5 year period ending July 2017. The loans are 

secured by vehicles with a book value of R164.1 (2012: R150.6) million.  114 492  138 249  114 492  138 249 

 266 197  203 406  131 271  165 007 

Current portion included under current liabilities  (94 360)  (63 443)  (46 109)  (49 878)

Non-current liabilities  171 837  139 963  85 162  115 129 
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 18. Group borrowings and capital management 

The primary objective of the Group's capital management, which comprises equity attributable to the equity holders of the parent, is to 

ensure that it maintains a strong credit rating and healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholder value.  

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in light of changes in economic conditions.  The method to raise 

additional capital will be decided and approved by the board.

The borrowing powers of the company and its subsidiaries are as determined by the company’s holding company. These have been fixed 

at not more than 50% of total equity.  No changes were made to the objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during the 

reporting period.

 GROUP  COMPANY 

2013 2012 2013 2012

 R000  R000  R000  R000 

Total equity  389 759  345 303 

Borrowing capacity of the group at 50% of total equity  194 880  172 651 

The extent to which the group’s borrowing capacity has been utilised at year 
end was as follows: 
Interest bearing loans and borrowings  -  non-current  171 837  139 963 

Interest bearing loans and borrowings  -  current  94 360  63 443 

 266 197  203 406 

Cash and short-term deposits  (84 780)  (58 152)

Net interest bearing loans and borrowings  181 417  145 254 

Borrowings capacity of the group utilised at year-end 93,1% 84,1%

 19. Trade and other payables 
Trade payables  54 504  37 127  41 038  31 537 

Vat payable  4 018  -    2 523  -   

Other payables  23 447  19 360  11 272  14 441 

 81 969  56 487  54 833  45 978 

Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are generally on 30 day terms. 

 20. Provisions 

Leave pay 
 - at 1 March 2012  5 073  4 491  4 670  3 917 

 - increase in provision during year  4 573  4 966  4 338  4 491 

 - amounts utilised during year  (4 253)  (4 384)  (4 018)  (3 738)

 - at 28 February 2013  5 393  5 073  4 990  4 670 

 Statutory severance and retirement allowance 
 - at 1 March 2012  4 129  3 923 

 - increase in provision during year  781  767 

 - amounts utilised during year  (224)  (561)

 - at 28 February 2013  4 686  4 129 

 Total  10 079  9 202  4 990  4 670 

Provisions listed above are dependent on the movement of staff.  The expected timing of the outflow of cash resources is not 

determinable.  Provision for severance pay represents severance allowance entitled to employees in certain foreign jurisdictions in 

accordance with basic conditions of service regulated by law in those areas.
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 GROUP  COMPANY 

2013 2012 2013 2012

 R000  R000  R000  R000 

 21. Commitments 
 21.1 Capital expenditure commitments 

Approved by directors: 
 - contracted for  -    3 304  -    1 117 
 - not contracted for  21 096  761  21 056  -   

 21 096  4 065  21 056  1 117 

Budgeted capital expenditure for 2014  39 301  42 038  30 929  32 408 

Capital commitments will be funded from existing cash resources and funds generated by operations as well as available finance facilities. 

 21.2  Interest bearing loans and borrowings commitments 
 - within one year  94 360  63 443  46 109  49 878 
 - after one year, but not more than five years  171 837  139 963  85 162  115 129 
 - more than five years  -    -    -    -   

 266 197  203 406  131 271  165 007 

Group 2013 

  Within 1 
  year  1-5 years  Total 

Total of future minimum lease payments  109 507  185 366  294 873 
Less unearned finance charges  (15 147)  (13 529)  (28 676)
Present value of future minimum lease payments  94 360  171 837  266 197 

Company 2013 
Total of future minimum lease payments  54 900  93 486  148 386 
Less unearned finance charges  (8 791)  (8 324)  (17 115)
Present value of future minimum lease payments  46 109  85 162  131 271 

Group 2012 
Total of future minimum lease payments  77 367  156 477  233 844 
Less unearned finance charges  (13 924)  (16 514)  (30 438)
Present value of future minimum lease payments  63 443  139 963  203 406 

Company 2012 
Total of future minimum lease payments  61 365  129 581  190 946 
Less unearned finance charges  (11 487)  (14 452)  (25 939)
Present value of future minimum lease payments  49 878  115 129  165 007 

The Group has finance leases for various items of plant and machinery.  The terms for repayment are fully disclosed in note 17. 

 21.3 Operating lease commitments 
 - within one year  9 775  3 709  4 399  2 839 
 - after one year, but not more than five years  30 992  8 595  15 425  4 470 
 - more than five years  -    -    -    -   

 40 767  12 304  19 824  7 309 

Lease payments are debited monthly in advance and are subject to annual escalation linked either to CPI or in terms of the contractual 

agreement.  Significiant operating leases relate primarily to the rental of property. 
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 22. Contingency 
The company did not guarantee any bank facilities of subsidiary companies during the current year (2012: Rnil). 

The company has provided the following sureties and guarantees at 28 February 2013: 

 - guarantees of R5.6 million (2012: R5.6 million) 

 - instalment sale facilities granted to joint ventures of R12.8 million (2012: R12.5 million) 

 - instalment sale, finance lease and loan facilities granted to subsidiary companies of R122.4 million (2012: R38.4 million) 

 - instalment sale facilities granted to owner drivers of R0.6 million (2012: R4.6 million) 

23. Related party transactions 
Terms and conditions of transactions with related parties  
Related party transactions exist between the group, fellow subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures.  All purchasing and selling 

transactions with related parties are concluded at arm’s length.  Outstanding balances at year end are unsecured, interest free and 

settlement occurs in cash.  There have been no guarantees provided or received for any related party receivables or payables, except as 

referred to in note 22.  

Details of the major shareholders of the company are disclosed in the directors’ report and all directors of the company have confirmed 

that they have no major interest in any contract of significance to the group which could result in a conflict of interest.

No share options have been granted to any of the members of the Board of Directors. Dividend payments to shareholders and the holding 

company are disclosed in the directors’ report. The following table provides the total amount of transactions, which have been entered into 

with related parties, other than those noted above, for year ended 28 February 2013. 

 Related party - Group R000 
Sales to related parties 

Purchases from  
related parties  

Amounts owed to  
related parties  

 2 013  2 012  2 013  2 012  2 013  2 012 

 Hallmark Motor Group  -    20  19 544  35 570  301  375 
 Bolton Footwear  29  -    -    -    -    -   

Hallmark Motor Group and Bolton Footwear are subsidiaries of the Group’s ultimate holding company, Cargo Carriers Holdings (Pty) Ltd.  

The debts are non-interest bearing and payment terms are generally on 30 days. 

 Related party - Company R000 Transactions with  
related parties 

Amounts owed by  
related parties 

Amounts owed to  
related parties 

 2 013  2 012  2 013  2 012  2 013  2 012 

 Cargo Carriers (Botswana) (Pty) Ltd  47  44  -    -    -    -   
 Cargo Carriers (Swaziland) (Pty) Ltd  7 509  11 964  32 712  28 454  1 781  692 
 Heavy Hauliers (Pvt) Ltd  4 711  5 579  8 327  4 834  -    -   
 J & G Transport (Lesotho) (Pty) Ltd  1 210  7 088  1 096  614  38  190 
 J & G Transport (South Africa) (Pty) Ltd  -    1 464  -    148  1 020  857 
 Jaybee Holdings Incorporated  581  365  -    -    -    -   
 Ezethu Logistics (Pty) Ltd  4 378  6 182  11 941  11 330  10  8 
 Summer Sun Trading (Pty) Ltd   170  219  8  23  -    -   
 Uzuko Carriers (Pty) Ltd  12 470  8 413  2 670  2 025  205  764 
 Sitanani Carriers (Pty) Ltd  2 108  -    828  -    -    -   
 Buks Haulage Limited  1 743  -    1 519  -    14  -   
 Cargo Carriers Namibia (Pty) Ltd  6 814  8 390  860  92  -    -   

 41 741  49 708  59 961  47 520  3 068  2 511 

Transaction with subsidiary companies comprise management fees and other transport related services. The above related party 

disclosure does not include loans to subsidiary companies which are reflected in note 11.

Refer to note 11 for the company’s equity interest in subsidiary companies. 

Refer to note 9 and 10 for the company’s equity interest in associates and joint venture companies respectively. 

Payments made to directors and key management of the company is disclosed in note 4. 

At year-end inter-group loans payable to Cargo Carriers Limited by Cargo Carriers Swaziland (Pty) Ltd and Ezethu Logistics (Pty) Ltd  

have been subordinated, until such time that the assets of these subsidiary companies fairly valued exceed their liabilities.
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24. Financial Instruments 

24.1 Introduction 

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise bank loans and overdraft, finance leases and hire purchase contracts, loans to 

associates and joint ventures, cash and short-term deposits, loans and unlisted investments, amounts owing by subsidiary companies 

and amounts owing to subsidiary companies. The main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s 

operations. The Group has various other financial assets and liabilities such as trade receivables and trade payables, which arise directly 

from its operations.

The Group does not normally enter into derivative transactions.  It is, and has been throughout the year under review, the Group’s policy 

that no trading in financial instruments shall be undertaken. 

Listed below are the carrying values of all financial instruments within the Group.

GROUP COMPANY

2013 2012 2013 2012

 R000  R000  R000  R000

Financial instrument classifications:

 - Loans and receivables  192 413  147 457  135 606  141 767 

 - Financial liabilities at amortised cost  348 165  259 893  299 192  323 843 

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are credit risk, foreign currency risk, treasury and interest rate risk and 

liquidity risk. The board reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are summarised below.  

24.2 Credit risk 

The most significant exposure to credit risk is in trade debtors that amounts to 80.4% (2012: 83.8%) of total accounts receivable at year 

end, for which no collateral is held.  The trade debtors comprise a large number of customers.  The majority have been contractually tied 

for some years and have proven credit risk ratings.  The Group policy is to perform credit checks on all customers.  Ratings are done 

on a regular basis via a debt rating agency.  Trade debtors are presented net of impairments.  At year end the Group considered it had 

sufficient allowances to cover any significant risk exposure amongst debtors. The group only deposits cash surpluses with major banks of 

high quality credit standing.  Accordingly, the group has no significant concentration of credit risk. Refer to note 13.

The carrying amounts of financial assets included in the statement of financial position represent the Group’s exposure to credit risk in 

relation to these assets. 

24.3 Foreign currency risk 

The Group policy is to avoid unnecessary exposure to foreign exchange rate fluctuations when entering into any foreign currency 

transaction.  Forward exchange contracts will be used to mitigate the exposure to currency movements if required. No forward exchange 

contracts were concluded during the current period.  The year-end balances and rates are as follows:

 Balance at  
 28 February 2013  
in foreign currency 

 Balance at  
 29 February 2012  
in foreign currency 

 Exchange rate  
28 February 2013 

 Exchange rate  
29 February 2012 

 US Dollar bank and short-term deposits ($)  1 139 676  2 196 868  R8.846 / US$1  R7.4740 / US$1 

 Sensitivity Analysis Increase/(decrease) 
in exchange rate 

Effect on profit 
before tax R’000 

Effect on equity 
R’000 

2013  50 basis points  (570)  (410)

(50) basis points  570  410 

2012  50 basis points  (1 098)  (791)

(50) basis points  1 098  791 
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 24.4 Treasury and interest rate risk 
Management regularly evaluates the company’s exposure to interest rate fluctuations and determines future gearing based on economic 

forecasts.  As part of the process of managing the Group’s interest rate risk, interest rate characteristics of new borrowings and the 

refinancing of existing borrowings are positioned according to expected movements in interest rates.  Refer to note 17 of the financial 

statements for the potential exposure to interest rate fluctuations.

 Sensitivity Analysis  Increase/
(decrease) in basis 

points 

 Effect on profit 
before tax R’000 

2013  50 basis points  (915)

 (50) basis points  915 
2012  50 basis points  (690)

 (50) basis points  690 

 24.5 Liquidity risk 
The Group monitors its risk of a shortage of funds using a recurring liquidity planning tool.  This tool considers the maturity of both its 

financial investments and financial assets (eg. accounts receivables, other financial assets) and projected cash flows from operations.  

The cash flows from debtors and creditors are reasonably well matched in that payments are made to creditors on the same terms and 

conditions given to customers.  It is anticipated that the year-end position will be settled within a 45- to 60-day time frame.

The table below summarises the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities at 28 February 2013 based on contractual undiscounted 

payments. 

 2013 
On Demand     

R’000 
Less than 1 year 

R’000 
1 to 5 years  

R’000 
Total         
R’000 

 GROUP 
 Interest bearing loans and borrowings  109 507  -    185 366  294 873 
 Trade and other payables   -    54 504  -    54 504 
 Other payables excluding VAT  23 446  -    -    23 446 

 COMPANY 
 Interest bearing loans and borrowings  54 900  -    93 486  148 386 
 Amounts owing to subsidiary companies  113 088  -    -    113 088 
 Trade and other payables   -    41 038  -    41 038 
 Other payables excluding VAT  11 272  -    -    11 272 

 2012 
On Demand     

R’000 
Less than 1 year 

R’000 
1 to 5 years  

R’000 
Total         
R’000 

 GROUP 
 Interest bearing loans and borrowings  77 367  -    156 477  233 844 
 Trade and other payables   -    37 127  -    37 127 
 Other payables excluding VAT  14 915  -    -    14 915 

 COMPANY 
 Interest bearing loans and borrowings  61 365  -    129 581  190 946 
 Amounts owing to subsidiary companies  112 858  -    -    112 858 
 Trade and other payables   -    31 537  -    31 537 
 Other payables excluding VAT  9 954  -    -    9 954 

 24.6  Fair value of financial instruments 
The carrying amounts of financial instruments approximate their fair values due to the short-term maturities of these assets and liabilities.  

The interest rates on long-term loans are market related; therefore, the fair values approximate the carrying values.
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 GROUP  COMPANY 

2013 2012 2013 2012

 R000  R000  R000  R000 

 25. Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows 

 25.1 Reconciliation of profit from operating activities to cash generated by 

operations: 

Profit from operating activities   42 538  39 219  21 281  13 409 

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  47 768  34 235  27 613  25 995 

Gain on loan written off  -    -    (2 333)  -   

Increase in provisions  877  788  320  753 

Unrealised foreign exchange differences  (3 348)  54  (2 342)  163 

Operating profit before working capital changes   87 835  74 296  44 539  40 320 

Working capital changes  (38 172)  (18 560)  19 901  (7 698)

Increase in inventories  (8 873)  (1 102)  (1 112)  (869)

(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables   (40 549)  (21 528)  12 158  (7 240)

Increase in trade and other payables  9 946  3 668  8 855  411 

Foreign exchange differences  1 304  402  -    -   

Cash generated from operations  49 663  55 736  64 440  32 622 

 25.2 Tax (paid)/received 

Tax prepaid at the beginning of the year  2 675  3 265  995  2 440 

Tax liability written off against withholding tax debtor  2 158  -    -    -   

Current tax charge  (2 964)  (1 510)  (106)  (71)

Tax receivable at the end of the year  (2 751)  (2 675)  (9)  (995)

 (882)  (920)  880  1 374 

 25.3 Dividend paid  

Amounts unpaid at beginning of year  -    -    -    -   

Amounts charged per statement of equity  (3 494)  (2 717)  (3 600)  (2 800)

Amounts unpaid at end of year  -    -    -    -   

 (3 494)  (2 717)  (3 600)  (2 800)

 25.4 Replacement of non-financial assets 

Investment properties  -    209  -    209 

Land and buildings  4 436  466  1 317  466 

Leasehold improvements and prefabricated buildings  1 096  -    42  -   

Vehicles  58 205  6 571  2 110  5 057 

Leased vehicles  15 365  68 670  15 365  62 704 

Plant, furniture and equipment  1 516  1 937  1 089  1 315 

 80 618  77 853  19 923  69 751 
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 25.5 Subsidiary acquired 
The Group acquired 55% of the issued share capital of Buks Haulage Limited, an unlisted transport company based in Zambia and 

specialising in the transport of various commodities including, inter alia, copper concentrates, lime and sulphuric acid. This transaction 

afforded the Group further opportunities in expanding its footprint into the sub-continent and achieving its goal of growth by means of 

acquisition and risk diversification through business in neighbouring countries. The effective date of the acquisition was 1 September 

2012. The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities as at the date of acquisition were:

Cash and short-term deposits  2 394  -   

Inventories  2 470  -   

Trade and other receivables  19 734  -   

Property, plant and equipment  79 522  -   

Deferred taxation  (13 516)  -   

Trade and other payables  (24 166)  -   

Interest bearing loans and borrowings  (32 518)  -   

Total identifiable net assets at fair value  33 920  -   

Non-controlling interest (45% of net assets fair value)  (15 264)

Contingent consideration (undiscounted)  (5 969)  -   

Purchase consideration payable  12 687  -   

Foreign currency movement  (121)  -   

Purchase consideration transferred  12 566  -   

Net cash acquired with the subsidiary  (2 394)  -   

Net purchase consideration in obtaining control of subsidiary  10 172  -   

Present value of contingent consideration  5 359 

Revenue consolidated in Group  91 170 

Loss before tax consolidated in Group  (582)

The Group has 12 months from the date of acquisition to finalise the purchase price allocation pertaining to the fair value of assets. 

Notes to the Financial Statements  continued
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26. Segment Report

The Group operates nationally in South Africa and the Southern African Development Community (SADC) regions. For management 

purposes the Group is split into two main operating divisions comprising the wheels division and the enterprises division, which reports 

to the Joint CEO’s. The wheels division comprises the industrial (powders/steel/chemicals/gas/fuel/mining), agricultural (sugar/tomato), 

consumer and aviation segment (passenger aircraft transportation) and is headed up by divisional directors. Newly acquired subsidiary 

Buks Haulage Limited, classified as part of the industrial segment, is headed up by a managing director and also reports into the Joint CEO 

of the wheels division. The enterprises division comprises supply chain services (solutions/trading) and the property (investment and owner 

occupied) segment which are also headed up by divisional directors.

The Group’s risks and rate of return are affected predominantly by differences in the products and services provided. Each segment 

represents a strategic business unit that offers different products and serves different markets. Transfer prices between business 

segments are set on an arm’s length basis in a manner similar to transactions with independent third parties. Segment revenue, segment 

expense and segment results include transfers between business segments. Those transfers are eliminated on consolidation. The basis 

of this segment report is to reflect those areas of business that are subject to differing risks. This may relate to risk factors such as the 

weather, consumption patterns, exchange rate volatility and the like.

 Industrial  Agricultural  Consumer 

R000 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

Revenue and other income  587 563  448 121  94 480  103 168  -    1 628 

Profit before finance income and finance cost   61 478  51 395  (16 574)  (10 558)  -    (1 129)

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  39 393  26 146  4 834  4 153  -    -   

Profits from associates and joint ventures  933  1 345  1 005  2 607  -    -   

Investment in associates and joint ventures  4 726  2 394  15 831  15 219  -    -   

Impairment of assets  (2 685)  (1 679)  (393)  (1 694)  -    -   

Non-Current Assets ~  365 282  303 596  46 842  47 656  -    -   

Capital expenditure  73 274  47 998  5 672  28 240  -    -   

Geographical Segments 

 Within South Africa  External to South Africa  Total 

R000 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

Revenue   544 568  503 269  182 137  96 095  726 705  599 364 

Non-Current Assets   444 612  447 319  110 861  47 656  555 473  494 975 

~ excludes deferred taxation 

Management monitors the operating results of its business units separately for the purpose of making decisions about resource allocation 

and performance assessment. Segment performance is evaluated based on the operating profit or loss and is measured consistently 

with operating profit or loss in the consolidated financial statements. There are no material inter-segment revenues. Revenue from two 

customers amounted to R171.8 million (2012: R161.8 million), arising from sales within the industrial segment. Operational sites beyond 

the borders of South Africa comprise Zambia, Swaziland, Lesotho, Namibia and Zimbabwe.

27. Events after the reporting period

Subsequent to year end the sale of the Alrode property to South African Breweries Proprietary Limited was concluded  as all  

suspensive conditions were met. This property has been classified as asset held for sale at year end (see note 7.2).

 Industrial  Agricultural  Consumer  Supply Chain 
Services 

 Aviation  Property  Total 

R000 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012

Revenue and other income  587 563  448 121  94 480  103 168  -    1 628  30 192  31 626  9 428  10 227  5 042  4 594  726 705  599 364 

Profit before finance income 
and finance cost   61 478  51 395  (16 574)  (10 558)  -    (1 129)  (10 658)  (5 368)  4 775  2 970  14 340  8 594  53 361  45 904 

Depreciation of property,  
plant and equipment  39 393  26 146  4 834  4 153  -    -    409  473  2 190  2 538  942  925  47 768  34 235 

Profits from associates and 
joint ventures  933  1 345  1 005  2 607  -    -    -    -    553  806  -    -    2 491  4 758 

Investment in associates and 
joint ventures  4 726  2 394  15 831  15 219  -    -    -    -    4 037  3 485  -    -    24 594  21 098 

Impairment of assets  (2 685)  (1 679)  (393)  (1 694)  -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    (3 078)  (3 373)

Non-Current Assets ~  365 282  303 596  46 842  47 656  -    -    793  2 435  20 689  34 428  121 867  106 860  555 473  494 975 

Capital expenditure  73 274  47 998  5 672  28 240  -    -    355  135  -    436  1 317  1 044  80 618  77 853 

~ excludes deferred taxation
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Global Reporting Initiative Index

G3 Indicator Description Page/Comments

1. Strategy and Analysis

1.1 Statement from the senior decision makers of the organisation. 2,4

1.2 Description of key impacts, risks, and opportunities. 22 

2. Organisational Profile

2.1 Name of the organisation. 23

2.2 Primary brands, products, and/or services. 34,71

2.3 Operational structure of the organisation, including main divisions, operating companies, 
subsidiaries, and joint ventures.

34,58,59,60,61,71

2.4 Location of organisation’s headquarters. 23

2.5 Countries of operation. 61

2.6 Nature of ownership and legal form. 23,34

2.7 Markets served including geographic breakdown/sectors served/customers. 71

2.8 Scale of organisation including number of employees, net sales/revenues, and total capitalisation. 25,34-35

2.9 Significant changes during reporting None

2.10 Awards received in the reporting period. 22

3. Report Parameters

3.1 Reporting period. 1 March 2012 –  
28 February 2013

3.2 Date of most recent previous report (if any). 11 May 2012

3.3 Reporting cycle. Annual

3.4 Contact point for questions regarding the report or its contents. 22

3.5 Process of defining report content. 14

3.6 Boundary of the report. 14

3.7 Limitation on the scope or boundary of the report. 14

3.8 Basis for reporting on joint ventures, etc. 42-43

3.10 Restatement of information. None

3.11 Significant changes from previous reporting periods. None

3.12 GRI content index table. 72-73

3.13 Policy and practice for seeking independent assurance for the report. 14

4. Governance, Commitments and Engagement 

4.1 Governance structure including committees. 26-29

4.2 Indicate whether chair of the highest governance body is also an executive officer. 26-29

4.3 Percentage of independent directors 26

4.4 Mechanism for shareholders and employees to provide recommendations/ direction to the highest 
governance body.

14

4.9 Procedures of the highest governance body for overseeing the organisation’s identification and 
management of economic, environmental and social performance, including relevant risk and 
opportunities and adherence or compliance with internationally agreed standards, codes of 
conduct, and principles.

21,22,28

4.14 List of stakeholders Group engaged by the organisation. 14

4.15 Basis for identification and selection of stakeholders with whom to engage. 14

Environmental 

EN3 Direct energy consumption by primary energy source. 19-20

EN4 Indirect energy consumption by primary source. 19-20

2-3, 4-7
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G3 Indicator Description Page/Comments

EN6 Initiatives to provide energy-efficient or renewable energy based products and services, and 
reductions in energy requirements as a result of these initiatives.

19-20

EN8 Total water withdrawal by source. 19-20

EN16 Total direct and indirect greenhouse gas emissions by weight. 19-20

EN23 Total number and volume of significant spills. 19-20

EN28 Monetary value of significant fines and total number of non-monetary sanctions for non-compliance 
with environmental laws and regulations.

None

Human Rights 

HR5 Operations identified in which the right to exercise freedom of association and collective 
bargaining may be at significant risk, and actions taken to support these rights.

16

Labour Practices 

LA1 Total workforce by employment type, employment contract, and region. 16

LA3 Benefits provided to full-time employees that are not provided to temporary or part-time 
employees, by major operations.

16

LA4 Percentage of employees covered by collective bargaining agreements. None

LA5 Minimum notice period(s) regarding significant operational changes, including whether it is 
specified in collective agreements.

None

LA6 Percentage of total workforce represented in formal joint management-worker health and safety 
committees that help monitor and advise on occupational health and safety programmes.

None

LA7 Rates of injury, occupational diseases, lost days, and absenteeism, and number of work-related 
fatalities by region.

21

LA8 Education, training, counselling, prevention, and risk-control programmes in place to assist 
workforce members, their families or community members regarding serious diseases.

17

LA9 Health and safety topics covered in formal agreements with trade unions. 16-17

LA10 Average hours of training per year per employee by employee category. 17

LA11 Programmes for skills management and lifelong learning that support the continued employability 
of employees and assist them in managing career endings.

17

LA12 Percentage of employees receiving regular performance and career development reviews. 17

LA13 Composition of governance bodies and breakdown of employees per category according to 
gender, age group, minority group membership, and other indicators of diversity.

18,26-29

Society 

SO1 Nature, scope, and effectiveness of any programmes and practices that assess and manage the 
impacts of operations on communities, including entering, operating, and exiting.

15

SO6 Total value of financial and in-kind contributions to political parties, politicians, and related 
institutions by country.

None

SO7 Total number of legal actions for anti-competitive behaviour, anti-trust, and monopoly practices and 
their outcomes.

None

SO8 Monetary value of significant fines and total number of non-monetary sanctions for non-compliance 
with laws and regulations.

Not significant

Economic 

EC1 Direct economic value generated and distributed. 24

EC6 Policy, practices, and proportion of spending on locally-based suppliers at significant locations of 
operations.

15

EC7 Procedure for local hiring and proportion of senior management hired from the local community at 
locations of significant operation.

16
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Notice is hereby given that the fifty third Annual General 
Meeting of shareholders of Cargo Carriers Limited will 
be held at the registered office of the company, which is 
situated at 11A Grace Road, Mountainview, Observatory, 
Johannesburg at 9:30am on Thursday, 20 June 2013 
to consider, and if deemed fit, to pass, with or without 
modifications, the resolutions set out below.

Record date

The record date for determining which shareholders are 
entitled to notice of the meeting is Friday, 24 May 2013 
and the record date for the purposes of determining 
which shareholders of the Company are entitled to 
participate in and vote at the annual general meeting is 
Friday, 14 June 2013.  Accordingly, the last day to trade in 
order to be eligible to vote at the annual general meeting 
will be Friday, 7 June 2013. 

Attendance and voting

Registered holders of certificated shares or of 
dematerialised shares with own name registration may 
attend the annual general meeting in person. Alternatively 
you may appoint a proxy to represent you at the annual 
general meeting of shareholders by completing the 
attached form of proxy in accordance with the instructions 
it contains. This proxy form must be delivered to the 
Company’s registered address, set out in paragraph 1 
above, to be received before 09h30 on Tuesday, 18 June 
2013.

Holders of dematerialised shares held through a CSDP 
or broker and who do not have “own name” registration, 
but who wish to attend the annual general meeting 
of shareholders, must obtain the necessary letter of 
representation from their Central Securities Depository 
Participant (“CSDP”) or broker.  Holders of dematerialised 
shares not registered in their name and who do not wish 
to attend the annual general meeting of shareholders, 
but would like their vote to be recorded at the meeting, 
should contact their CSDP or broker and furnish their 
voting instructions.  Holders of dematerialised shares not 
registered in their name must not complete the form of 
proxy.

In terms of section 62(3)(e) of the Companies Act, 71 of 
2008 (“the Companies Act”) -

(i) a shareholder who is entitled to attend and vote at 
the meeting is entitled to appoint one or more proxies 
to attend, participate in and vote at the meeting 

in his/her stead, by completing the proxy form in 
accordance with the instructions set out therein;

(ii) a proxy need not be a shareholder of the Company;

(iii) meeting participants (including shareholders 
and proxies) are required to provide reasonably 
satisfactory identification before being entitled to 
attend or participate in a shareholders’ meeting: in 
this regard, all meeting participants will be required 
to provide identification satisfactory to the chairman 
of the meeting.  Forms of identification include valid 
identity documents, driver’s licences and passports.

Electronic Participation in the Annual General 
Meeting

Please note that the Company intends to make provision 
for shareholders of the Company, or their proxies, to 
participate in the annual general meeting by way of 
electronic communication. Should you wish to participate 
in the annual general meeting by way of electronic 
communication, you will need to contact the Company 
at +2711 485 8700 by Friday, 14 June 2013, so that the 
Company can provide for a teleconference dial-in facility.  
Please ensure that if you are participating in the meeting 
via teleconference that the voting proxies be sent through 
to the transfer secretaries, namely Computershare 
Investor Services Proprietary Limited, 70 Marshall Street, 
Johannesburg, 2001 (P O Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107) 
by no later than 09h30 on Tuesday, 18 June 2013.  No 
changes to voting instructions after this time and date 
can be accepted unless the Chairman of the meeting 
is satisfied as to the identification of the electronic 
participant.

1. Ordinary resolution number 1 – Annual financial 
statements

“RESOLVED THAT the annual financial statements of 
the Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended 
28 February 2013, together with the directors’ and 
auditors’ reports thereon, be received, considered and 
adopted.”

Explanatory Note:

The annual financial statements are required to be 
approved in terms of the Companies Act, 2008 (No 71 
of 2008) (“the Act”).  The minimum percentage of voting 
rights that is required for ordinary resolution 1 to be 
adopted is 50% (fifty percent) of the voting rights plus  
1 (one) vote to be cast on this resolution.

Notice of Annual General Meeting of the 
Shareholders of the Company 
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2. Ordinary resolution number 2 – Director retirement 
and re-election – Mrs MJ Vuso

“RESOLVED THAT Mrs MJ Vuso, which director retires in 
terms of the Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation 
and, being eligible, offers herself for re-election as a 
director of the Company be and is hereby approved.”

Mrs MJ Vuso’s curriculum vita is set out on page 36 of the 
Directors report.

3. Ordinary resolution number 3 – Director retirement 
and re-election – Mrs BB Fraser

“RESOLVED THAT Mrs BB Fraser, which director retires 
in terms of the Company’s Memorandum of Incorporation 
and, being eligible, offers herself for re-election as a 
director of the Company be and is hereby approved.”

Mrs BB Fraser’s curriculum vita is set out on page 35 of 
the Directors report.

Explanatory Note for ordinary resolution number 2  
and 3:

Directors are required to retire by way of rotation in 
terms of Article 53 of the Company’s Memorandum of 
Incorporation.  The minimum percentage of voting rights 
that is required for ordinary resolutions 2 and 3 to be 
adopted is 50% (fifty percent) of the voting rights plus 1 
(one) vote to be cast on these resolutions.

4. Ordinary resolution number 4 – Approval of 
Remuneration Policy

“RESOLVED THAT the Remuneration Policy, a summary 
of which has been tabled below, be and is hereby 
approved.”

Remuneration Policy Summary:

The Group strives to remunerate its employees at market 
related salaries and the Remuneration Committee 
(“Remcom”) will be guided by one or more appropriate 
annual salary surveys produced by Industry specialists. 
Positions/Jobs are evaluated using a mechanism designed 
and provided by an external expert, with this job grading 
exercise being undertaken every two to three years.

Remcom, in consultation with management, design all 
incentive schemes, (long and short term), to:

•	 Promote growth in quality sustainable earnings

•	 Align shareholder and management objectives

•	 Enhance the ability to recruit and retain key employees 
and management.

Senior Management Salaries Guaranteed remuneration, 
on a cost to company basis, is aligned to the 50th 
percentile in terms of the market information available 
from time to time. 

The structure and basis for Performance Based Incentives 

will be recommended by Remcom and approved by the 
Board from time to time to be aligned with company 
strategy and current shareholder and management 
objectives.

All increases, after being recommended by the CEO, have 
to be approved by Remcom.

Once an average overall increase is agreed to by 
Remcom, the executive committee determines individual 
application of increases, with variances being due to 
higher or lower performance ratings based on regular 
formal reviews.

Explanatory Note:

Chapter 2 of King III dealing with boards and directors 
requires companies to table every year their remuneration 
policy to shareholders for a non-binding advisory 
vote at the annual general meeting. This vote enables 
shareholders to express their views on the remuneration 
policy adopted and on their implementation.

This ordinary resolution is of an advisory nature only and 
failure to pass this resolution will therefore not have any 
legal consequences relating to existing arrangements. 
However the board will take the outcome of the vote 
into consideration when considering the Company’s 
remuneration policy.

The minimum percentage of voting rights that is required 
for this ordinary resolution to be adopted is 50% (fifty 
percent) of the voting rights plus 1 (one) vote to be cast 
on each resolution.

5. Ordinary resolution number 5 – Appointment and 
remuneration of auditors

“RESOLVED THAT the appointment of Ernst & Young Inc. 
as the auditors of the Company, with Mr Sarel Strydom as 
designated registered auditor, be and is hereby approved.”

Explanatory Note:

Ernst & Young Inc. has indicated their willingness to be 
appointed as the Company’s auditors until the next annual 
general meeting.  The Audit Committee has satisfied 
itself as to the independence of Ernst & Young Inc.  The 
Audit Committee has the power in terms of the Act to 
approve the remuneration of the external auditors.  The 
remuneration and non-audit fees paid to the auditors 
during the year ended 28 February 2013 are contained in 
note 1 of the annual financial statements.  

The minimum percentage of voting rights that is required 
for ordinary resolution number 5 to be adopted is 50% 
(fifty percent) of the voting rights plus 1 (one) vote to be 
cast.
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6. Ordinary resolution number 6 – Appointment of 
Audit Committee member – AE Franklin

“RESOLVED THAT AE Franklin be and is hereby 
reapproved as a member of the Audit Committee.”

Mr AE Franklin’s curriculum vitae is set out on page 35  of 
the Directors report.

7. Ordinary resolution number 7 – Appointment of 
Audit Committee member – SP Mzimela

“RESOLVED THAT SP Mzimela be and is hereby 
reapproved as a member of the Audit Committee.”

Mrs SP Mzimela’s curriculum vitae is set out on page 36 
of the Directors report.

8. Ordinary resolution number 8 – Appointment of 
Audit Committee member – MJ Vuso (Chairman)

“RESOLVED THAT MJ Vuso be and is hereby reapproved 
as a member of the Audit Committee.”

Mrs MJ Vuso’s curriculum vitae is set out on page 36 of 
the Directors report.

Explanatory Note for ordinary resolutions number 6 to 8:

In terms of Section 61 (8)(c)(ii) of the Act, shareholders 
are required to approve the appointment of the Audit 
Committee members.

The minimum percentage of voting rights that is required 
for ordinary resolutions 6 to 8 to be adopted is 50% (fifty 
percent) of the voting rights plus 1 (one) vote to be cast 
on these resolutions.

9. Ordinary resolution number 9 – General authority 
to allot and issue shares for cash

“RESOLVED THAT subject to the approval of 75% of the 
members present in person and by proxy, and entitled to 
vote at the meeting either by way of a poll or by a show 
of hands, excluding the controlling shareholders of the 
Company, the directors of the Company be and hereby are 
authorised, by way of general authority, to allot and issue 
all or any of the authorised but unissued shares in the 
capital of the Company as they in their discretion deem fit, 
subject to the following limitations:-

- the shares which are the subject of the issue for cash 
must be of a class already in issue, or where this is not 
the case, must be limited to such equity securities or 
rights that are convertible into a class already in issue;

- this authority shall not endure beyond the next annual 
general meeting of the Company nor shall it endure 
beyond 15 months from the date of this meeting;

- there will be no restrictions in regard to the persons 
to whom the shares may be issued, provided that 

such shares are to be issued to public shareholders 
(as defined by the JSE Limited (“JSE”) in its listing 
requirements) and not to related parties;

- upon any issue of shares which, together with prior 
issues during any financial year, will constitute 5% or 
more of the number of shares of the class in issue, 
the Company shall by way of an announcement on 
Securities Exchange News Service (“SENS”), give full 
details thereof, including the effect on the net asset 
value of the Company and earnings per share;

- the aggregate issue of a class of shares already in 
issue in any financial year will not exceed 50% of the 
number of that class of shares (including securities 
which are compulsorily convertible into shares of that 
class); and

- the maximum discount at which shares may be issued 
is 10% of the weighted average traded price of the 
Company’s shares over the 30 business days prior to 
the date that the price of the issue is determined or 
agreed by the directors of the applicant.”

Explanatory Note:

In terms of the company’s memorandum of incorporation, 
read with the JSE Listings Requirements, the 
shareholders may authorise the directors to allot and 
issue the authorised but unissued shares, as the directors 
in their discretion think fit.  This ordinary resolution 
requires a 75% vote in accordance with the JSE Listings 
Requirements.

10. Special resolution number 1 – Non-Executive 
Directors’ remuneration

“RESOLVED THAT the remuneration of the non-executive 
directors be and is hereby increased with effect from 
01 March 2013 as set out below:

Chairman

Other directors/
members of other 
committees

Board Meeting:
Retainer per month (Maximum):
Attendance fee per meeting:

R 18 333
R 12 000

R 7 500 – R 8 333
R 9 000 – R 10 800

Audit Committee:
Retainer per month (Maximum):
Attendance fee per meeting:

R Nil
R 6 000

R Nil
R 5 400 – R6 000

Other Committees:
Retainer per month (Maximum):
Attendance fee per meeting:

RNil
R 6 000

R Nil
R Nil

Explanatory Note:

In terms of Section 69 (9) of the Act, shareholders are 
required to approve the remuneration of directors.

The minimum percentage of voting rights that is required 
for this special resolution to be adopted is 75% (seventy 
five percent) of the voting rights to be cast on this 
resolution.
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11. Special resolution number 2 – General authority 
to enter into funding agreements, provide loans or 
other financial assistance

“RESOLVED that in terms of Section 45 of the Act,  as 
amended, the Company be and is hereby granted a 
general approval authorising the Company and/or any one 
or more of its wholly-owned subsidiaries to enter into 
direct or indirect funding agreements or to provide loans 
or financial assistance between any one or more of the 
subsidiaries from time to time, subject to the provisions 
of the JSE Listings Requirements, for funding agreements 
and as the directors in their discretion deem fit.

Explanatory Note:

The purpose of this resolution is to enable the Company 
to enter into funding arrangements with its subsidiaries 
and to allow intergroup loans between subsidiaries.

The minimum percentage of voting rights that is required 
for this special resolution to be adopted is 75% (seventy 
five percent) of the voting rights to be cast on each 
resolution.

12. Special resolution number 3 – Approval and 
Adoption of a New Memorandum of Incorporation

“RESOLVED that the existing Memorandum and Articles 
of Association of the company, adopted in accordance 
with the provisions of the Companies Act, No. 61 of 1973, 
be and hereby are deleted in their entirety and substituted 
by a new Memorandum of Incorporation approved by the 
Johannesburg Stock Exchange (a copy of which has been 
tabled at this meeting and initialled by the Chairman of 
the meeting for purposes of identification) in accordance 
with the provisions of the Companies Act, No 71 of 2008 
(“the MOI”) and with effect from the date of registration 
of the MOI by the Companies and Intellectual Property 
Commission.”  See Annexure 1 for extracts of the 
proposed new MOI.

Explanatory Note:

The purpose of special resolution number 3 is to replace 
the company’s existing Memorandum of Incorporation 
with a Memorandum of Incorporation that takes into 
account the provisions of and is compliant with the 
Companies Act, No. 71 of 2008.

The minimum percentage of voting rights that is required 
for this special resolution to be adopted is 75% (seventy 
five percent) of the voting rights to be cast on each 
resolution.

Voting and Proxies

Certificated shareholders and dematerialised shareholders 
with “own name” registration

If you are unable to attend the annual general meeting 
of Cargo Carriers shareholders to be held at 09h30 
on Thursday, 20 June 2013, at 11A Grace Road, 
Mountainview, Observatory, Johannesburg and wish 
to be represented thereat, you should complete and 
return the attached form of proxy in accordance with the 
instructions contained therein and lodge it with, or post 
it to, the transfer secretaries, namely Computershare 
Investor Services Proprietary Limited, 70 Marshall Street, 
Johannesburg, 2001 (P O Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107) 
so as to be received by them by no later than 09h30 on 
Tuesday, 18 June 2013.

Dematerialised shareholders, other than those with 
“own name” registration

If you hold dematerialised shares in Cargo Carriers 
through a CSDP or broker and do not have an “own name” 
registration, you must timeously advise your CSDP or 
broker of your intention to attend and vote at the annual 
general meeting or be represented by proxy thereat in 
order for your CSDP or broker to provide you with the 
necessary authorisation to do so, or should you not wish 
to attend the annual general meeting in person, you must 
timeously provide your CSDP or broker with your voting 
instruction in order for the CSDP or broker to vote in 
accordance with your instruction at the annual general 
meeting.

Each shareholder, whether present in person or 
represented by proxy, is entitled to attend and vote at 
the annual general meeting.  On a show of hands every 
shareholder who is present in person or by proxy shall 
have one vote, and, on a poll, every shareholder present in 
person or by proxy shall have one vote for each share held 
by him/her.

A form of proxy which sets out the relevant instructions 
for use is attached for those members who wish to be 
represented at the annual general meeting of members.  
Duly completed forms of proxy must be lodged with the 
transfer secretaries of the Company to be received by not 
later than 09h30 on Tuesday, 18 June 2013.

By order of the Board

Arcay Client Support Proprietary Limited 
Company Secretary

Observatory 
Johannesburg 
10 May 2013
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Form of Proxy

CARGO CARRIERS LIMITED

(Registration Number 1959/003254/06) 
Share code: CRG 

ISIN: ZAE000001764 
(“Cargo Carriers” or “the Company”)

FORM OF PROXY (for use by certificated and own name dematerialised shareholders only) 

For use by certificated and “own name” registered dematerialised shareholders of the Company (“shareholders”) at 
the Annual General Meeting of Cargo Carriers to be held at 9h30 on Thursday, 20 June 2013 at 11A Grace Road, 
Mountainview, Observatory, Johannesburg (“the annual general meeting”).

I/We (please print) __________________________________________________________________________________of (address) 

_____________________________________________________________________________________________being the holder/s 

of ____________________________________________ ordinary shares of R0.01 each in Cargo Carriers, appoint (see note 1):

1. _______________________________________________________ or failing him,

2. _______________________________________________________ or failing him,

3. the chairperson of the annual general meeting,

as my/our proxy to act for me/us and on my/our behalf at the annual general meeting which will be held for the purpose 
of considering, and if deemed fit, passing, with or without modification, the resolutions to be proposed thereat and at any 
adjournment thereof; and to vote for and/or against the resolutions and/or abstain from voting in respect of the ordinary 
shares registered in my/our name/s, in accordance with the following instructions (see note 2):

Number of votes

For Against Abstain

Ordinary Resolution Number 1 – Annual financial statements

Ordinary Resolution Number 2 –  Director retirement and re-election – MJ Vuso

Ordinary Resolution Number 3 –Director retirement and re-election – BB Fraser

Ordinary Resolution Number 4 – Approval of Remuneration Policy

Ordinary Resolution Number 5 – Appointment and remuneration of auditors

Ordinary Resolution Number 6 – Appointment of audit committee member – AE Franklin

Ordinary Resolution Number 7 – Appointment of audit committee member – SP Mzimela

Ordinary Resolution Number 8 – Appointment of audit committee member – MJ Vuso 
(Chairperson)
Ordinary Resolution Number 9 – Approval of general authority to issue shares for cash

Special Resolution Number 1 – Approval of non-executive remuneration

Special Resolution Number 2 – Approval of financial assistance

Special Resolution Number 3 – Approval and Adoption of Memorandum of Incorporation

Signed at _________________________________________ on _________________________________ 2013

Signature ___________________________Assisted by me (where applicable)________________________

Name______________________Capacity________________________Signature_______________________
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1. CERTIFICATED SHAREHOLDERS AND DEMATERIALISED SHAREHOLDERS 
WITH “OWN NAME” REGISTRATION

 If you are a certificated shareholder or have dematerialised your shares with “own 
name” registration and you are unable to attend the annual general meeting of 
Cargo Carriers shareholders to be held at 09h30 on Thursday, 20 June 2013 at the 
registered office of the Company at 11A Grace Road, Mountainview, Observatory, 
Johannesburg and wish to be represented thereat, you must complete and return 
this form of proxy in accordance with the instructions contained herein and lodge it 
with, or post it to, the transfer secretaries, namely Computershare Investor Services 
Proprietary Limited, 70 Marshall Street, Johannesburg, 2001 (P O Box 61051, 
Marshalltown, 2107), so as to be received by them no later than 09h30 on Tuesday, 
18 June 2013.

2. DEMATERIALISED SHAREHOLDERS OTHER THAN THOSE WITH “OWN NAME” 
REGISTRATION

 If you hold dematerialised shares in Cargo Carrier through a CSDP or broker other 
than with an “own name” registration, you must timeously advise your CSDP or 
broker of your intention to attend and vote at the annual general meeting or be 
represented by proxy thereat, in order for your CSDP or broker to provide you with 
the necessary authorisation to do so, or should you not wish to attend the annual 
general meeting in person, you must timeously provide your CSDP or broker with 
your voting instruction in order for the CSDP or broker to vote in accordance with 
your instruction at the annual general meeting.

NOTES

1. This form is for use by certificated shareholders and dematerialised 
shareholders with “own-name” registration whose shares are registered in 
their own names on the record date and who wish to appoint another person 
to represent them at the meeting. If duly authorised, companies and other 
corporate bodies who are shareholders having shares registered in their own 
names may appoint a proxy using this form, or may appoint a representative 
in accordance with the last paragraph below.

 Other shareholders should not use this form. All beneficial holders who have 
dematerialised their shares through a Central Securities Depository Participant 
(“CSDP”) or broker, and do not have their shares registered in their own name, 
must provide the CSDP or broker with their voting instructions. Alternatively, if 
they wish to attend the meeting in person, they should request the CSDP or 
broker to provide them with a letter of representation in terms of the custody 
agreement entered into between the beneficial owner and the CSDP or broker.

2. This proxy form will not be effective at the meeting unless received at 
the registered office of the Company at 11A Grace Road, Mountainview, 
Observatory, Johannesburg, Republic of South Africa, not later than 09h30 on 
Tuesday, 18 June 2013.

3. This proxy shall apply to all the ordinary shares registered in the name of 
shareholders at the record date unless a lesser number of shares are inserted.

4. A shareholder may appoint one person as his proxy by inserting the name of 
such proxy in the space provided. Any such proxy need not be a shareholder 
of the Company. If the name of the proxy is not inserted, the chairman of the 
meeting will be appointed as proxy. If more than one name is inserted, then 
the person whose name appears first on the form of proxy and who is present 
at the meeting will be entitled to act as proxy to the exclusion of any persons 
whose names follow. The proxy appointed in this proxy form may delegate the 
authority given to him in this proxy by delivering to the Company, in the manner 
required by these instructions, a further proxy form which has been completed in 
a manner consistent with the authority given to the proxy of this proxy form.

5. Unless revoked, the appointment of proxy in terms of this proxy form remains 
valid until the end of the meeting even if the meeting or a part thereof is 
postponed or adjourned.

6. If

 6.1 shareholder does not indicate on this instrument that the proxy is to vote in 
favour of or against or to abstain from voting on any resolution; or

6.2 the shareholder gives contrary instructions in relation to any matter; or

6.3 any additional resolution/s which are properly put before the meeting; or

6.4 any resolution listed in the proxy form is modified or amended,

 the proxy shall be entitled to vote or abstain from voting, as he thinks fit, in relation 
to that resolution or matter. If, however, the shareholder has provided further 
written instructions which accompany this form and which indicate how the 
proxy should vote or abstain from voting in any of the circumstances referred to 
in 6.1 to 6.4, then the proxy shall comply with those instructions.

7. If this proxy is signed by a person (signatory) on behalf of the shareholder, 
whether in terms of a power of attorney or otherwise, then this proxy form 
will not be effective unless:

7.1 it is accompanied by a certified copy of the authority given by the shareholder to 
the signatory; or

7.2 the Company has already received a certified copy of that authority.

8. The chairman of the meeting may, at his discretion, accept or reject any 
proxy form or other written appointment of a proxy which is received by 
the chairman prior to the time when the meeting deals with a resolution 
or matter to which the appointment of the proxy relates, even if that 
appointment of a proxy has not been completed and/or received in 
accordance with these instructions. However, the chairman shall not accept 
any such appointment of a proxy unless the chairman is satisfied that it 
reflects the intention of the shareholder appointing the proxy.

9. Any alterations made in this form of proxy must be initialled by the authorised 
signatory/ies.

10. This proxy form is revoked if the shareholder who granted the proxy:

10.1 delivers a copy of the revocation instrument to the Company and to the 
proxy or proxies concerned, so that it is received by the Company by 
not later than 09h30 on Tuesday, 18 June 2013; or

10.2 appoints a later, inconsistent appointment of proxy for the meeting; or

10.3 attends the meeting in person.

11. If duly authorised, companies and other corporate bodies who are shareholders 
of the Company having shares registered in their own name may, instead 
of completing this proxy form, appoint a representative to represent them 
and exercise all of their rights at the meeting by giving written notice of the 
appointment of that representative. This notice will not be effective at the 
meeting unless it is accompanied by a duly certified copy of the resolution/s 
or other authorities in terms of which that representative is appointed and is 
received at the Company’s registered office at 11A Grace Road, Mountainview, 
Observatory, Johannesburg, Republic of South Africa, not later than 09h30 on 
Tuesday, 18 June 2013.

Summary of rights established by section 58 of the Companies Act, 71 of 2008 
(“Companies Act”), as required in terms of subsection 58(8)(b)(i)

1. A shareholder may at any time appoint any individual, including a non-shareholder 
of the Company, as a proxy to participate in, speak and vote at a shareholders’ 
meeting on his or her behalf (section 58(1)(a)), or to give or withhold consent on 
behalf of the shareholder to a decision in terms of section 60 (shareholders acting 
other than at a meeting) (section 58(1)(b)).

2. A proxy appointment must be in writing, dated and signed by the shareholder, and 
remains valid for one year after the date on which it was signed or any longer or 
shorter period expressly set out in the appointment, unless it is revoked in terms of 
paragraph 6.3 or expires earlier in terms of paragraph 10.4 below (section 58(2)).  

3. A shareholder may appoint two or more persons concurrently as proxies and 
may appoint more than one proxy to exercise voting rights attached to different 
securities held by the shareholder (section 58(3)(a)).

4. A proxy may delegate his or her authority to act on behalf of the shareholder to 
another person, subject to any restriction set out in the instrument appointing the 
proxy (“proxy instrument”) (section 58(3)(b)).

5. A copy of the proxy instrument must be delivered to the Company, or to any other 
person acting on behalf of the Company, before the proxy exercises any rights of 
the shareholder at a shareholders’ meeting (section 58(3)(c)) and in terms of the 
memorandum of incorporation (“MOI”) of the Company at least 48 hours before the 
meeting commences.

6. Irrespective of the form of instrument used to appoint a proxy:

6.1 the appointment is suspended at any time and to the extent that the shareholder 
chooses to act directly and in person in the exercise of any rights as a 
shareholder (section 58)4)(a));

6.2 the appointment is revocable unless the proxy appointment expressly states 
otherwise (section 58(4)(b));  and

6.3 if the appointment is revocable, a shareholder may revoke the proxy 
appointment by cancelling it in writing or by making a later, inconsistent 
appointment of a proxy, and delivering a copy of the revocation instrument to the 
proxy and to the Company (section 58(4)(c)).

7. The revocation of a proxy appointment constitutes a complete and final 
cancellation of the proxy’s authority to act on behalf of the shareholder as of the 
later of the date stated in the revocation instrument, if any, or the date on which 
the revocation instrument was delivered as contemplated in paragraph 6.3 above 
(section 58(5)).

8. If the proxy instrument has been delivered to a Company, as long as that 
appointment remains in effect, any notice required by the Companies Act or the 
Company’s MOI to be delivered by the Company to the shareholder must be 
delivered by the Company to the shareholder (section 58(6)(a)), or the proxy or 
proxies, if the shareholder has directed the Company to do so in writing and paid 
any reasonable fee charged by the Company for doing so (section 58(6)(b)).

9. A proxy is entitled to exercise, or abstain from exercising, any voting right of 
the shareholder without direction, except to the extent that the MOI or proxy 
instrument provides otherwise (section 58(7)).

10. If a Company issues an invitation to shareholders to appoint one or more persons 
named by the Company as a proxy, or supplies a form of proxy instrument:

10.1 the invitation must be sent to every shareholder entitled to notice of the 
meeting at which the proxy is intended to be exercised (section 58(8)(a));

10.2 the invitation or form of proxy instrument supplied by the Company must:

10.2.1 bear a reasonably prominent summary of the rights established in 
section 58 of the Companies Act (section 58(8)(b)(i));

10.2.2 contain adequate blank space, immediately preceding the name(s) 
of any person(s) named in it, to enable a shareholder to write the 
name, and if desired, an alternative name of a proxy chosen by the 
shareholder (section 58(8)(b)(ii));  and

10.2.3 provide adequate space for the shareholder to indicate whether the 
appointed proxy is to vote in favour of or against any resolution(s) to 
be put at the meeting, or is to abstain from voting (section 58(8)(b)
(iii));

10.4 the Company must not require that the proxy appointment be made 
irrevocable (section 58(8)(c));  and

10.4 the proxy appointment remains valid only until the end of the meeting
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ANNEXURE 1
EXTRACTS OF THE PROPOSED NEW MEMORANDUM OF INCORPORATION

6. ISSUE OF SHARES AND VARIATION OF RIGHTS

6.1 The Company has 25 000 000 authorised shares with a par value of 1 cent 
and is authorised to issue –
6.1.1 Ordinary Shares with a par value of 1 cent, of the same class, 

each of which ranks pari passu as contemplated in the JSE Listing 
Requirements in respect of all rights and entitles the holder to – 
6.1.1.1 Vote, in person or by proxy, on any matter to be decided by 

the Shareholders and to 1 (one) vote per voting right in the 
case of a vote by means of a poll; 

6.1.1.2 participate proportionally in any distribution made by the 
Company;  and

6.1.1.3 receive proportionally the net assets of the Company upon 
its liquidation;

6.1.2 such number of each of such further classes of Shares, if any, as 
are set out in Schedule 1 hereto subject to the preferences, rights, 
limitations and other terms associated with each such class set out 
therein.

6.2 The Board shall not have the power to –
6.2.1 create Shares of any class; or
6.2.2 convert one class of shares into one or more other classes; or
6.2.3 increase or decrease the number of authorised Shares of any class 

of the Shares;  or
6.2.4 consolidate and reduce the number of the Company’s issued and 

authorised Shares of any class; or
6.2.5 subdivide its Shares of any class by increasing the number of its 

issued and authorised Shares of that class without an increase of its 
capital; or

6.2.6 reclassify any classified Shares that have been authorised but not 
issued;  or

6.2.7 classify any unclassified Shares that have been authorised but not 
issued;  or

6.2.8 vary the preferences, rights, limitations or other terms of any Shares, 
or

6.2.9 change the name of the Company, and such powers shall only be 
capable of being exercised by the Shareholders by way of a special 
resolution of the Shareholders. 

6.3 Each Share issued by the Company has associated with it an irrevocable right 
of the Shareholder to vote on any proposal to amend the preferences, rights, 
limitations and other terms associated with that Share as contemplated in 
clause 20.2. 

6.4 Subject to clause 20.2.2, the authorisation and classification of Shares, 
the numbers of authorised Shares of each class, and the preferences, 
rights, limitations and other terms associated with each class of Shares as 
set out in this Memorandum of Incorporation may be changed only by an 
amendment of this Memorandum of Incorporation by special resolution of 
the Shareholders and in accordance with the JSE Listings Requirements, and 
such amendments shall not be implemented without a special resolution 
adopted by the holders of Shares of that class at a separate meeting. 

6.5 No Shares may be authorised in respect of which the preferences, rights, 
limitations or any other terms of any class of Shares may be varied in 
response to any objectively ascertainable external fact or facts as provided 
for in sections 37(6) and 37(7). 

6.6 The Company may only issue Shares which are fully paid up and freely 
transferable, unless otherwise required by statute, and only within the 
classes and to the extent that those Shares have been authorised by or in 
terms of this Memorandum of Incorporation. The JSE will not list shares that 
are not fully paid for upon listing. 

6.7 The Board may, subject to clause 6.11 and the further provisions of this 
clause 6.7, resolve to issue Shares of the Company at any time, but only–
6.7.1 within the classes and to the extent that those Shares have been 

authorised by or in terms of this Memorandum of Incorporation; and
6.7.2 to the extent that such issue has been approved by the Shareholders 

in general meeting, either by way of a general authority (which 
may be either conditional or unconditional) to issue Shares in its 
discretion or a specific authority in respect of any particular issue 
of Shares, provided that, if such approval is in the form of a general 
authority to the Directors, it shall be valid only until the next annual 
general meeting of the Company and it may be varied or revoked by 
any general meeting of the Shareholders prior to such annual general 
meeting.

6.8 All issues of Shares for cash and all issues of options and convertible 
securities granted or issued for cash must, in addition, be in accordance with 
the JSE Listings Requirements. 

6.9 All Securities of the Company for which a listing is sought on the JSE and all 
Securities of the same class as Securities of the Company which are listed 
on the JSE must, notwithstanding the provisions of section 40(5), but unless 
otherwise required by the Act, only be issued after the Company has received 
the consideration approved by the Board for the issuance of such Securities. 

6.10 Subject to what may be authorised by the Act, the JSE Listings Requirements 
and at meetings of Shareholders in accordance with clause 6.12, and subject 
to clause 6.11, the Board may only issue unissued Shares if such Shares 
have first been offered to existing ordinary Shareholders in proportion to their 
shareholding on such terms and in accordance with such procedures as the 
Board may determine, unless such Shares are issued for the acquisition of 
assets by the Company. 
6.11 Notwithstanding the provisions of clauses 6.2, 6.10 and 6.12, 

any issue of Shares, Securities convertible into Shares, or rights 
exercisable for Shares in a transaction, or a series of integrated 
transactions shall, in accordance with the provisions of section 41(3), 

require the approval of the Shareholders by special resolution if the 
voting power of the class of Shares that are issued or are issuable as 
a result of the transaction or series of integrated transactions will be 
equal to or exceed 30% (thirty percent) of the voting power of all the 
Shares of that class held by Shareholders immediately before that 
transaction or series of integrated transactions.

6.12 Notwithstanding the provisions of clause 6.10, the Shareholders 
may at a general meeting authorise the Directors to issue Shares 
of the Company at any time and/or grant options to subscribe for 
Shares as the Directors in their discretion think fit, provided that such 
transaction(s) has/have been approved by the JSE and comply with 
the JSE Listings Requirements.

6.13 Except to the extent that any such right is specifically included 
as one of the rights, preferences or other terms upon which any 
class of Shares is issued or as may otherwise be provided in this 
Memorandum of Incorporation, no Shareholder shall have any 
pre-emptive or other similar preferential right to be offered or to 
subscribe for any additional Shares issued by the Company.

6.14 In the event that there are listed cumulative and/or listed non-
cumulative preference shares in the capital of the Company, the 
following right shall attach to such shares: “No further securities 
ranking in priority to, or pari passu with, existing preference 
shares, of any class, shall be created without a special resolution 
being passed at a separate general meeting of such preference 
Shareholders.

7. CERTIFICATED AND UNCERTIFICATED SECURITIES

7.1 Securities of the Company are to be issued in Certificated or Uncertificated 
form, as shall be determined by the Board from time to time. Except to the 
extent otherwise provided in the Act, the rights and obligations of Security 
holders shall not be different solely on the basis of their Securities being 
Certificated Securities or Uncertificated Securities and each provision of this 
Memorandum of Incorporation applies with respect to any Uncertificated 
Securities in the same manner as it applies to Certificated Securities, unless 
otherwise stated or indicated by the context. 

7.2 Any Certificated Securities may cease to be evidenced by certificates and 
thereafter become Uncertificated Securities. 

7.3 Any Uncertificated Securities may be withdrawn from the Uncertificated 
Securities Register, and certificates issued evidencing those Securities 
at the election of the holder of those Uncertificated Securities. A holder 
of Uncertificated Securities, who elects to withdraw all or part of the 
Uncertificated Securities held by it in an Uncertificated Securities Register, 
and obtain a certificate in respect of those withdrawn Securities, may so 
notify the relevant Participant or Central Securities Depository as required by 
the rules of the Central Securities Depository.

7.4 After receiving notice from a Participant or Central Securities Depository, 
as the case may be, that the holder of Uncertificated Securities wishes 
to withdraw all or part of the Uncertificated Securities held by it in an 
Uncertificated Securities Register, and obtain a certificate in respect thereof, 
the Company shall – 
7.4.1 immediately enter the relevant Security holder’s name and details of 

its holding of Securities in the Securities Register and indicate on the 
Securities Register that the securities so withdrawn are no longer 
held in Uncertificated form; and

7.4.2 within 10 (ten) business days (or 20 (twenty) business days in 
the case of a holder of Securities who is not resident within the 
Republic) prepare and deliver to the relevant person a certificate in 
respect of the Securities and notify the Central Securities Depository 
that the Securities are no longer held in Uncertificated form.

7.5 The Company may charge a holder of its Securities a reasonable fee to cover 
the actual cost of issuing any certificate as contemplated in this clause.

12. DEBT INSTRUMENTS

 The Board may authorise the Company to issue secured or unsecured debt 
instruments as set out in section 43(2), but no special privileges associated with 
any such debt instruments as contemplated in section 43(3)(a) may be granted, 
and the authority of the Board in such regard is limited by this Memorandum of 
Incorporation.

24. COMPOSITION AND POWERS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

24.1 In addition to the minimum number of Directors that the Company must have 
to satisfy any requirement in terms of the Act to appoint an audit committee 
and a social and ethics committee, the Board must be comprised of not less 
than 4 (four)  nor more than 20 (twenty) Directors.

24.2 The composition of the Board shall, to the extent possible, be in accordance 
with the recommendations of the King Report on Corporate Governance for 
South Africa 2009, as updated, amended or replaced from time to time.

24.3 Subject to the provisions of clause 24.5, all Directors shall be elected by 
an ordinary resolution of the Shareholders at a general or annual general 
meeting of the Company and no appointment of a Director in accordance 
with a resolution passed in terms of section 60 shall be competent.

24.4 Every person holding office as a Director, prescribed officer, Company 
Secretary or auditor of the Company immediately before the effective date of 
the Act will, as contemplated in item 7(1) of Schedule 5 to the Act, continue 
to hold that office.

24.5 In any election of Directors –
24.5.1 the election is to be conducted as a series of votes, each of which 

is on the candidacy of a single individual to fill a single vacancy, with 
the series of votes continuing until all vacancies on the Board have 
been filled;  and

25.4.2 in each vote to fill a vacancy –
25.4.2.1 each vote entitled to be exercised may be exercised once;  

and
25.4.2.2 the vacancy is filled only if a majority of the votes exercised 

support the candidate.
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24.6 Subject to the power of the Directors to fill a vacancy in terms of clause 
24.10.1, the Company shall only have elected Directors and there shall be no 
appointed or ex offıcio Directors as contemplated in section 66(4).

24.7 Apart from satisfying the qualification and eligibility requirements set out 
in section 69, a person need not satisfy any eligibility requirements or 
qualifications to become or remain a Director or a prescribed officer of the 
Company.

24.8 No Director shall be appointed for life or for an indefinite period and the 
Directors shall rotate in accordance with the following provisions of this 
clause 24.8 – 
24.8.1 at each annual general meeting referred to in clause 18.4, 1/3 (one 

third) of the non-executive Directors for the time being, or if their 
number is not 3 (three) or a multiple of 3 (three), the number nearest 
to 1/3 (one third), but not less than 1/3 (one third), shall retire from 
office, provided that if a Director is appointed as managing Director 
or as an employee of the Company in any other capacity, he or she 
shall not, while he or she continues to hold that position or office, 
be subject to retirement by rotation and he or she shall not, in such 
case, be taken into account in determining the rotation or retirement 
of Directors;

24.8.2 the Directors to retire in every year shall be those who have been 
longest in office since their last election or will have held office for 
three years since their last election, but as between persons who 
were elected as Directors on the same day, those to retire shall, 
unless they otherwise agree among themselves, be determined by 
lot;

24.8.3 a retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election and no person other 
than a retiring director shall be eligible for election as a director 
at any annual general meeting unless the directors recommend 
otherwise, or unless not less than three nor more than twenty-one 
days before the date appointed for the annual general meeting a 
member who is entitled to attend and vote at such annual general 
meeting shall have lodged written notice proposing such person as a 
director, together with the consent of that person to be elected as a 
director;

24.8.4 the Company, at the general meeting at which a Director retires 
in the above manner, or at any other general meeting, may fill the 
vacancy by electing a person thereto, provided that the Company 
shall not be entitled to fill the vacancy by means of a resolution 
passed in accordance with clause 23;

24.8.5 if at any meeting at which an election of Directors ought to take 
place the offices of the retiring Directors are not filled, unless it 
is expressly resolved not to fill such vacancies, the meeting shall 
stand adjourned and the further provisions of this Memorandum of 
Incorporation, including clauses 18.12 to 18.15 (inclusive) will apply 
mutatis mutandis to such adjournment, and if at such adjourned 
meeting the vacancies are not filled, the retiring Directors, or such 
of them as have not had their offices filled, shall be deemed to have 
been re-elected at such adjourned meeting;

24.8.6 any director appointed as such after the conclusion of the 
Company’s preceding annual general meeting shall retire from 
office at the conclusion of the next annual general meeting held 
immediately after his appointment.

24.9 The Board, or through its nomination committee constituted in terms 
of clause 30, shall provide the Shareholders with a recommendation in 
the notice of the meeting at which the re-election of a retiring Director is 
proposed, as to which retiring Directors are eligible for re-election, taking into 
account that Director’s past performance and contribution. 

24.10 The Board has the power to –
24.10.1 fill any vacancy on the Board on a temporary basis, as set out in 

section 68(3), provided that such appointment must be confirmed 
by the Shareholders, in accordance with clauses 24.3 at the next 
general or annual general meeting of the Company, as required in 
terms of section 70(3)(b)(i);  and

24.10.2 exercise all of the powers and perform any of the functions of the 
Company, as set out in section 66(1);

24.10.3 delegate to any one or more persons all such powers and do or 
delegate to any one or more persons the doing of all such acts 
(including the right to sub-delegate) as may be exercised or done by 
the company and are not in terms of the Act or by this Memorandum 
of Incorporation expressly directed or required to be exercised 
or done by a general meeting, subject, nevertheless, to that 
management and control –
24.10.3.1 not being inconsistent with; and
24.10.3.2 being in compliance with, any resolution passed by a 

general meeting.  No such resolution passed by a general 
meeting shall invalidate any prior act of the directors or any 
delagatee, and the powers of the Board in this regard are 
only limited and restricted as contemplated in this clause 
24.

24.11 The Directors may at any time and from time to time by power of attorney 
appoint any person or persons to be the attorney or attorneys and agent(s) 
of the Company for such purposes and with such powers, authorities and 
discretions (not exceeding those vested in or exercisable by the Directors in 
terms of this Memorandum of Incorporation) and for such period and subject 
to such conditions as the Directors may from time to time think fit.  Any such 
appointment may, if the Directors think fit, be made in favour of any company, 
the shareholders, directors, nominees or managers of any company or firm, 
or otherwise in favour of any fluctuating body of persons, whether nominated 
directly or indirectly by the Directors.  Any such power of attorney may 
contain such provisions for the protection or convenience of persons dealing 
with such attorneys and agents as the Directors think fit.  Any such attorneys 
or agents as aforesaid may be authorised by the Directors to sub-delegate all 

or any of the powers, authorities and discretions for the time being vested in 
them.

24.12 Save as otherwise expressly provided herein, all cheques, promissory 
notes, bills of exchange and other negotiable or transferable instruments, 
and all documents to be executed by the Company, shall be signed, drawn, 
accepted, endorsed or executed, as the case may be, in such manner as the 
Directors shall from time to time determine.

24.13 All acts performed by the Directors or by a committee of Directors or 
by any person acting as a Director or a member of a committee shall, 
notwithstanding that it shall afterwards be discovered that there was some 
defect in the appointment of the Directors or persons acting as aforesaid, 
or that any of them were disqualified from or had vacated office, be as valid 
as if every such person had been duly appointed and was qualified and had 
continued to be a Director or member of such committee.

24.14 If the number of Directors falls below the minimum number fixed in 
accordance with this Memorandum of Incorporation, the remaining Directors 
must as soon as possible and in any event not later than 3 (three) months 
from the date that the number falls below such minimum, fill the vacancy/
ies in accordance with clause 24.10.1 or convene a general meeting for 
the purpose of filling the vacancies, and the failure by the Company to 
have the minimum number of Directors during the said 3 (three) month 
period does not limit or negate the authority of the board of Directors or 
invalidate anything done by the board of Directors while their number is 
below the minimum number fixed in accordance with this Memorandum of 
Incorporation.

24.15 The Directors in office may act notwithstanding any vacancy in their body, but 
if after the expiry of the 3 (three) month period contemplated in clause 24.14, 
their number remains below the minimum number fixed in accordance with 
this Memorandum of Incorporation, they may, for as long as their number is 
reduced below such minimum, act only for the purpose of filling vacancies in 
their body in terms of section 68(3) or of summoning general meetings of the 
Company, but not for any other purpose.

24.16 A Director may hold any other office or place of profit under the Company 
(except that of auditor) or any subsidiary of the Company in conjunction with 
the office of Director, for such period and on such terms as to remuneration 
(in addition to the remuneration to which he may be entitled as a Director) 
and otherwise as a disinterested quorum of the Directors may determine.

24.17 A Director of the Company may be or become a director or other officer of, or 
otherwise interested in, any company promoted by the Company or in which 
the Company may be interested as shareholder or otherwise, provided that 
the appointment and remuneration in respect of such other office must be 
determined by a disinterested quorum of Directors. 

24.18 Each Director and each alternate Director, prescribed officer and member 
of any committee of the Board (whether or not such latter persons are also 
members of the Board) shall, subject to the exemptions contained in section 
75(2) and the qualifications contained in section 75(3), comply with all of 
the provisions of section 75 in the event that they (or any person who is a 
related person to them) have a personal financial interest in any matter to be 
considered by the Board.

24.19 The proposal of any resolution to Shareholders in terms of sections 20(2) 
and 20(6) of the Act, to permit or ratify an act of the Directors that is 
inconsistent with any limitation or restriction imposed by this Memorandum 
of Incorporation, or the authority of the Directors to perform such an act on 
behalf of the Company, is prohibited

24.20 A director shall cease to hold office as such if he:
24.20.1 is prohibited from being or is removed as or is disqualified from 

acting as a director of a company in terms of the Act;
24.20.2 gives notice to the Company of his resignation as a director with 

effect from the date of, or such later date as is provided for in, such 
notice;

24.20.3 absents himself from meetings of directors for six consecutive 
months without the leave of the other directors, and they resolve 
that his office shall be vacated, provided that this provision shall not 
apply to a director who is represented by an alternate who does not 
so absent himself;

24.20.4 is given notice, signed by members holding in the aggregate more 
than 50% of the total voting rights on a poll of all members then 
entitled to vote on a poll at a general meeting, of the termination of 
his appointment.

24.21 ALTERNATE DIRECTORS
24.21.1 Each Director may, may by notice in writing to the Company at any 

time:
24.21.2 nominate any one or more than one person in the alternative 

(including any of his co-Directors) to be his Alternate Director, 
subject to the approval  of the other directors of that Alternate 
Director, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld;

24.21.3 terminate any such appointment.

24.22 The appointment of an Alternate Director must be approved by Shareholders 
to the extent required in terms of the JSE Listings Requirements of the Act 
(as the case may be).

24.23 The appointment of an Alternate Director shall terminate when the Director to 
who he is an Alternate Director:
24.23.1 ceases to be a Director; or
24.23.2 terminates his appointment provided that a Director retiring at any 

meeting shall not, subject to any applicable provisions of the Act and 
JSE Listings Requirements from time to time, for the purposes of 
this clause 24.22 be deemed to have ceases to be a Director.

24.24 An Alternate Director shall:
24.24.1 only be entitled to attend or act or vote at any meeting of Directors if 

the Director to whom he is an alternate is not present provided that:
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24.24.1.1 he may attend a meeting of Directors at which the Director 
to whom he is an alternate is present if the other Directors 
agree thereto;

24.24.1.2 any person attending any meeting of Directors as a 
Director in his own right and/or as an alternate for one 
or more Directors shall have one vote in respect of each 
Director whom he represents, including himself if he is a 
Director;

24.24.2 only be entitled to sign a resolution passed otherwise than 
at a meeting of directors in terms of these articles if the 
director to whom he is an alternate is then absent from the 
town in which the office is situate, or is incapacitated;

24.24.3 subject to the aforegoing, general exercise all the rights of 
the director to whom he is an alternate in the absence or 
incapacity of that Director;

24.24.4 in all respects be subject to the terms and conditions 
existing with reference to the appointment, rights and 
duties and the holding of office of the Director to whom he 
is an alternate, but shall not have any claim of any nature 
whatever against the Company for any remuneration of any 
nature whatever.

25. DIRECTORS’ MEETINGS

25.1 Save as may be provided otherwise herein, the Directors may meet together 
for the despatch of business, adjourn and otherwise regulate their meetings 
as they think fit.

25.2 The Directors may elect a chairperson, a deputy chairperson and/or any vice 
chairperson and determine the period for which each is to hold office.  The 
chairperson, or in his absence the deputy chairperson or vice chairperson, 
shall be entitled to preside over all meetings of Directors.  If no chairperson 
or deputy/vice chairperson is elected, or if at any meeting neither is present 
or willing to act as chairperson thereof within 10 (ten) minutes of the time 
appointed for holding the meeting, the Directors present shall choose 1 (one) 
of their number to be chairperson of such meeting.

25.3 In addition to the provisions of section 73(1), any Director shall at any time be 
entitled to call a meeting of the Directors.

25.4 The Board has the power to –
25.4.1 consider any matter and/or adopt any resolution other than at a 

meeting contemplated in section 74 and, accordingly, any decision 
that could be voted on at a meeting of the Board may instead 
be adopted by the written consent of a majority of the Directors, 
given in person or by Electronic Communication, provided that 
each Director has received notice of the matter to be decided and 
such resolution, inserted in the minute book, shall be as valid and 
effective as if it had been passed at a meeting of directors. Any such 
resolution may consist of several documents and shall be deemed 
to have been passed on the date on which it was signed by the last 
director who signed it (unless a statement to the contrary is made in 
that resolution); 

25.4.2 conduct a meeting entirely by Electronic Communication, or to 
provide for participation in a meeting by Electronic Communication, 
as set out in section 73(3), provided that, as required by such 
section, the Electronic Communication facility employed ordinarily 
enables all persons participating in the meeting to communicate 
concurrently with each other without an intermediary and to 
participate reasonably effectively in the meeting;

25.4.3 determine the manner and form of providing notice of its meetings 
contemplated in section 73(4), provided that –
25.4.3.1 the notice period for the convening of any meeting of the 

Board will be at least 7 (seven) days unless the decision of 
the Directors is required on an urgent basis which justifies 
a shorter period of notice, in which event the meeting 
may be called on shorter notice.  The decision of the 
chairperson of the Board, or failing the chairperson for any 
reason, the decision of any 2 (two) directors as to whether 
a matter should be decided on an urgent basis, and the 
period of notice to be given, shall be final and binding on 
the directors;

25.4.3.2 an agenda of the matters to be discussed at the meeting 
shall be given to each Director, together with the notice 
referred to in clause 25.4.3.1; and

25.4.4 proceed with a meeting despite a failure or defect in giving notice 
of the meeting, as provided in section 73(5), and the powers of the 
Board in respect of the above matters are not limited or restricted by 
this Memorandum of Incorporation.

25.5 The quorum requirement for a Directors’ meeting (including an adjourned 
meeting) to begin, the voting rights at such a meeting, and the requirements 
for approval of a resolution at such a meeting are as set out in section 73(5), 
subject only to clause 25.5.5, and accordingly –
25.5.1 if all of the Directors of the Company –

25.5.1.1 acknowledge actual receipt of the notice convening a 
meeting; or

25.5.1.2 are present at a meeting; or
25.5.1.3 waive notice of a meeting, the meeting may proceed even 

if the Company failed to give the required notice of that 
meeting or there was a defect in the giving of the notice;

25.5.2 a majority of the Directors must be present at a meeting before a 
vote may be called at any meeting of the Directors;

25.5.3 each Director has 1 (one) vote on a matter before the Board;
25.5.4 a majority of the votes cast in favour of a resolution is sufficient to 

approve that resolution;
25.5.5 in the case of a tied vote –

25.5.5.1 the chairperson may not cast a deciding vote in addition to 

any deliberative vote; and
25.5.5.2 the matter being voted on fails. 

25.6 Resolutions adopted by the Board –

25.6.1 must be dated and sequentially numbered;  and

25.6.2 are effective as of the date of the resolution, unless any resolution 
states otherwise.

25.7 Any minutes of a meeting, or a resolution, signed by the chairperson 
of the meeting, or by the chairperson of the next meeting of the Board, 
are evidence of the proceedings of that meeting, or the adoption of that 
resolution, as the case may be.

26. DIRECTORS’ COMPENSATION AND FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE

26.1 The Company may pay remuneration to the Directors for their services 
as Directors in accordance with a special resolution approved by the 
Shareholders within the previous 2 (two) years, as set out in section 66(8) and 
(9), and the power of the Company in this regard is not limited or restricted 
by this Memorandum of Incorporation.

26.2 Any Director who -

26.2.1 serves on any executive or other committee; or

26.2.2 devotes special attention to the business of the Company; or

26.2.3 goes or resides outside South Africa for the purpose of the 
Company; or

26.2.4 otherwise performs or binds himself to perform services which, in 
the opinion of the Directors, are outside the scope of the ordinary 
duties of a Director, may be paid such extra remuneration or 
allowances in addition to or in substitution of the remuneration to 
which he may be entitled as a Director, as a disinterested quorum of 
the Directors may from time to time determine.

26.3 The Directors may also be paid all their travelling and other expenses 
necessarily incurred by them in connection with -

26.3.1 the business of the Company; and

26.3.2 attending meetings of the Directors or of committees of the 
Directors of the Company.

26.4 The Board may, as contemplated in and subject to the requirements of 
section 45, authorise the Company to provide financial assistance to a 
Director, prescribed officer or other person referred to in section 45(2), and 
the power of the Board in this regard is not limited or restricted by this 
Memorandum of Incorporation.

28. INDEMNIFICATION OF DIRECTORS

28.1 The Company may –

28.1.1 advance expenses to a Director or directly or indirectly indemnify a 
Director in respect of the defence of legal proceedings, as set out in 
section 78(4);  

28.1.2 indemnify a Director in respect of liability as set out in section 78(5);  
and/or

28.1.3 purchase insurance to protect the Company or a Director as set out 
in section 78(7),

 and the power of the Company in this regard is not limited, restricted 
or extended by this Memorandum of Incorporation.

28.2 The provisions of clause 28.1 shall apply mutatis mutandis in respect of any 
former Director, prescribed officer or member of any committee of the Board, 
including the audit committee.

29. BORROWING POWERS

29.1 Subject to the provisions of clause 29.2 and the other provisions of this 
Memorandum of Incorporation, the Directors may from time to time:  

29.1.1 borrow for the purposes of the Company such sums as they think fit; 
and

29.1.2 secure the payment or repayment of any such sums, or any 
other sum, as they think fit, whether by the creation and issue of 
Securities, mortgage or charge upon all or any of the property or 
assets of the Company.

29.2 The Directors shall procure (but as regards subsidiaries of the Company only 
insofar as by the exercise of voting and other rights or powers of control 
exercisable by the Company they can so procure) that the aggregate principal 
amount at any one time outstanding in respect of moneys so borrowed or 
raised by –

29.2.1 the Company; and

29.2.2 all the subsidiaries for the time being of the Company (excluding 
moneys borrowed or raised by any of such companies from 
any other of such companies but including the principal amount 
secured by any outstanding guarantees or suretyships given by 
the Company or any of its subsidiaries for the time being for the 
indebtedness of any other company or companies whatsoever and 
not already included in the aggregate amount of the moneys so 
borrowed or raised), shall not exceed the aggregate amount at that 
time authorised to be borrowed or secured by the Company or the 
subsidiaries for the time being of the Company (as the case may be). 

29.3 Notwithstanding the provisions of clause 29.1, no debt incurred or 
security given in breach of the provisions of clause 29.1 shall be 
invalid or ineffectual except in the case of express notice to the 
lender or the recipient of the security at the time when the debt was 
incurred or security given to the effect that the provisions of clause 
29.1 had been or were thereby breached.
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